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Printed in the UK using vegetable based inks which have lower 
VOC (Volatile Organic Compounds) emissions, are derived from 
renewable sources and less hazardous than oil-based inks.  
The printer is ISO 14001 accredited and Forest Stewardship 
Council (FSC) chain of custody certified. Under the framework  
of ISO 14001 a structured approach is taken by the company  
to measure, improve and audit their environmental status on an 
ongoing basis. FSC ensures there is an audited chain of custody 
from the tree in the well-managed forest through to the finished 
document in the printing factory.

If you have finished reading this report and no longer wish  
to retain it please pass it to interested readers, return it to  
Punch Taverns or dispose of it in your recycled paper waste.

We have strengthened our operational 
management team; raised equity from  
our shareholders; stabilised operating 
performance and significantly improved 
our cash flow. We are now shaping the 
business to deliver a return to long term 
sustainable growth and value.
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Business review
This section gives details of our business 
performance in the 2009 financial year. 
Other important financial information  
about the Group is also provided.
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Our performance

Key performance indicators Highlights

Financial performance*
>	 Results in line with expectations
>	 EBITDA of £514m (2008: £623m)
>	 	Profit before tax of £160m (2008: £262m)
>	 Strong cash flow before financing of £479m
>	 	Disposals of £414m comprised largely of  

non core assets. Disposals are earnings accretive 
after retiring Group debt

>	 Basic earnings per share of 36.1p (2008: 69.9p)
>	 	Net asset value per share of 260p, post impairments

Statutory results (after exceptional items)
>	 	Loss after exceptional items of £176m following  

a net exceptional charge of £290m. All of the 
exceptional charges were non cash except for  
£8m of reorganisation charges

>	 	Exceptional items include a £663m charge for pub 
impairments to appropriately value the estate

Management actions and priorities  
delivered in 2009
>	 Strengthened operational management teams
>	 Stabilised operating performance 
>	 Improved cash flow
>	 Reduced debt levels 

Capital structure
>	 £375m gross capital raising 
>	 Net debt reduced by £1,066m (24%)
>	 	Outstanding securitised debt has an 18 year average 

maturity and weighted average cost of 6.8%
>	 	Debt repayments have helped maintain headroom 

against financial covenants
>	 	Met the restricted payment condition within both 

the Punch A and Punch B securitisations during the 
financial year

>	 	Continue to make good progress with the disposal 
programme and realising value from our assets  
held outside the securitisation structures 

* Before exceptional items.
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Business review

Managing today,  
planning for tomorrow

In June 2009, we brought our operating businesses together  
under the Punch Taverns umbrella. As a result, we renamed our 
managed division Punch Pub Company and our leased business 
Punch Partnerships. The new names and identities signify the 
coming together of both businesses and were timed to coincide 
with the opening of our new, low carbon support centre building  
in Burton upon Trent. 

Each operating business has a clearly focused strategy designed  
to maximise shareholder value and realise synergies across the 
estate, in terms of negotiating better value supplier deals and  
in transferring knowledge and skills.

Punch Partnerships
Punch Partnerships is our leased division, comprising 6,841 pubs 
nationwide. Building successful, lasting partnerships is at the heart 
of our strategy. We have focused on supporting our Partners 
through a difficult year whilst making plans to evolve our business 
model to deliver a strong leased proposition in a changing industry.

Punch Pub Company
Punch Pub Company is our managed division, comprising  
835 pubs nationwide. Formerly known as Spirit Group, our 
managed business includes some of the best quality managed 
pubs in the UK. Throughout the year we have focused on putting 
strong foundations in place to unleash our future potential. 

Our vision
To be the pre-eminent pub group in the UK; lean, innovative 
and dynamic; constantly striving to provide a great service to 
our pubs, our Partners (licensees) and our colleagues, driven 
by a passion for excellence in everything we do.

Our objective
To continue to maximise the long term shareholder value  
of the Group, through developing the best quality estate  
in the industry, building successful long term partnerships 
with our Partners and driving Operational Excellence in our 
managed business.

Our business

Our goals
Ensure that every site delivers to its full potential
Our business model helps us to maximise the profitability of 
each site, ensuring that we offer the right retail proposition, in 
the right marketplace with the right pub and the right people.

Create profitable and sustainable pub businesses
Working in partnership with our employees, suppliers,  
Partners and pub teams we will continue to unleash the profit 
opportunities within our estate, providing full support to all  
of our businesses, with the ultimate aim of driving value for 
our shareholders.

Maximising the potential of our estate
Our programme of ongoing investment will continue  
to improve the quality of our portfolio and will review 
opportunities to acquire and dispose of properties in  
our quest to realise the best value from our estate.



Bu
si

ne
ss

 r
ev

ie
w

03
Punch Taverns plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2009

Total estate

7,676 pubs

Strategic priorities

Strengthen operational management

Stabilise operating performance

Improve cash flow

Reduce debt

Both sides of the business now have experienced new leaders in 
place and the organisation has been refocused and streamlined to 
drive operational performance. 

Within the leased estate, we have enhanced the level of support 
offered to Partners, while in the managed estate our value 
proposition has been strengthened and our Operational Excellence 
programme has been launched. 

Increased through a reduction in support centre costs, a more 
focused capital expenditure programme and the acceleration  
of the disposal of underperforming or non core assets. 

The increased cash flow has been used to reduce debt levels. 
During the year, £708m of debt has been repaid at a cost of £473m.

What we said What we did

Punch is the UK’s lea
ding 

pub company with a  

portfolio of 7,676 pub
s 

across our leased and 

managed estates.

For more information visit:
www.punchtaverns.com
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Market overview
Business review

Operating in a challenging market 
The credit crunch and economic downturn resulted in a recession 
during 2009 which has presented challenging market conditions 
for the retail and leisure sectors. 

Competition remains fierce and although consumers have enjoyed 
a year of discounts, sales and offers that has seen their money go 
further than ever before, confidence remains low. 

Success for the retail and leisure sector is being determined by their 
ability to respond, with pace, to the changing market conditions 
and provide offers which deliver great guest experiences and value. 
Aware of the challenges, we refocused our plans and strategy early 
on to ensure that we were in the strongest position to weather  
the storm.

A number of major retailers have been unsuccessful and familiar 
names have disappeared from our high streets. At the same time, 
our Partners have faced continuing pressure; economic conditions 
have accelerated the rate at which pubs, restaurants and bars are 
closing. This combination will mean fewer, better pubs competing 
for more customers in the future and we have been quick to 
respond to these changing market dynamics. 

An evolving industry 
The economic climate has proved to be a catalyst for change within 
the pub industry and the last 12 months have seen the beginning 
of an evolution which will continue to shape the sector. 

The economic downturn has impacted pub businesses in much  
the same way as all retail and leisure businesses. Many individual 
operators have struggled to maintain performance and pub 
companies have had to invest larger sums of money to support 
their licensees. 

The recession and the continuing effect of the smoking ban have 
impacted further on declining beer volumes and highlighted the 
need for pubs to diversify and develop their consumer proposition 
if they are to succeed. 

The pub sector has been further impacted by the publication of  
the Business and Enterprise Committee (BEC) Report into pub 
companies in July 2009. 

The BEC Report identified a number of key themes that we had 
already started to address. We had already recognised the need  
for our leased business model to evolve and have subsequently 
introduced a number of changes to the way that we operate.  
We have also embarked on a major business change programme, 
which will see a cultural shift and a focus on ensuring joint 
profitability for Punch and our Partners.

Howard Ferrier of The Boot, Tamworth completed  
the Foundation For Success programme (FFS) which 
covers all of the key basics in marketing, legislation 
and finance as well as one to one in pub training.

Howard said: ‘I genuinely found the course very 
constructive, helpful and well presented. It was as 
much about learning how not to do things as well  
as how to.’ 

Laying the foundations 
for success 

Punch Partnerships, Foundation For Success.
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We adopted a measured approach to the outcome of the report 
and the subsequent media interest and industry debate. We 
recognised the need to present a united front and played an active 
role in bringing key industry players together to improve standards 
and develop a new Code of Practice. 

Regulation
The Licensing Act (Scotland) 2004, which came into force in 
September 2009, has completed licensing reform throughout  
the UK. Licensed premises now have the opportunity to be more 
flexible than ever before with regard to the hours they trade and  
it is crucial that they have the opportunity to embrace this to 
ensure the future of the industry. 

The Government is continuing to look at proposals to increase 
industry legislation and some Local Authorities are considering 
implementing blanket licensing conditions. Punch believes that the 
industry now has robust legislation in place to ensure that it trades 
responsibly and that Local Authorities already have the appropriate 
powers to act. 

Further regulation with its associated costs and red tape may prove 
too much for many operators and lead to further pub closures.  
We will continue to work with the industry to ensure that future 
legislation is only implemented after careful consideration. 

Punch has acted positively in response to this changing industry 
landscape, working to support our Partners and exploit new 
opportunities as they emerge. Aware of the challenges, we have 
set our sights on the future. We will ensure that our leased estate 
provides an attractive proposition for entrepreneurs entering the 
industry and that our managed pubs are great places for our team 
to work, providing memorable experiences for our guests and 
delivering high returns for investors. 

We have successfully m
anaged 

today, whilst actively
 planning  

for the future.

Partner, Jas Bhatt, and Punch have worked together 
to bring a much missed venue back to a World 
Heritage site. The village of Saltaire was built by Titus 
Salt for workers of the mill in the 1800s and was 
famously dry, but now Punch and Jas are bringing 
back the pub.

The Boathouse in Saltaire suffered two devastating 
fires in 2008. With a dramatic £500,000 rebuild and 
an entrepreneurial Partner at the helm, the pub now 
has an exciting future ahead.

All hands on deck

The Boathouse Inn, Saltaire.
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At a glance
Business review

Leased estate:
6,841 pubs
The leased business model continues 
to evolve as we focus on long term 
sustainable value creation for 
ourselves and our Partners. A key 
element of this is our commitment to 
develop more open and transparent 
relationships with our Partners.

The business has embarked on  
a strategic change programme called 
Pathway to Partnership, setting 
ourselves the ambitious goal of 
becoming the most trusted and best 
value pub partnership business in  
the UK. This programme is designed 
in three phases:

Phase one –

Stabilising performance
Our first priority was to stabilise the performance of our existing 
estate and begin introducing changes to improve the transparency 
of our relationship with our Partners. This coincided with the 
publication of the BEC Report which saw us move quickly to 
announce changes to our model, including the removal of the 
Partner machine share from the rent calculation and upward only 
rent reviews, the passing on of negative RPI rent reviews, the 
removal of restrictive covenants and the introduction of a price 
match commitment on our insurance premiums.
 
We recognised the impact that the recession was having on  
our Partners and, as a result, reorganised our priorities to focus  
on providing targeted support and performance improvement.  
We created a Turnaround Division comprising c.1,250 pubs which 
faced the most severe local market conditions. This helped us to 
provide dedicated operations support whilst identifying the options 
for disposal. By the end of the year, we had successfully disposed  
of 740 pubs, the majority of which were from the Turnaround 
Division, and we also identified c.450 further pubs to be transferred 
to Turnaround. It has also released our teams in the core estate to 
focus on providing targeted support to help our Partners succeed. 

Phase two –

Creating the platform for growth
This involves reviewing all aspects of our business model, to  
create the platform on which we respond to changing consumer 
demands and grow in partnership with our Partners. It begins  
with a detailed assessment of the market potential for each of  
our pubs together with the calibre of our Partners. It will involve 
the development of a new agreement improving transparency  
of the tied model, with a focus on incentivising growth.

Phase three –

Sustainable value creation
Phase three is about making sure that we deliver sustainable long 
term value for our investors and our Partners. It is about making 
sure that we have a clear consumer vision for each pub and that 
we recruit the right Partners to run every pub. It is about providing 
the best in everything needed to operate a successful pub so that 
we can attract the best Partners. It is about shifting our focus  
to sustainable Partner earning and building a solid reputation for 
transparent, open and fair relations. It is about Punch Partnerships 
becoming the most trusted and best value pub partnership 
business and the preferred choice for anyone seeking to run  
their own pub.

3

Phase one Phase two Phase three

Stabilising
performance

Creating
the platform
for growth

Sustainable
value
creation
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Leased estate

6,841 pubs

Roger Whiteside 
Managing Director 
Punch Partnerships

Over the last 12 months  
our Partners have completed 
4,627 days of training.

Our Goal: To be the 

most trusted and b
est 

value pub partnershi
p 

business in the UK
.

For more information visit:
www.punchtaverns.com

Partner relationships
We recognise that in the current economic climate, our  
Partners need more support than ever. Over the last financial 
year, we have invested over £1.6m a month supporting our 
Partners through a range of rent concessions, discounts and 
promotional support. 

We have also strengthened our relationships through a concerted 
focus on Business Relationship Managers (BRMs) spending more 
time in trade with their Partners providing consultancy business 
support. We relaunched our Flying Start programme to give our 
Partners the best possible start when taking on a pub, so that 
they receive quality support from their BRM, who meets them 
every four weeks during the crucial first six months of trading. 
 

Business development
In response to changing market dynamics, we are committed  
to providing our Partners with the tools to grow and diversify 
their businesses. We have invested over £30m in redeveloping 
500 of our pubs and have expanded our Finest Cask scheme  
to offer a wider choice of real ales. We have also supported  
our Partners in launching or developing their food offer. From  
the appointment of eight dedicated Catering Executives to the 
launch of fully packaged food offers including Table Top and 
Coffee and Wi-Fi, we are dedicated to helping our Partners  
build sustainable businesses for the future. 

Partner training
Following feedback from our Partners, we relaunched our award 
winning training offer. Your Development Portfolio is the only 
programme of its kind in the industry to link Partner training with 
the one to one meetings Partners have with their BRMs. 

As well as the five day Foundation For Success (FFS) programme 
covering all of the key basics in food hygiene, legislation and 
finance, the portfolio also includes one to one training where 
specialist licensed trade consultants spend time with our Partner 
in their own pub looking at cellar training, stock management, 
marketing and team management. As part of our commitment 
to ensure the capability of our Partners, we have built in a £600 
cash back incentive for those who complete the course. 
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Business review

At a glance
continued

Managed estate:
835 pubs

Premium Pub Restaurants – 135 pubs
Spread across a range of prime locations,  
our Premium Pub Restaurants include  
the Chef & Brewer concept and offer  
a quality dining experience in traditional 
and contemporary pub settings. Our 
guests have high expectations and  
a passion for quality food and drink.  
We deliver freshly prepared dishes,  
with a home cooked feel, using a  
range of seasonal British produce. 

City and Premium Pubs – 137 pubs
Our City and Premium Pubs serve guests 
who live, work and play in the city  
and provide memorable experiences  
for tourists and visitors looking for an 
authentic, traditional pub experience. 
Occupying prime locations and landmark 
sites, these pubs are great places to  
meet friends, colleagues and clients, 
consistently delivering reliable service  
and quality products. 

Value Pub Restaurants – 225 pubs
Incorporating our 74 Wacky Warehouse 
playbarns and well known concepts  
such as Two For One, our price led  
pub restaurants deliver great value  
and consistent service and facilities.  
The offer competes against well known 
chains to attract a guest who expects 
high levels of customer service but is  
not prepared to pay over the odds.  
Our menus are focused on delivering 
what our guests are looking for with  
a healthy choice for children.

Neighbourhood Pubs – 306 pubs
Providing a home from home for the local 
community, our neighbourhood pubs 
cater for a wide range of guests looking 
for an opportunity to relax, eat, drink  
and enjoy an evening socialising with 
friends. Aimed at a market of 21 years 
and older, these pubs have a community 
feel and provide an alternative to a home 
cooked meal with a good quality menu  
at a great price. 

Under new leadership and direction, 
the managed business has focused  
on putting strong foundations in 
place to deliver its future potential. 
Punch Pub Company has made  
a number of key improvements over 
the last 12 months and now has a 
robust strategy in place to drive sales, 
margin and profit growth, focused 
around the Circle of Success.

The Circle of Success

Best for
Team

(Recruitment, retention,
relationships)

Best for
Guest

(Product, service,
environment)

Best for
Investors
(Sales, margin,
profit growth)

Operational
Excellence

A motivated team create  
a great experience

Satisfied guests 
create 

repeat visits 
and new guests

Allows us to  
reinvest in our pubs 

and our team

Note: 32 pubs do not fall into our core concepts.
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Managed estate

835 pubs
Our Goal: To become and remain the  
best managed pub business in the UK.

For more information visit:
www.punchtaverns.com

Mike Tye 
Managing Director 
Punch Pub Company

We firmly believe that a well motivated team will deliver 
consistently great guest experiences. Over the last 12 months,  
we have focused on recruiting and retaining the best quality 
people within the industry, in our pub, operations and support 
teams. We increased the calibre of our management teams, 
through the introduction of new blueprint structures in all our  
pubs and the creation of General Manager, Deputy General 
Manager and Duty Manager roles. We have also reduced Team 
Player turnover by an impressive 34% in the year with an ambitious 
target to reduce turnover even further within the next 12 months. 
Only a stable team can deliver consistently great results.

Satisfied guests create repeat visits and advocacy, which will in 
turn generate new guests. Activity has focused to date on primarily 
improving our existing concepts, in terms of service enhancements, 
menu transformation and capacity management. At the same 
time we have remapped our concept portfolio to develop exciting 
new consumer offers for the future. Our guest experience is driven 
by Operational Excellence, which gives us the foundations to 
deliver and measure consistently great guest experiences. 

Delivering strong sales, margins and profit growth will mean  
that we can reinvest in our teams and our pubs. We undertook  
a comprehensive estate review and consumer research, to  
gain detailed information to shape our current estate plan and 
identify our future concept portfolio. We have developed several 
new concepts to pilot and successful concepts will be rapidly  
rolled out. 

At the same time, we reviewed our investment strategy to  
ensure that we generate sufficient returns. We halted major 
capital expenditure projects, spending money only on new 
concept development, and increased spend on repairs to  
improve the overall quality of our estate.

The business has a renewed focus on costs whilst simultaneously 
driving a stronger sales growth mentality. Cost control has 
focused on reducing our cost of goods, especially in relation  
to food and utilities. 

Every pub has a dedicated sales plan, supporting central 
marketing activity including the aggressive promotion of  
Key Value Items. We have set up an email club for every pub  
and a new consumer website, www.mypubheaven.com, will 
allow pubs to communicate directly with their local communities 
and facilitate online bookings. 

Best for Team

Best for Guest

Operational Excellence

Best for Investors

At the heart of our Circle of Success, Operational Excellence will 
deliver further value to our investors by consistently providing what 
our guests want through releasing the potential of our teams.

Launched in March 2009, Operational Excellence is a major change 
management programme which will transform the mindset of the 
17,000 people in our pubs. 

It is about ensuring our pub teams do the right things in the right 
way, with the right measures, supported by business leading 
communication. There are eight Operational Excellence Hardlines 
which outline the must do activities and ways of working. 

Operational Excellence is the driving force behind the Circle of 
Success, ensuring that we deliver the best for our team, best for  
our guests and ultimately, the best for our investors.
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Business review

Operational review

We believe the pub  
is still one of the most 
important cultural 
components of social 
life in Britain.

Industry overview
Over the last few years the pub industry has faced substantial  
new regulation, tax and duty increases as well as the effects of the 
recession. Despite this, we believe the pub is still one of the most 
important cultural components of social life in Britain. At Punch, 
we are committed to safeguarding the future of the great British 
pub, whether it is in the development of our 835 managed pubs  
or through continued partnership with our 6,841 Partners in  
our leased pubs. We are also working closely with the rest of  
the industry to develop a common voice on key issues facing  
the pub sector.

In May 2009 the BEC Report identified a number of key challenges 
for the industry which we had already recognised and have been 
quick to respond to. We have subsequently introduced a number 
of changes to the way in which we operate including the removal 
of the Partner machine share from the rent calculation, the removal 
of upward only rent reviews, the passing on of negative RPI rent 
reviews, the removal of restrictive covenants on the sale of pubs 
and the introduction of a price match commitment on our 
insurance premiums.

To further evolve our leased business model and build open and 
transparent relationships with our Partners, we have embarked  
on a major change programme, Pathway to Partnership, which  
will see a cultural shift and a focus on ensuring joint profitability  
for Punch and our Partners.

We recognised the need for the industry to present a united front 
and played an active role in bringing key industry players together 
to participate in an industry wide mediation process. We welcome 
the decision of the OFT not to take further action against pub 
companies and sincerely hope that all industry bodies can work 
together to protect the future of the British pub which is in all of 
our interests.

Our 6,841 leased pubs employ c.50,000 people and our 835 
managed pubs employ c.17,000 people, with each pub making  
a significant contribution to its community and the economy.  
We will continue to work with the Government and industry  
to reduce the pressure on our pubs from increasing red tape and  
the continued increase in tax. We would urge the Government  
to take positive steps to protect this important element of our  
local economy when considering its approach to duty and industry 
legislation. The pub industry has been at the receiving end of 
punitive tax increases and burgeoning red tape for too long and  
it needs positive action from the Government and industry to 
improve its future.

Giles Thorley
Chief Executive
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24%
reduction in net deb

t  

levels by £1,066m.

Leased estate
We have continued to evolve the leased business model as we 
focus on long term sustainable value creation for ourselves and our 
Partners. A key element of this is our commitment to develop more 
open and transparent relationships with our Partners. The business 
has embarked on a three phase strategic change programme  
called Pathway to Partnership, setting ourselves the ambitious goal 
of becoming the most trusted and best value pub partnership 
business in the UK.

Throughout the year focus has been upon stabilising business 
performance and this has seen us arrest the rate of decline 
reported across the first quarter of the financial year. There has 
been no material change in like for like EBITDA for the balance  
of the year, being down by 11%. Our programme to dispose  
of non core assets has further reduced EBITDA in the year by 
approximately £6m (c.£29m annualised), resulting in an EBITDA  
for the year of £412m. 

Trading performance has been impacted by a combination of 
weaker beer volumes and a softening in rents, coupled with the 
previously announced increase in the levels of Partner support, 
which has been maintained at an average of £1.6m per month 
across the year, being more than double the level of support being 
provided in the previous year. 

In this difficult economic environment, the support that Punch 
provides to its Partners through flexible lease agreements, training, 
sales driving activity, food development and financial support is 
more important than ever. The number of closed pubs within the 
Punch estate at the year end remains a relatively small number at 
c.4% of the estate. 

In addition to support for specific pubs, proactive actions have 
been taken to support each one of our Partners. The full extent  
of wholesale price increases introduced by the breweries has not 
been passed on to our Partners, with the September 2008 uplift 
being absorbed entirely and the more recent round of increases 
being limited to 4%. We have also strengthened our relationships 
through a concerted focus on Business Relationship Managers 
(BRMs) spending more time in trade with their Partners providing 
consultancy business support, using our Flying Start programme. 

Business overview
Punch Taverns plc is the UK’s leading pub operator of over 7,600 
leased, tenanted and managed pubs. 

The company has scale across the market, being number two by 
number of leased and tenanted pubs, as well as number two by 
number of managed pubs.

Management actions and priorities for 2009
The full year results reflect the challenging market conditions being 
faced by the sector. The wider recessionary economic conditions 
have significantly reduced consumer confidence and impacted  
the level of disposable income available for leisure activities.  
We anticipate that demand levels are unlikely to improve in  
the near term and given this difficult trading environment, 
management action has been focused on four key objectives:

1. Strengthened operational management. Both sides of  
the business now have experienced leaders in place. Additionally,  
the whole of the organisation has been refocused and streamlined  
to support the new leadership team.

2. Stabilised operating performance. Following the 
deterioration of trading towards the end of the 2008 financial year, 
we have taken action across our business. Within the leased estate, 
we have enhanced the level of support offered to Partners, while in 
the managed estate our value proposition has been strengthened 
and our Operational Excellence programme has been launched.  
As a result of these and other actions we have slowed margin 
decline in the managed estate and have stabilised the rate of 
decline in the leased estate. We believe these and other actions  
will enable us to reposition the business to return to delivering  
long term sustainable growth and value in due course.

3. Improved cash flow. Through a variety of self-help measures 
including a reduction in support centre costs, a more focused 
capital expenditure programme and the acceleration of the 
disposal of underperforming or non core assets. 

4. Reduced debt. Increased cash flow combined with cash raised 
from the placing and open offer has been used to reduce net  
debt levels by £1,066m. During the year, £708m of debt has been 
repaid at a cost of £473m.
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Business review

In order to give better organisational support to those pubs 
experiencing most difficulty, we established a Turnaround Division 
which included c.1,250 pubs which are managed outside our 
normal regional structure. This ensures a much closer level of 
support and attention from our operational teams through  
these very difficult trading conditions. In addition, core estate 
management is refocused on business development as our  
BRMs now have fewer Tenancy At Will (TAW) and closed units  
to manage. 

During the year we successfully disposed of over a third of the 
original sites transferred to the Turnaround Division. As part of the 
continuous review of estate quality, a further 430 pubs have been 
identified and transferred to the Turnaround Division since the year 
end. The Turnaround Division now makes up c.19% of the total 
estate but contributes less than 6% of the operating profit and 
includes approximately two thirds of the total number of closed 
pubs and those pubs operating on TAW agreements. 

Managed estate
As with the leased estate, management actions have been focused 
on stabilising business performance. Underpinning these actions 
has been a strengthening of our value proposition and the rollout 
of our new Operational Excellence programme. 

Emphasis has been moved towards trading the business more 
actively through heightened promotional activity which has been 
designed to grow sales and margin. Business performance has 
started to see a measure of improvement with like-for-like sales  
for the year being down by 1.5%, vs down 2.3% in the first half 
year and down 0.6% in the second. Our programme to dispose  
of non core assets has further reduced EBITDA in the year by 
approximately £3m (c.£11m annualised), resulting in an EBITDA  
for the year of £100m. 

In February, we launched our Operational Excellence programme 
which represents the largest change programme ever undertaken 
within our managed business. The objective has been to simplify 
ways of working, streamline pub structures and have the right 
people in place doing the right things. Results are continually 
monitored through focused measures which are independently 
audited with clear action plans. It is early days for the programme 
but it is important in achieving an improved sales and operating 
cost performance. 

Operating margins continue to be impacted by above inflation 
regulatory, food and energy cost increases together with 
promotional discounts to drive sales, with operating margins  
for the full year being down by 370 basis points. Inflationary  
cost pressures have begun to ease particularly in the area  
of energy costs where we are now benefiting from reduced  
prices compared with a year ago.

We have completed a site by site review of the managed estate 
including both concept and physical condition. This has developed 
a clear understanding of the capital expenditure prioritisation and 
also the disposal programme, driven by the future potential of  
each site. During the year, we have completed £42m of capital 
investments including the introduction of new concepts coupled 
with all existing concepts being revised and improved. 

In December 2008 a number of managed leasehold pubs reverted 
to the Group, the majority of which had previously been sold to 
the Orchid Group in 2006. In total, 52 pubs have reverted to the 
Group during the year, of which 37 have now resumed trading. 

Matthew Clark joint venture
Matthew Clark, the 50% joint venture with Constellation Brands 
Inc, continues to perform satisfactorily in a very competitive 
market, providing a post tax contribution to the Punch Group  
of £2m for the year. Although relatively small compared to the  
rest of the Group on a profitability basis, Matthew Clark has 
significant scale in its marketplace as the largest independent 
drinks wholesaler and distributor to the UK leisure and hospitality 
industry, with gross turnover of c.£600m and c.20,000 customers.

Matthew Clark has a strong strategic fit with the Punch Group and 
has enabled Punch Partners to benefit from an enhanced range of 
goods and services by leveraging Matthew Clark’s market leading 
wines and spirits expertise.£42m

of capital investment
s in our 

managed estate, incl
uding the 

introduction of new 
concepts.
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Introducing the  
Duty Manager 

Financial 
The financial year comprised 52 weeks from 24 August 2008  
to 22 August 2009, during which time we have generated profit 
before tax and exceptional items of £160m (2008: £262m).  
Basic earnings per share before exceptional items were 36.1p 
(2008: 69.9p). 

A number of exceptional items were incurred in the period, 
resulting in a charge of £290m. The principal items were £663m  
of pub impairment charges, a £55m charge for the mark-to-market 
of certain interest rate swaps, £246m gain on the repurchase of 
securities, £29m onerous lease provision, £8m of reorganisation 
costs and £32m loss on disposal, largely relating to the deemed 
disposal of goodwill. Of these charges only £8m was an actual 
cash cost in the year. The tax effect of these items, together with 
finalising a number of current and prior year tax matters with 
HMRC, gave rise to an exceptional tax credit (net of goodwill 
adjustments) of £252m. 

The carrying value of pub assets and investments at the year  
end was revised to £5,405m, implying a Net Asset Value of 260p 
per share. The number shown in the accounts is based on historic 
(or deemed) cost but subject to an annual impairment review. 
Given the exceptional circumstances in the economy, we have 
recognised a pub impairment of £663m before tax. The charge 
reflects the identification of further pubs considered unlikely to 
generate long term sustainable growth which have been written 
down to their disposal value, together with the impairment on 
pubs where profitability has been significantly impacted by the 
current market conditions.

Accounting standards require that where the value-in-use of 
individual pubs falls below their carrying value, then this reduction 
is charged to the income statement. Uplifts in value are not 
reflected in the financial statements, unless and to the extent  
that they reverse a previous impairment charge.

The effective pre-exceptional tax charge was 29% (2008: 29%). 
Cash tax in the year amounted to a repayment of £8m (2008: 
£21m repayment) following the finalisation of prior year tax 
matters with HMRC.

As previously announced in September last year, the Board 
considers it prudent to continue to retain cash and further 
strengthen the balance sheet. Consequently, dividends continue  
to be suspended.

A key part of Operational Excellence was to introduce 
blueprint team structures for our managed pubs  
and introduce the role of Duty Manager to oversee 
every shift. 

To further improve the guest experience we have  
run 150 Perfect Shift Duty Manager training sessions 
this year for over 2,000 attendees.

The Dog & Partridge, Tutbury.
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continued

Every month, our pub teams are tasked with  
driving sales on specific dishes or side orders which 
enhance the guest experience and grow profit.  
This incentive programme has proved successful  
with our top performing Team Players achieving  
as much as 574% of their target uplift in sales. 

Capital structure
Our overriding objective is to continue to maximise the long term 
shareholder value of the Group.

Since flotation, we have maintained a debt structure funded 
almost entirely by long term mortgage finance, secured on  
our sizeable freehold property portfolio. This remains the case 
today with £3.9bn of long term debt secured on over 7,400  
pub properties. The debt fully repays over terms extending to  
26 years and is all effectively at fixed rates of interest. 

As with all debt finance of this type, there are covenant and 
performance tests. We have three debt finance vehicles;  
Punch A, Punch B and Spirit, all of which maintained good 
covenant headroom against the key Debt Service Cover Ratio 
(DSCR) throughout the year. Additionally, the Punch A and Punch 
B securitisations met their Restricted Payment Condition (RPC)  
tests throughout the year resulting in cash being available for 
upstream from the securitisations. The cash held in the Spirit 
securitisation, following Spirit falling below the RPC test at  
the last year end, has been used to repay debt within the  
Spirit securitisation.

However, in the light of the challenging trading conditions we have 
continued to review our debt levels and looked at opportunities to 
increase cash flow and repay debt by taking action to reduce costs, 
refocus capital expenditure and realise value from the disposal of 
non core assets. 

During the year we completed a review and subsequent 
consultation process of our support centre functions in order  
to reduce cost and simplify our organisational structure. This 
completes a two year programme and annualised support costs 
are now running at c.£65m compared to c.£95m two years ago. 

Capital expenditure in the current year has been scaled back,  
with £93m of spend in the year (2008: £136m). Our ongoing 
divestment programme has progressed extremely well. We have 
disposed of 800 pubs largely from the non core estate, realising 
proceeds of £414m, at an average multiple of not less than  
10 times EBITDA. These disposals were immediately earnings 
accretive after retiring Group debt. While we continue to look  
at further disposal opportunities, we will only do so where such 
actions are in the best interests of shareholders.

SUMO – Sell up,  
sell more and sell on 

The Rising Sun, Macclesfield.
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c.£200m
further non core dis

posals 

expected in the nex
t  

financial year.

Our strong operational cash flow, together with our successful 
disposals programme, has enabled the balance sheet to be 
substantially strengthened. Since the beginning of the financial 
year we have repaid £708m of debt, £698m of which was ahead 
of schedule, at a cost of £473m. Our actions in repaying certain 
tranches of debt has helped maintain headroom in all of our 
financial covenants. 

Additionally, on 3 July 2009 we announced that our placing  
and open offer had been successfully completed raising net funds 
of £354m. These funds are being used to facilitate the repayment 
of the Group’s Convertible Bonds (due December 2010).

As a result of these actions, net debt has been reduced by more 
than £1bn, or 24%, since the beginning of the year. The nominal 
value of year end net debt amounted to £3.47bn (2008: £4.53bn) 
representing a multiple of 6.7 times (2008: 7.3 times) our reported 
pre-exceptional EBITDA. 

Looking forward, we expect to continue to reduce the level of  
debt through retained cash generation and further non core 
disposals, expected to be c.£200m in the 2010 year. While recent 
trading continues to be in line with our expectations, given the lack 
of visibility over future trading in a challenging market environment, 
there could be circumstances where forecast revenues or cash 
flows are lower than expected. In the event that any shortfall 
cannot be covered by existing covenant headroom, then the Group 
would consider using funds provided by the capital raising to 
support securitisation performance.

Company advisers
Following the recapitalisation of the Group in the year, culminating 
with the successful equity raising, the Board has taken the 
opportunity to consider the best combination of financial advisers 
and brokers to support the Group going forward. Bank of America 
Merrill Lynch and Goldman Sachs will act as joint Brokers and 
Financial Advisers with Numis Securities acting as Specialist Broker.

Current trading and outlook
Trading since the year end has continued in line with management 
expectations. The continuing challenging market in which we 
operate makes forecasting difficult and while we are confident  
of the longer term prospects for the Group, we remain cautious 
over the near term due to the lack of visibility on trading outlook.
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Responsible alcohol retailing
The vast majority of pubs throughout the UK provide a safe,  
well run and properly regulated environment for adults to enjoy 
alcohol responsibly. 

Like all responsible pub operators, we are concerned about the 
misuse of alcohol and do all we can to ensure that our pubs are 
not operating irresponsible drinks promotions, serving underage 
drinkers or allowing members of the public to get inebriated whilst 
on our premises. 

Since its inception, our pubs have supported Challenge 21.  
Pubs within our managed business record the number of sales  
they refuse due to a guest not being able to prove their age and 
the number of leased pubs displaying posters is captured in our  
annual due diligence check. Our managed pubs refused 17,902 
sales last year due to a guest not being able to prove their age 
when challenged. 

The Licensing Act 2003 and the Licensing Act (Scotland) 2004  
laid the foundations for a much closer working relationship 
between the on trade and Local Authorities. Our operations  
teams have grasped this opportunity and where there are any 
issues or concerns, it is always our intention to work constructively 
to address them. We are the Premises Licence Holder for the  
vast majority of our sites and are therefore committed to their 
responsible operation.

As Portman Group signatories and supporters of Drinkaware,  
we do not condone irresponsible drinks promotions. This year,  
we joined forces with other leading members of the industry to 
launch the Why Let Good Times Go Bad campaign to tackle binge 
drinking amongst 18-25 year olds. In addition to providing 
campaign funding we will be promoting the campaign in our 
managed pubs in the coming year and offering our leased  
Partners the opportunity to get involved. 

In its unique position of providing the venue in which alcohol  
is consumed, the on trade is able to monitor both the sale and 
consumption of alcohol and therefore provides one of the safest 
and best controlled environments for adults to enjoy good food, 
drink and entertainment. 
 

Award winning Partners, David and Kate Deacon, 
have always been determined that their pub,  
The Shoulder of Mutton, Kirby Overblow, would be 
the centre of community life and have just affirmed 
that with the launch of their own village farm shop. 

The shoulder of the 
community

The Shoulder of Mutton, Kirby Overblow.
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17,902
sales refused in the 

year  

due to guests not be
ing  

able to prove their a
ge.

Guest health and wellbeing
We are committed to the safety and care of any member of the 
public visiting a Punch pub, whether they are a guest within our 
managed business or are visiting a leased pub operated by one  
of our Partners. 

Guests demand the highest levels of service and should receive 
quality products in well managed, comfortable and safe 
surroundings. 

All elements of customer care are outlined to our leased  
Partners when they join our estate during our induction training 
programme which also delivers food hygiene and health and safety 
qualifications. Our BRMs perform regular cellar checks and retail 
standard assessments and can provide advice on further training 
should our Partners need to improve in any area. 

Within the first few days of taking on their pub, our Partners 
receive a RISK pack which outlines all the responsibilities associated 
with the safe operation of their business and the services that we 
offer to support them. This includes a fire risk assessment, a fire 
safety logbook and information on how to limit risk throughout 
their pub including details on kitchen safety, flood protection, 
employing contractors and electrical safety. 

A key element of the Operational Excellence programme within  
the managed business this year, was a complete review of our 
health and safety policy and procedures. We have reset the  
bar for operating and maintaining the very best standards with 
regard to food hygiene, fire safety and risk and all of our General 
Managers have had their responsibilities clarified. Health and safety 
is now one of our biggest commitments and external auditors  
will review our estate, on an ongoing basis, to ensure we deliver 
consistently high standards.

We have also raised the bar on food quality and healthy eating 
within our managed business. Having already eradicated 
genetically modified ingredients from our menus and reduced  
the levels of salt and hydrogenated vegetable fat to below  
Food Standard Agency (FSA) levels, we have been reviewing  
the nutritional content of all of our dishes. 

The first of our new concepts, Fayre & Square, was 
successfully trialed as our financial year drew to a 
close. Ruyan and his team who opened the first  
Fayre & Square pub restaurant at The Rising Sun, 
Macclesfield in July, achieved outstanding guest 
feedback.

That’s Fayre & Square 

The new Fayre & Square menu.
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Corporate social  
responsibility
continued

We are committed to providing healthy, balanced meals with  
the right proportions of vegetables, carbohydrate and protein.  
We have worked closely with our suppliers to ensure that we are 
delivering a better quality product to our guests, which has resulted 
in higher quality ingredients being used in a number of dishes. 

Our children’s menu continues to remain free from artificial 
flavours and colours and parents can see a full nutritional 
breakdown to help them make informed choices. 

Community 
The great British pub is one of the cornerstones of our heritage 
and plays an important role in many local communities. The pub 
provides a meeting place for the local community, a focus for 
fundraising and invaluable sponsorship for grass roots sports. 

In much the same way as local post offices and shops, a village 
pub provides a valuable community facility which is truly missed  
if it is forced to close. As more and more rural communities lose 
shops and services, the local pub is often the last such facility and 
many licensees are taking the opportunity to fill some of the gaps 
by opening post office counters or grocery stores. We actively 
encourage our Partners to diversify their businesses and provide 
additional services. 

In addition to providing a meeting place for clubs and societies,  
the local pub is also the obvious choice to coordinate fundraising 
activities for local sports teams, community groups and charities. 
We estimate that our pubs are responsible for raising hundreds  
of thousands of pounds every year. 

We have been encouraging our pubs to register their charitable 
donations on www.pubaid.com which launched earlier this year  
in an attempt to track the massive contribution that the industry 
makes to good causes. Our managed pubs throughout West 
Yorkshire helped to raise over £40,000 for Help for Heroes this 
year and one of our Partners, Mick Waddington at the Windsor 
Hotel, Bridlington, raised £30,000 to purchase a new lifeboat for 
the Royal National Lifeboat Institute. 

At our support centre in Burton upon Trent, we generate and 
donate from our own charitable fund. The Punch Community  
Spirit Project is now in its second year and has supported a  
total of 39 local charities and good causes. This year, we raised  
£49,396 through a number of initiatives and donated £20,349  
to organisations within a 15 mile radius. Our beneficiaries do  
not all hold charitable status, but they all dedicate their efforts  
to improving the quality of life of local young people. 
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Environment
In 2005, the managed business engaged the Carbon Trust to 
develop a programme of carbon reduction within its estate.  
After purchasing Spirit Group, Punch was determined to realise  
the benefits of these plans and transfer the knowledge to our 
Partners to help them reduce operating costs and improve their 
green credentials. 

Our goal is to reduce our energy consumption by 17% by 2010. 
Through a combination of Automated Meter Reading equipment, 
which has made our General Managers more aware of energy 
consumption, and energy efficient lighting we have already 
reduced the amount of electricity and gas used within our 
managed estate by 11.5% and 12.8% respectively. 

The results from the trial and rollout of our carbon reduction  
plans within our managed estate have enabled us to develop  
a one day workshop for our leased Partners. We have been 
offering this course since July 2009 and 93 Partners have attended 
our first nine sessions. Our aim is for 1,000 Partners to attend this 
workshop by the end of 2010 and enjoy the associated benefits  
of cheaper overheads. 

The topping out of our new support centre building in February 
2009 marked the completion of an £8m project which has resulted 
in a landmark building with a minimal carbon footprint. Solar 
panels on the roof heat water for the building and its design  
and construction have been managed to deliver a high BRE 
Environmental Assessment Method (BREEAM) rating and mitigate 
its environmental impact.

17%
goal for reduction of

  

energy consumption 
by 2010.

The perfect partnership

The Punch Pub Pack featuring Flying Start.

With the support of Punch, former HR Manager 
Natalie and her accountant husband Steve Middleton, 
have got their new pub, The Black Bull in Lincoln  
off to a Flying Start. Business Relationship Manager, 
Sean Gifford has been visiting every four weeks to 
ensure they get all the support they need. Natalie 
said: ‘We have a strong relationship with Sean  
and it’s been great having him here every step of  
the way as a sounding board.’



We understand  
the importance  
and contribution  
of our people. 

From the pub teams in our man
aged  

business, to the entrepreneurs 
who take 

on our leased pubs and the indi
viduals in our 

support centre and field operat
ions teams, 

our business relies on great peo
ple. 

Here is how we’re recruiting,
 developing 

and retaining our high quality t
eam. 
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Building and retaining  
a high calibre team



Recruiting a high calibre team 
We aim to recruit the best quality team in the industry, from  
our pub and operations teams to our central support teams.

The current recruitment market and our attractive reward package 
mean that we never compromise on quality. We encourage skilled 
and talented individuals to join our leased estate as Partners and for 
crucial roles within our field operations and central support teams. 

Here are some examples of how we support great recruitment:
>  A recruitment toolkit is extending professional recruitment 

techniques into our managed pubs providing General 
Managers with the tools that they need to recruit great  
team members. 

>  We encourage succession planning at all levels designed  
to move up talented people throughout the business.  
Over 35% of the General Managers appointed within  
our pub teams are internal promotions. 

>  We have recruited 1,268 quality new Partners into our  
leased business.

>  The launch of www.punchgroupcareers.com enables 
candidates to search for employment opportunities across  
the business and be alerted when potential positions  
become available.

Developing a high calibre team
We are determined that when people join our team they have  
the opportunity to progress their career and develop as individuals. 
Our training, team structures and succession planning help  
our employees to perform their roles better, achieve industry 
recognised qualifications and progress. Bespoke training for our 
Partners, developed around their needs and requirements, helps 
them to maximise the potential of their businesses and to reap  
the rewards. 

Here are some examples of our commitment to developing a high 
calibre team:
>  Over 11,000 Team Players complete our e learning programme 

every year.
>  During 2009, we have been laying the foundations for  

a new Apprenticeship scheme and the opportunity for 
employees within our pubs and support teams to work 
towards a Diploma and ultimately a degree level qualification. 

>  The Foundation For Success replaced our award winning 
Modern Licensed Retailing course for new Partners entering 
our leased businesses. This has achieved an 87% success rate.

>  During the year 100 members of our management team 
attended our Authentic Leadership course to further develop 
strong leadership skills and build strong engagement and 
commitment in their teams.

>  We ran a total of 440 courses for our team, with a high level 
of satisfaction. We continually refine our learning and 
Development programmes as the business evolves.

Motivating and retaining a high calibre team 
We provide competitive reward packages which we regularly 
benchmark externally and a number of great benefits to help  
us retain the people we invest in. 

Every member of the team has the opportunity to earn bonuses 
through a number of different recognition and incentive 
programmes. Support team members have two Performance 
Development Reviews every year to set clear objectives and  
discuss development opportunities. A combination of benefits 
complete the package for our employees. 

Here are some examples of how we retain our high calibre team:
>  All of our 17,625 employees receive two 50% and third  

off vouchers every month to use within our managed pubs.
>  We are paying a final year bonus in recognition of our 

employees efforts. 
>  During the year, we held regular listening groups and lunches 

with the executive team to improve employee engagement 
and stimulate direct feedback.

>  97 members of the support centre team have opted in to  
our Flexi-Holidays scheme to add up to three further days  
of annual leave to their entitlement.

>  Every quarter, our top performing General Managers have 
been recognised through the Stars Awards programme and 
prizes included trips to Dublin and Prague.

>  Our PROUD scheme recognised 306 members of our team 
with a Silver Award of £100; 173 members of our team with  
a Gold Award of £500 and four members of the team with  
a Platinum Award of £1,000 in recognition of delivering 
excellence in their roles. 7,230 employees also received  
a PROUD Award scratch card this year with prizes ranging  
from vouchers to use in our pubs to £1,500 holiday vouchers.

Karen Caddick, Group HR Director: ‘We pride ourselves on  
the high level of commitment and satisfaction of our people.  
We want people to be proud to work in the pub industry and  
to view this as a career with real potential. We are taking the 
opportunity to benchmark ourselves by entering the Sunday Times 
Top 100 Companies to Work For as a commitment to providing  
a great place to work.’
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Our risks  
and uncertainties

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial, operational, 
economic and regulatory risks and uncertainties. The Group has 
formal risk management processes in place which are designed  
to identify and evaluate these risks and uncertainties based on the 
probability of them occurring and the impact they may have on the 
business. The Directors are aware that these risks and uncertainties 
may either singularly or collectively affect the company’s revenue, 
costs, the value of our assets, our reputation or our ability to meet 
our business objectives. 

Some of the risks the Group faces are external and therefore 
beyond our control. Some risks may not be known at present or 
may be considered to be currently immaterial, but could develop 
into material risks in the future. The risk management processes are 
therefore designed to manage the risks which may have a material 
impact on our ability to meet our corporate objectives, rather than 
fully mitigate all risks. 

The Board of Directors formally review the material risks to  
the Group on a regular basis as well as discussing changing  
or emerging risks on an ongoing basis. The Board is responsible  
for ensuring that these business risks are appropriately managed  
by the executive management team. 

An internal audit and risk assurance team provide assurance to  
the Board on the management of risks within the Group and 
maintenance of a Group Risk Register and the agreed actions  
by the executive management team. The Audit Committee is 
responsible for annually reviewing the overall effectiveness of  
the risk management framework. 

Our main risks and how we manage them are shown in the table 
below however this is not an extensive list of all of the risks which 
we may face. 

Risks and uncertainties Mitigation processes

Ec
on

om
ic

General economic conditions
RISK: The recent economic climate conditions have affected both 
consumer confidence and the levels of consumer spending across our 
industry. This has impacted the Group’s revenues as well as our Partners’ 
businesses and could continue to do so if economic climate conditions 
persist or worsen. 

>  The Group carries out regular reviews of the impact of economic conditions 
on its budget and strategic plans

>  We continue to provide the right support, at the right time, to the right 
Partner with the aim of optimising the profitability of every pub 

>  We continue to offer our guests value for money through vouchers and 
offers in our managed estate

Property valuations 
RISK: Continuing fluctuations in the UK property market as well as the 
effect of market conditions could reduce the value of the Group’s property 
portfolio over time. These economic factors could also lead to a reduction 
in the value realised by the Group on disposal of pubs. 

>  We continue to realise appropriate returns from disposals by disposing  
of less sustainable or less profitable pubs where appropriate

>  Where impairment indicators are identified, the Group carries out an 
impairment review on an individual pub basis

Increasing costs 
RISK: The increase in some of our key operating costs such as global food 
prices or utility costs is an ongoing risk to our business. 

>  Well negotiated supplier contracts have protected us from significant 
increases in food and fuel costs

>  Careful cost control processes ensure that costs are closely monitored  
and subject to budgetary and authorisation controls

Fi
na

nc
ia

l a
nd
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Liquidity risk 
RISK: The Group’s funding strategy is to ensure a mix of financing 
methods offering flexibility and cost effectiveness to match the 
requirements of the Group. The Group is primarily financed by secured 
loan notes, with approximately 91% (August 2008: 92%) of the capital 
balance on these loan notes being repayable after more than five years 
from the balance sheet date, subject to relevant covenants being met.

>  The Board continues to review alternative sources of finance
>  The Group’s objective is to smooth the debt maturity profile, to arrange 

funding ahead of requirements and to maintain credit ratings such that  
any maturing short term debt may be refinanced as it falls due 

>  Cash flow forecasts are frequently produced to assist management in 
identifying liquidity requirements and are stress tested for possible scenarios. 
This includes assessments of the ability to meet the restricted payment 
conditions in the three securitisation structures in order that cash can be 
released to the top company level

>  Cash balances are invested in short term deposits such that they are readily 
available to settle short term liabilities or fund capital additions

Interest rate risk
RISK: The Group is exposed to interest rate risk from our loan notes  
and bonds and borrows at both fixed and floating rates of interest. 
Further information on the Group’s financial instruments can be found  
in note 22 to the financial statements.   

>  The Group employs derivative financial instruments such as interest rate 
swaps to generate the desired interest rate profile

>  The Group has taken out derivative financial instruments such that  
100% of all loans (August 2008: 99.7%) were either at fixed rate or  
were converted to fixed rate as a result of swap arrangements thereby 
largely eliminating the Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates  
Further information on how the Group manages its interest rate risk  
is provided in note 22 to the financial statements

Capital risk
RISK: The Group’s capital structure is made up of net debt, issued share 
capital and reserves. The Group’s debt is divided into three separate 
securitisations and a convertible bond.

>  The Group is able to generate sufficient returns to service the debt
>  The securitised debt is monitored by a variety of measures which are 

reported to debt providers on a quarterly basis
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Risks and uncertainties Mitigation processes
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Pensions
RISK: The Group operates three defined benefit pension schemes which 
must be funded to meet required benefit payments. The schemes are 
subject to risk regarding the relative amount of the schemes’ assets, which 
are affected by the value of investments and the returns generated by 
such investments, compared to the schemes’ liabilities, which are affected 
by changes in life expectancy, actual and expected price inflation, changes 
in bond yields and future salary increases. The difference in value between 
scheme assets and scheme liabilities may vary significantly in the short 
term, potentially resulting in an increased deficit (or reduced surplus) being 
recognised on the Group’s balance sheet. 

>  All of the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes are closed to  
new members

Internal financial control 
RISK: The Group is reliant on maintaining a sound internal control 
environment and well controlled processes which could result in financial 
fraud or material error if not working effectively.

>  Formal risk management processes are in place which are supported fully  
by the Board of Directors

>  An internal audit team reviews and reports on strengths and weaknesses  
in the internal control environment

>  The effectiveness of the internal control environment is monitored by the 
Audit Committee, further details of which are provided on page 36

O
pe

ra
ti

on
al

 a
nd

 b
us

in
es

s

Information systems and technology
RISK: The Group is reliant upon information systems and technology  
for electronic point of sale within our managed pubs, order capture, 
distribution, accounting and reporting and communication as well  
as for many of our internal financial controls and business processes, 
which could be damaging for the business if they were to fail. 

>  An incident management and business continuity plan is in place and 
regularly reviewed for critical business processes to ensure the business  
would be able to continue operating in the event of a major incident 
affecting our systems or technology

Product quality
RISK: The Group is exposed to product quality risk in relation to food and 
drink which is supplied to and prepared in our pubs. Food contamination 
or a food scare could result in a food safety issue for our guests and 
impact the reputation of the Group. Poor quality or wrongly prepared 
food served in our managed estate could impact our guest satisfaction 
and the Group’s reputation. 

>  Safety measures are in place to ensure that product integrity is maintained 
and that all food and drink products purchased by the Group are fully 
traceable

>  The Group has a formal food accreditation process based on a programme 
of robust supplier audits by an external food assurance company,  
as well as food safety audits within every pub within the managed estate

>  An incident management plan exists to ensure that products can be recalled 
quickly if required

>  The Group has a policy of providing high standards of food hygiene and 
food safety training and guidance for our managed estate

Service standards and threats to our concepts
RISK: Poor service or an incident may occur which may materially  
impact or damage the reputation of one of our managed pub concepts. 
This could affect the ability of the concept to attract future guests or  
negatively impact the ability of that concept to generate future income.  
 

>  The Group is committed to providing training to all employees within  
our managed pubs to ensure high standards are delivered to our guests  
at all times

>  We have recently launched a programme entitled Operational Excellence  
to focus on high guest standard

>  A third party supplier provides feedback from guest surveys and guest 
focused operational audits within our managed pubs 

Supply chain management
RISK: The Group places reliance on our key suppliers and distributors to 
ensure continuous supply of food, drink and other products into our pubs. 
The Group is exposed to the risk of interruption or failure of suppliers or 
distributors which could result in our products not being delivered on time 
or to our required standards. 

>  The Group has reviewed the disaster recovery and business continuity  
plans of our key distributors

>  The Group monitors product quality closely and considers action which  
may be required to provide substitute products or suppliers if required

People risks
RISK: Failure to recruit, train and retain successful entrepreneurs for our 
leased pubs, talented managers for our managed pubs and high calibre 
people for our support teams could impact the ability to deliver the 
Group’s strategic and operational objectives. 

>  The Group provides industry leading induction, training and coaching 
programmes on all sides of the business

>  We actively support performance development and succession planning 
across the Group to ensure we retain high calibre people
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Business and Enterprise Committee
RISK: The report published by the Business and Enterprise Committee and 
subsequent Office of Fair Trading investigation into the tied pub model 
could significantly affect the nature of the tie agreement and operating 
strategy.   

>  We are conducting a thorough review of our internal processes to ensure we 
have sustainable, transparent relationships with our Partners 

>  We are actively participating in the inquiry and mediation process and are 
fully cooperating with the Government, MPs and key stakeholders to further 
evolve the leased business model 

Health and safety
RISK: A health and safety accident could lead to serious injury to one of 
our guests, employees or visitors and could impact the Group’s reputation. 

>  The Group aims to comply with all relevant health and safety legislation  
and has a formal documented and briefed health and safety policy

>  A health and safety Committee meets on a regular basis to consider all 
aspects of health and safety across the Group and to report to the Board  
of Directors on the status of health and safety

>  The Group has a policy of carrying out health and safety, fire safety  
and food safety audits within the managed estate

Litigation
RISK: The Group may be subject to legal or regulatory proceedings in 
relation to our guests, suppliers, employees or regulatory authorities.  
The risk arising from this litigation is likely to be immaterial in value 
however it could impact on the Group’s reputation.

>  The Group has in house and external specialists who help ensure we  
comply with all areas of legislation 

>  Where possible regulatory issues are highlighted, we work closely with  
local authorities to help manage the risk of litigation

Licensing 
RISK: Changes in licensing laws, such as those implemented in 2005  
and the recent amendments to Scottish licensing laws, are significant 
legislative requirements for the Group. 

>  The Group is committed to ensuring that our properties meet all required 
licensing and other property regulatory requirements

>  A formal due diligence process is in place to ensure that properties are 
compliant with necessary licensing requirements

>  The Group works closely with local Licensing Boards, where appropriate,  
to ensure all licensing requirements are met and any changes are closely 
monitored 

>  Full change processes are implemented to ensure that any large scale 
amendments to our licenses following changes in legislation are 
implemented efficiently 
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Business review

Financial review

Results for the year
The financial review comprised the 52 weeks to 22 August 2009 
and is compared in the financial statements to the 53 weeks to  
23 August 2008. Group results have been impacted by the 
challenging market conditions faced across the sector. 

Summary consolidated income statement before exceptional items:

  2009 2008
  £m £m % change

Revenue  1,441.0 1,560.6 (8)%
Operating costs  (928.9) (940.3)
Share of post-tax profit  
from joint venture  2.3 3.1 
EBITDA  514.4 623.4 (17)%
Depreciation and amortisation (62.3) (62.5) 
Operating profit  452.1 560.9  (19)%
Net finance costs  (291.7) (299.0) 
Profit on asset sales  – 0.4 
Profit before taxation  160.4 262.3  (39)%
Tax   (47.0) (76.3) 
Net earnings   113.4 186.0  (39)%

Basic EPS  36.1p 69.9p  (48)%

The Group operates in two business segments: Punch Partnerships, 
a leased estate and Punch Pub Company, a managed estate.  
The results of both business segments have been impacted by  
the strategic disposal programme, reduced consumer spending  
and upward cost pressures.

Pub numbers have reduced as the Group has focused on  
generating cash flow and strengthening the balance sheet  
through the disposal of underperforming or non core assets.
 
  Punch  Punch
Pub numbers  Partnerships Pub Company Total

August 2008  7,560 864 8,424
– Lease conversions  21 (21) –
– Disposals  (740) (60) (800)
– Lease reversions  – 52 52

August 2009  6,841 835 7,676

– Net change  (10)% (3)% (9)%

Average estate size  
– August 2009  7,426 871 8,297

Average estate size  
– August 2008  7,572 870 8,442

The Group has focused  
on generating cash 
flow and strengthening 
the balance sheet.

Phil Dutton
Finance Director
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Operational highlights were as follows:

Leased estate 
More than doubled the level of financial support to Partners  •	
to £1.6m per month 
Established a Turnaround Division for c.1,250 pubs to provide •	
better organisational support 
Actively churned the estate with 740 disposals in the year•	
Number of closed pubs maintained at below 4% of the  •	
total estate 

Managed estate
Strengthened our value proposition•	
Rolled out our new Operational Excellence programme•	
Increased pub repairs by 18% in the year, improving the  •	
guest environment
Completed £42m of capital investments in the year•	

 

£354m
net proceeds from  
placing and open offer  
of new shares.

         % change  % change
       Leased average Managed average
       estate per pub1 estate per pub1

Average pub numbers     7,426  871 
Year end pub numbers     6,841  835 

           £m  £m 

Revenue 
Drink         521.3 (6)% 379.6 (2)%
Rent          223.0 (8)% – –
Food         – – 257.9 (2)%
Machine income & other         25.2 (16)% 34.0 (11)%
Total revenue         769.5 (7)% 671.5 (3)%
Gross margin    
Drink         245.3 (9)% 285.3 (3)%
Rent          222.4 (8)% – –
Food         – – 157.8 (6)%
Machine income & other         25.2 (16)% 33.9 (7)%
Total gross margin         492.9 (9)% 477.0 (4)%
Rent payable         (13.9) 5% (37.5) (3)%
Managed pub running costs         –  (306.7) 3%
Other costs         (67.2) 18% (32.5) (3)%
EBITDA         411.8 (13)% 100.3 (22)%

1  Throughout this document, like-for-like measures and profit per pub figures are shown before exceptional items and the period to 23 August 2008 is shown  
on an equivalent 52 week basis.

Disposals and lease reversions
During the year we disposed of 800 pubs of which the majority 
were underperforming and non core pubs, generating proceeds of 
£414m. The difficult trading environment resulted in 52 leasehold 
pubs reverting to Punch Pub Company during the year, of which 
37 have since resumed trading.

Financing costs
Net underlying financing costs decreased by 2% to £292m in  
the year, principally due to the repayment of £708m of debt, 
£698m of which was ahead of schedule. The weighted average 
interest rate for Group loans and borrowings, including the  
effect of interest rate swaps, at the balance sheet date was  
6.9%, or 6.8% on an equivalent UK GAAP basis.

Taxation
The underlying tax charge of £47m represents an effective  
tax rate of 29%; the equivalent rate for the previous year was  
29% (having been restated to include the impact of indexation 
allowance credits within exceptional items). Reported cash tax 
continues to differ from the tax charge in the income statement 
due to a combination of refunds received in respect of prior 
periods and the utilisation of brought forward tax losses.  
As a result, cash tax in the year amounted to a net receipt  
of £8m as compared with a £21m receipt in 2008.
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Business review

Financial review
continued

Exceptional items
In order to provide a trend measure of underlying performance, 
profit is presented excluding items which we consider will distort 
comparability, whether due to their significant non-recurring  
nature or as a result of specific accounting treatments.

Exceptional operating costs primarily relate to £663m impairment 
losses recognised due to the further weakening in the UK 
consumer environment and the general pub market since  
August 2008. The £483m impairment recognised within the  
Punch Partnerships division is primarily due to the identification  
of further pubs considered unlikely to generate long term 
sustainable growth following the change in the consumer 
environment impacting the long term expectations for these  
pubs. These pubs are likely to be sold or converted for alternative 
use within the next few years and have been written down to  
their fair value less costs to sell. The £483m charge also includes 
impairments recognised on pubs where their expected future cash 
flows have fallen to a level such that their value-in-use is below 
carrying value.

The £180m impairment recognised in the Punch Pub Company 
division is primarily due to the reduction in profits experienced in 
the current financial period, being brought about by the change  
in the consumer environment impacting the trading for these pubs. 
The impairment has been recognised on pubs where the expected 
future cash flows have fallen to a level such that their value-in-use 
is below carrying value.

Accounting standards require that where the value-in-use of 
individual pubs falls below their carrying value, then this reduction 
is charged to the income statement. Uplifts in value are only 
reflected in the financial statements to the extent that they reverse 
a previous impairment charge. Included within the impairment 
charge for the year are reversals on impairment losses previously 
recognised of £50m for Punch Partnerships and £46m for Punch 
Pub Company. The impairment reversals are primarily due to the 
identification of pubs where expected future cash flows have risen 
to a level such that value-in-use is now above carrying value.

In addition to the pub impairment charge, the Group made  
a loss on disposal amounting to £32.3m, the majority relating to  
a goodwill disposal of £28m, £18m of which relates to Punch 
Partnerships and £10m to Punch Pub Company, representing the 
apportioned value of goodwill allocated to those pubs disposed  
of in the year. 

Whilst there is no goodwill impairment in the year, goodwill  
has been reduced by £24m following the recognition of tax  
assets in the year of which the Group has recently become aware. 
The tax assets relate to the acquired Spirit business and as they 
were in existence at the point at which the Group acquired the 
Spirit business, the goodwill on acquisition has been adjusted  
in accordance with IFRS 3.

Also included within exceptional operating costs is £29m of 
additional provision for onerous leases, largely relating to the  
52 lease reversions in the year, and £8m for redundancy and 
reorganisation costs following the simplification of our 
organisational structure. 

£1.6m

£708m of gross debt 
was repaid in the year, 
£698m of which  
was ahead of schedule,  
at a cost of £473m. 

doubled monthly leve
l of  

financial support to P
artners  

within the leased e
state.
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Capital structure
At 22 August 2009 the share price was 103p compared with  
284p at the start of the financial year, and at the year end date  
the market capitalisation of the Group was £662m.

On 3 July 2009 we successfully completed a placing and open  
offer of 375m new shares at 100p per share, raising net proceeds  
of £354m. During the year, 0.7m new shares were issued on the 
exercise of share based awards, for £nil cash proceeds.

Net debt
The nominal value of net debt decreased by £1,066m, 24% in the 
year to £3,465m.

Net borrowings at the year end comprise:

   22 August  23 August
   2009 2008
   £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents  678.6 321.2

Debt  
Secured loans   (3,941.9) (4,567.0)
Convertible loans   (201.7) (284.9)

Nominal value of gross debt  (4,143.6) (4,851.9)

Nominal value of net debt  (3,465.0) (4,530.7)

Since the year end we have further reduced the level of gross debt 
through repurchasing £148m of convertible bonds and a further 
£145m of securitised loans.

Pensions
The Group operates three defined benefit pension schemes, all  
of which are closed to new entrants. Movements in equity markets 
and corporate bond yields in the year have resulted in a net pension 
liability of £60m at the year end, compared to a net asset of £5m 
reported in the previous year.

Accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared under IFRS as  
adopted by the EU. New standards and interpretations issued by  
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), 
becoming effective during the year, have not had a material impact 
on the Group’s financial statements.

The Group has benefited from opportunities to purchase portions 
of its debt at prices below par, resulting in an exceptional net  
credit of £246m being recognised in the year. In addition, there 
was an exceptional financing charge of £55m, which arose from 
the movement in the fair value of interest rate swaps which do  
not quality for hedge accounting. Whilst the interest rate swaps  
are considered to be effective in matching the amortising profile  
of existing floating rate borrowings, they either did not meet the 
definition of an effective hedge due to the relative size of the 
mark-to-market difference of the swaps at the date of acquisition 
or there have been changes to expected future maturity profiles.

The tax effect of the above items, together with the finalisation  
of prior year tax matters with HMRC, the impact of indexation 
allowances on the inherent property gains and the recognition of 
capital losses had the net effect of a £276m tax credit in the year.

Earnings per share
Adjusted basic earnings per share fell by 48% to 36.1p, compared 
with 69.9p in 2008. 

Adjusted diluted earnings per share of 36.1p was 48% lower than 
last year.

The basic reported loss per share of 56.1p was impacted by the 
exceptional charges in the year, as detailed above. 

Dividends
The Board is not proposing to recommend a final dividend for 
2009. We continue to consider it prudent to retain cash and 
further strengthen the balance sheet ahead of returning cash  
to shareholders.

Capital expenditure and cash flow
We have focused on delivering strong cash flows with £357m  
cash generated in the year. There was a net inflow of cash before 
financing activities of £794m, including £414m proceeds from 
property disposals. These strong operational and investing  
cash flows, together with the £354m net proceeds raised  
from the placing and open offer, have enabled the Group  
to take opportunities available to repay £708m of gross debt, 
£698m of which was ahead of schedule, at a cost of £473m. 

Investment spend has reduced to £93m in the year reflecting  
a more focused capital expenditure programme.
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Board of Directors
Governance

01 03 0402

05 06

01 Giles Thorley – Chief Executive
Giles Thorley, 42, was appointed Chief Executive of Punch in 
January 2003, having joined Punch as Executive Chairman in 
December 2001. After qualifying as a Barrister, his early career  
was at Nomura International plc. He successfully led the IPO  
of Punch in May 2002 and has seen the business through the 
subsequent acquisitions including Pubmaster in 2003 and Spirit 
Group in 2006. Giles is also Non-executive Chairman of Tragus  
Ltd, a Non-executive Director of Tui Travel plc and a trustee  
of the Rona Trust.

02 Phil Dutton – Finance Director
Phil Dutton, 48, was appointed Finance Director in September 
2007 after previously holding the position of Non-executive 
Director of Punch. Phil was Finance Director of Matalan plc  
where he had been since 2002. Prior to this he had worked  
in various finance and IT roles at Asda, joining them in 1990.  
Phil is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants  
in England and Wales.

03 Mike Tye – Managing Director Punch Pub Company
Mike Tye, 55, was appointed to the Executive Board of Punch  
in July 2008. Mike has spent nearly 20 years working in many 
different areas of the leisure business, mainly with Whitbread, 
Forte and Aramark. In recent years, he has been Managing 
Director of Costa Coffee; Managing Director of Premier Travel Inn 
(where he led the acquisition and integration of Premier Lodge  
to Travel Inn); and David Lloyd Leisure, where he led the business 
turnaround and sale of the company. He has spent a number of 
years working in the pub and casual dining markets, after an early 
career in managing FMCG brands and running his own wine and 
spirit retail and wholesale business.

04 Roger Whiteside – Managing Director Punch Partnerships
Roger Whiteside, 51, was appointed to the Executive Board  
of Punch in November 2008 as Managing Director of Punch 
Partnerships. Roger has approaching 30 years experience in Retail, 
notably with Marks & Spencer plc (1979 to 2000), Ocado and 
Thresher. Roger has considerable experience in leadership roles 
having sat on the Marks & Spencer UK Operating Board as Head  
of Food and he was Joint Managing Director at Ocado from  
2000 to 2003. Most recently, Roger joined the Thresher Group 
where he was CEO from 2004 until 2007 during which time  
he led the strategic review that culminated in the restructuring  
and subsequent successful sale of Thresher. In addition, Roger  
is a Non-executive Director of Greggs plc.

05 Peter Cawdron – Independent Non-executive Chairman
Peter Cawdron, 66, was appointed Non-executive Chairman in 
January 2007, having joined Punch as a Non-executive Director  
in May 2003. He retired from the Board of Grand Metropolitan plc 
in 1997, where he had held the position of Group Strategy Director 
for 10 years and Group Planning Director for four years. Previously, 
he had spent six years in the United States as Chief Financial Officer 
of D’Arcy MacManus & Masius Worldwide, Inc., the international 
advertising agency business based in New York and seven years  
at S.G.Warburg & Co. Ltd in London. He qualified as a Chartered 
Accountant in 1966 at Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co. He is also 
Chairman of Spice plc and a Non-executive Director of ProStrakan 
plc, Johnston Press plc and BUPA.

06 Fritz Ternofsky – Senior Independent Non-executive Director 
Fritz Ternofsky, 65, was appointed Senior Independent Non- 
executive Director of Punch in May 2002. He was previously  
a member of the board of Compass from 1993 to 2000, also 
serving as Chief Executive for UK and Scandinavia from 1993  
to 1999. He is currently Chairman of Albion Income & Growth  
VCT plc, Kew Green Hotels and Wates Group, a privately owned 
construction company.
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07 Ian Fraser – Independent Non-executive Director
Ian Fraser, 52, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive 
Director in September 2004. He started his professional career 
with Deloitte in Glasgow and Paris, qualifying as an accountant  
in 1981. From this he moved to hold various financial positions 
with Esmark, Schlumberger and ADT before joining Safeway Stores 
in the UK in 1989 as a member of the commercial team. Following 
several senior positions Ian was appointed as Buying Director  
of Safeway in 1994. In 2000 he joined Orange UK to lead the 
Retail and Distribution Division and was appointed Chief Operating 
Officer of the UK group in 2003. In February 2005 he was 
appointed by CVC as CEO of Kwik Fit, a role he continues 
following the successful sale to PAI. Ian is a graduate of The 
University of Glasgow, a member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Scotland and a Fellow of the Royal Society for  
the encouragement of Arts, Manufactures and Commerce.

08 Mike Foster – Independent Non-executive Director
Mike Foster, 64, was appointed Independent Non-executive 
Director of Punch with effect from May 2002. Prior to his 
appointment he was Chief Executive of Inntrepreneur Estates from 
1995 until 1998, Chief Executive of Courage Ltd from 1987 until 
1995, Chairman of Leisure Link Ltd from 1998 until its sale in 2001, 
Chairman of the British Beer & Pub Association from 1998 until 
2001 and Non-executive Director of Geest from 1993 until 1999. 
He currently has two other Non-executive Directorships: Roxton 
Bailey Robinson Ltd and Innserve Ltd.

09 Mark Pain – Independent Non-executive Director
Mark Pain, 48, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive 
Director in December 2007. He brings with him a wealth of 
experience as a FTSE 100 main board director covering a range  
of sectors including property, media, housebuilding, retail and 
wholesale banking, consumer and business finance, and life 
assurance. Mark served as Chief Financial Officer of Barratt 
Developments plc from 2006 to 2009. He was previously at  
Abbey National Group plc, where he held a number of senior 
management roles from 1989 to 2005, including Group Finance 
Director from 1998 to 2001 and Customer Sales Director from 
2002 to 2005. Mark is a Non-executive Director of Johnston Press 
plc, where he chairs the Audit Committee and is a Non-executive 
Director of LSL Property Services plc, where he chairs the 
Remuneration Committee. Mark is also a trustee of Somerset House. 
Mark is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants (FCA).

10 Tony Rice – Independent Non-executive Director
Tony Rice, 57, was appointed Independent Non-executive Director 
in December 2007 and brings with him many years’ experience  
at board level with some of the UK’s leading companies. He spent 
16 years with BAE Systems (formerly British Aerospace) where he 
had various roles from 1986 to 2002, culminating in the role of 
Group Managing Director of Commercial Aircraft responsible for 
the UK Airbus and commercial aircraft business. He then spent 
three years at Tunstall plc as Chief Executive from 2002 until its  
sale to Bridgepoint in 2005. Tony is Chief Executive Officer of 
Cable & Wireless International, where he is responsible for the 
international business consisting of 38 telecoms companies in 
various locations around the world. Tony was also a Non-executive 
Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee at Cable & Wireless 
from 2003 to 2006 and at Telewest from 2000 to 2003. 

11 Ian Wilson – Independent Non-executive Director
Ian Wilson, 51, was appointed Independent Non-executive  
Director in December 2007 and has over 20 years’ experience  
as a corporate lawyer and investment banker. Ian was an Elected 
Partner at Baker & McKenzie’s Sydney office in 1986 where he 
specialised in corporate finance and taxation. From there he had  
14 years at UBS Australasia, initially as Executive Director Private 
Equity from 1986-1993 before moving on to become Deputy 
Chairman and Managing Director in UBS Australia / NZ Corporate 
Finance operations from 1993-2000. Ian is currently Strategic 
Development Director of Amcor Ltd, the Australian based  
leading global speciality plastics packaging company, where he  
has been responsible for overall strategic development of the 
Group since 2000. He has also been Chairman of Amcor Flexibles 
Europe A/S since 2002 and Chairman of TMF-Group BV, the 
Amsterdam based administrative services outsourcing business, 
from 2005-2008 and currently Managing Director of TMF Group  
Holdco B.V.
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Senior management
Governance

01 Neil Preston – Company Secretary 
Neil Preston, 49, is responsible for ensuring that the company 
meets all its legal and regulatory requirements as a plc. He is  
a Fellow of the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants  
and has held various roles within Punch, including Finance Director  
of Punch Group and Punch Retail (now known as Punch Pub 
Company). Prior to this, he worked for Allied Domecq and started 
in the industry in 1986.
 
02 Neil Griffiths – Property & Development Director 
Neil Griffiths, 48, was appointed Property & Development Director 
with effect from June 2005 and is responsible for the strategic 
development of the estate maximising profitability through 
acquisition, disposal, investment, rental growth and alternative  
use development. Neil joined Punch in 2001 and has been 
responsible for building the Group’s industry leading transactional 
team. Neil was previously with Warner Brothers where he was 
International Property Director responsible for pan European 
multiplex cinema development. Prior to that, Neil held senior 
positions with Bass plc including Head of Property and he was  
a board member of Bass Leisure Entertainments as Commercial 
Development Director.

03 Karen Caddick – Group Director of Human Resources
Karen Caddick, 40, joined Punch in October 2006 and leads  
the HR function across the Group. Karen started her career with 
Royal & Sun Alliance in 1993 and performed several HR roles 
including Head of HR for More Th>n. Karen then moved to 
Barclays as Head of Employee Relations & HR Policy. She also led 
the HR functions at Channel Five Broadcasting and The Financial 
Times prior to joining Punch. Karen is a Graduate of the Chartered 
Insurance Institute and a Fellow of The Institute of Personnel  
& Development.

01 0302
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The Directors present their annual report to shareholders on the 
affairs of the Group and the Company together with the audited 
financial statements for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009.

Certain information required for disclosure in this report is provided 
in other appropriate sections of the full Annual Report and  
Financial Statements 2009. These include the Business review,  
the Corporate governance and Remuneration reports, and the 
Group financial statements and these are, accordingly, incorporated 
into this Directors’ report by reference.

Results and dividends
The results of the Group for the period are set out in the 
Consolidated income statement on page 52. As announced on  
14 October 2009 the Directors will not be proposing the payment 
of a final dividend. 

Equity raise
During the year the Company raised £375 million through the issue 
of 375,000,000 new ordinary shares under a Firm Placing and 
Placing and Open Offer which was approved by shareholders at  
the General Meeting on 3 July 2009. Joint bookrunners entered 
into arrangements to conditionally place 187,500,000 Firm Placing 
shares at a price of 100 pence per Firm Placing share. Qualifying 
shareholders were then invited to apply to acquire Open Offer 
shares at a price of 100 pence per Open Offer share on the basis  
of 7.0203 Open Offer shares for every 10 existing ordinary shares 
held. Any Open Offer shares not taken up by the qualifying 
shareholders in the Open Offer were then subscribed for by 
shareholders who had subscribed for the Firm Placing shares.

Principal activity and review of the business
The Group’s main trading activities are the operation of public 
houses under either the leased model or as directly managed by 
the Group. The leased model involves the granting of leases to 
tenants who operate the pub as their own business, paying rent  
to the Group, purchasing beer and other drinks from the Group 
and entering into profit sharing arrangements for income from 
leisure machines. Pubs that are directly managed involve the 
employment of a manager to operate each managed pub and the 
Group receives all revenues generated by the pub and is responsible 
for costs.

A review of the year’s activities and future developments, and 
information on the risks and uncertainties faced by the Group,  
are included in the Business review. The management of business 
risk is set out in the Corporate governance and Risk statements. 
Key performance indicators (KPIs) are shown on page 1.

Directors and their interests
The current Directors of the Company are listed on pages 28 to 29. 

During the year the following changes in directorate took place: 
Deborah Kemp left the Board on 21 October 2008 and Jonathan 
Paveley left the Board on 29 January 2009. Roger Whiteside was 
appointed to the Board on 3 November 2008.

There are no special provisions contained in any of the Directors’ 
contracts for loss of office beyond normal contractual obligations; 
further details of Directors’ contracts are contained within the  
Report on Directors’ Remuneration on pages 38 to 50 of this report.

The procedure for the appointment, replacement and reelection  
of Directors and the role of the Nominations Committee is  
disclosed in the Corporate governance statement on pages 34 to 
37 of this report.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Peter 
Cawdron, Mike Foster and Ian Fraser will retire by rotation and  
offer themselves for reelection at the Company’s Annual General 
Meeting (AGM) to be held on 16 December 2009. 

The beneficial interests of Directors, who held office at 22 August 
2009, in the share capital of the Company are shown below.

  At At At
  13 October 22 August 23 August
  2009 2009 2008
  Ordinary  Ordinary Ordinary
  shares shares shares

Peter Cawdron  29,018 29,018 4,850
Giles Thorley  502,217 502,217 293,784
Phil Dutton  52,633 52,633 30,000
Mike Tye  25,885 25,885 –
Roger Whiteside  25,885 25,885 –
Fritz Ternofsky  21,050 21,050 6,337
Mike Foster  7,276 7,276 4,275
Ian Fraser  29,177 29,177 –
Mark Pain  29,177 29,177 –
Ian Wilson  60,422 60,422 35,500
Tony Rice  503,016 503,016 16,364

None of the Directors have any other interests in the shares  
or other securities of the Company or of any other company in  
the Group.

A statement of the Directors’ remuneration and their interest in 
share options of the Company is set out in the Report on Directors’ 
remuneration on pages 38 to 50.

Directors’ conflicts of interests
During the year, the Board has continued to review the interests  
of the directors and their connected persons and has authorised 
any interests which conflicted or potentially conflicted with the 
interests of the Company. The Nominations Committee will 
continue to conduct periodic reviews of conflict authorisations to 
determine whether the authorisation given should continue, be 
added to or be revoked by the Board.

Directors’ report
Governance
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Governance

Directors’ report
continued

Directors’ indemnity
In terms of section 236 of the Companies Act 2006, the Group 
maintains liability insurance for its Directors and officers.  
On 26 February 2006 a subsidiary company within the Group;  
Punch Taverns (PGE) Limited granted indemnity cover for the 
benefit of the Group’s Directors and officers. The indemnity is 
uncapped in amount, in relation to certain losses and liabilities  
which they may incur to third parties in the course of acting as  
a Director or officer of the Group and was in effect during the 
financial year and continues to date. Neither the indemnity nor 
insurance cover provides cover in the event that a Director or officer 
is proved to have acted fraudulently or dishonestly.

Substantial shareholdings
As at 13 October 2009, being the last business day prior to the 
publication of this report, the Company has been notified of the 
following substantial interests (representing 3% or more) in the 
ordinary shares of the Company.

    Shareholding made up of:
      Contracts Total 
   Total Ordinary Convertible for return 
Shareholder holding shares bond difference swaps

Glenview Capital  
Management 8.00% 1.76% 0.40% – 5.84%
D. E. Shaw 7.02% 1.86% – 5.15% –
Credit Suisse 6.14% 6.08% 0.06% – –
Standard Life  5.95% 5.95% – – –
GLG Partners LP 5.01% 2.75% – 2.26% –
Glenhill Capital  
Management 4.91% 4.91% – – –
Maverick Capital 4.87% 3.53% – – 1.34%
Norges Bank 4.18% 4.18% – – –
Deutsche Bank 3.99% 3.99% – – –
Legal & General 3.97% 3.97% – – –
David Einhorn /  
Greenlight 3.72% 3.72% – – –
Barclays plc 3.45% 3.45% – – –

Political and charitable contributions
During the year the Group made charitable contributions of  
£19,392 (2008: £12,100). A percentage of which went to the  
BEN; the Benevolent Society of the Licensed Trade of Scotland,  
and the Licensed Trade Charity both of which help and care for 
former and current members of the licensed trade financially and  
in other ways as much as is practicable. During the year the Group 
also made a payment of £30,000 to The Punch Community Spirit  
Project for onward contributions to charities and various good 
causes. Further details of The Punch Community Spirit Project can 
be found in the earlier section of this report. The Group made  
no political contributions during the year.

Disabled employees
The Group is committed to promoting diversity across the Group.  
To this end, the Group is committed to providing equal 
opportunities in recruitment, promotion, career development, 
training and reward to all employees without discrimination.  

The Group gives full consideration to applications for employment 
from disabled persons where the requirements of the job can be 
adequately fulfilled by handicapped or disabled persons. The Group 
continues to be supportive of the employment of disabled persons 
in accordance with their abilities and aptitudes, provided that they 
can be employed in a safe working environment. Where existing 
employees become disabled, it is the Group’s policy wherever 
practicable to provide continuing employment under normal terms 
and conditions.

The environment
The Group regards compliance with relevant environmental laws 
and the adoption of responsible standards as integral to its business 
operation. It is also committed to introducing measures to limit  
any adverse effects its business may have on the environment and 
will promote continuous improvement in accordance with best 
available techniques.

Employee involvement
The total number of employees at the end of the period was 
17,625. The Group recognises the value of its employees and  
seeks to create an energetic, dynamic and responsive environment 
in which to work. It places considerable importance on 
communications with employees which take place at many levels 
through the organisation on both a formal and informal level.

Employees are encouraged to own shares in the Company and  
the Group operates an HMRC Approved Share Incentive Plan  
(SIP), in which 757 employees in total participate. Employees 
purchase shares either as a one-off amount or on a monthly basis 
(Partnership shares). These are then held in trust for a period of 
three years at which point the Company matches the total number 
of shares purchased on a 1:1 basis (Matching shares). After  
a period of five years (i.e. a further two years) the Matching shares 
are released to the employee free of tax and National Insurance.

Creditor payment policy and practice
It is the Group’s policy that payments to suppliers are made in 
accordance with those terms and conditions agreed between  
the company and its suppliers, provided that all trading terms  
and conditions have been complied with. At 22 August 2009  
the Company had nil (2008: nil) days purchases outstanding  
in trade creditors.

Financial instruments
The Group’s policy on the use of financial instruments is set out  
in note 22 to the financial statements.

Significant agreements
The Company is a party to £275m 5.0% convertible bonds which 
contain a provision whereby, upon a change of control event, 
holders of the convertible bonds may exchange or redeem their 
bonds at a pre-determined exchange price as set out in the bond 
documentation. Further details of the convertible bonds can be 
found on page 21 of this report.

The Company is also party to certain non-material agreements 
(including trust deeds relating to the Company’s employee share 
incentive plans) that do contain change of control provisions in the 
event of the takeover of the Company but these are not considered 
to be significant on an individual basis. 
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are beneficially owned by employees, attract voting rights and are 
eligible for dividends. The voting rights in respect of these shares 
are exercised by the trustees of behalf of the employees. The 
Company also operates a Deferred Share Bonus Plan (DSB) for 
certain senior employees. When applicable, 25% of the senior 
employees’ bonus is awarded in shares (Bonus Shares) which are 
held in a General Trust for a qualifying period and attract full 
dividend and voting rights which are exercisable by the employees 
should they wish. In the event of an offer being made to acquire 
the Partnership or Bonus Shares, employees are entitled to direct 
the trustees to accept an offer in respect of the shares held on  
their behalf.

The Company is not aware of any agreements between 
shareholders that may result in restrictions on the transfer of 
securities or on voting rights. In addition, there are no people 
holding securities that carry special rights with regard to control  
of the Company.

The Company’s Articles of Association may be amended by special 
resolution at a general meeting of shareholders. At the forthcoming 
AGM, a special resolution will be put to the shareholders proposing 
further amendments to the existing Articles of Association in  
order to take account of the coming into force of The Companies 
(Shareholders’ Rights) Regulations 2009 and the implementation 
on 1 October 2009 of the last parts of the Companies Act 2006. 

Post balance sheet events
Subsequent to the year end the Group has repurchased £292.9m  
of the nominal value of outstanding debt. Further details of  
these transactions are contained within note 35 to the financial 
statements.

Directors’ statement as to disclosure of information  
to auditors
The Directors confirm that, so far as they are aware, there is no 
relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware  
and that each Director has taken all reasonable steps to make 
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the auditors are aware of that information. 

Auditors
A resolution to reappoint Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s 
auditors will be put to the forthcoming AGM.

Going concern
The Directors consider that the Group and the Company have 
adequate resources to remain in operation for the foreseeable 
future and have therefore continued to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparation of the financial statements. Full details of  
this can be found in the capital structure section of the operating 
review.

By order of the Board of Directors

Neil Preston
Company Secretary
13 October 2009

Additional information for shareholders
In accordance with the EU Takeovers Directive as implemented  
into UK law, the following provides the required information for 
shareholders where not already provided elsewhere in this report. 

At 22 August 2009, the Company’s issued share capital comprised 
a single class of shares known as ordinary shares. The share capital 
disclosures in note 25 to the accounts contain full details of shares 
allotted or purchased during the year and an explanation of 
movements in share capital during the year. 

In a general meeting of the Company on a show of hands every 
member who is present in person and proxy entitled to vote shall 
have one vote. On a poll every member who is present in person 
and proxy shall have one vote for every share of which he is the 
holder. A shareholder may appoint more than one proxy in relation 
to their holdings provided that each proxy does not vote in relation 
to the same shares. The AGM notice gives full details of deadlines 
for exercising voting rights and appointing a proxy or proxies to 
vote in relation to resolutions to be considered at the meeting.

The Company obtained shareholder authority at the last AGM  
to buy back up to 26,661,883 shares (representing approximately 
10% of the Company’s ordinary shares in issue as at 28 November 
2008). The authority will only be exercised by the Directors after 
giving due consideration to the effects on earnings per share  
and the benefits for shareholders generally and will expire at the 
conclusion of the next AGM where new authority to buy back  
up to 64,236,955 shares (representing approximately 10% of the 
Company’s ordinary shares in issue as at the date of the AGM 
notice) will be sought. 

Authority will also be sought at the forthcoming AGM for  
Directors to allot up to 214,123,183 shares in the Company 
representing approximately one third of the Company’s ordinary 
shares in issue as at the date of the AGM notice. This will replace 
the authority granted by shareholders at the Company’s General 
Meeting held on 3 July 2009. The Board will also seek authority to 
disapply pre-emption rights over 32,118,478 shares (representing 
approximately 5% of the Company’s ordinary shares in issue as at 
the date of the AGM notice). 

Further details of the above resolutions are contained within the 
Notice of Meeting sent to shareholders with this report.

There are no restrictions on transfer of shares in the Company 
other than those which may from time to time be applicable  
under existing laws and regulations (for example under the Market 
Abuse Directive). 

In addition, pursuant to the Listing Rules of the Financial  
Services Authority, Directors and persons discharging managerial 
responsibility (PDMRs) of the Company require prior approval  
from the Company to deal in the Company’s securities, and are 
prohibited from dealing during close periods.

The Company operates various share schemes which involve 
employee ownership of Company securities. The Punch Taverns 
Share Incentive Plan (SIP) involves the use of an Employee Benefit 
Trust, into which employee purchased shares (Partnership Shares) 
are held on Trust for a qualifying period. During this time the shares 
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Attendance at meetings
The attendance by individual Directors at meetings of the Board 
and its Committees during the past year was as follows:

   Committee meeting

Director Board meetings Audit Remuneration Nominations

Number of meetings  11 4 4 3
Giles Thorley 11   
Roger Whiteside1 8   
Jonathan Paveley2 5   
Fritz Ternofsky 9 4 4 
Peter Cawdron5 11  2 3
Mike Foster 9  4 3
Ian Fraser4 11 4  1
Phil Dutton  11   
Deborah Kemp3  1   
Mark Pain  10 4  
Tony Rice5 10  2 
Ian Wilson4  9   2
Mike Tye  11   

1  Roger Whiteside was appointed to the Board on 3 November 2008 and 
therefore attended all meetings possible.

2   Jonathan Paveley left the Board on 29 January 2009 and therefore attended  
all meetings possible.

3  Deborah Kemp left the Board on 21 October 2008.
4  During the year, Ian Fraser resigned from the Nominations Committee and  

Ian Wilson was appointed. Both therefore attended all meetings possible.
5  During the year, Peter Cawdron resigned from the Remuneration Committee 

and Tony Rice was appointed. Both therefore attended all meetings possible. 
 
What are the responsibilities of the Chairman  
and Chief Executive?
There is a clear division of responsibility between the Chairman  
and Chief Executive which has been formally documented and 
approved by the Board. 

The Chairman is responsible for:

leadership of the Board, ensuring its effectiveness and setting  •	
its agenda; 
ensuring, through the Company Secretary, that the members  •	
of the Board receive clear, accurate and timely information; 
arranging the regular evaluation of the performance of the •	
Board, its Committees and individual Directors; and
facilitating the effective contribution of Non-executive Directors •	
and ensuring constructive relations between Executive and 
Non-executive Directors.

Corporate governance statement
Governance

The Company is committed to high standards of corporate 
governance, for which the Board is responsible to the Company’s 
shareholders. The Company has complied throughout the financial 
year ended 22 August 2009 with all of the Code provisions set out 
in the 2008 Combined Code on Corporate Governance and the 
corporate governance provisions of the 2008 Company Reporting 
Directive (FSA Disclosure and Transparency Rules Sections 7.1 and 
7.2). The disclosure required by the Takeover Directive is included in 
the Directors Report, on page 33 as permitted by section 7.2.9 of 
the Disclosure and Transparency Rules. The terms of reference for 
all Board committees and the statement of corporate governance 
are available on the Company’s website at www.punchtaverns.com.

What are the responsibilities of the Board of Directors?
The Board is responsible for setting the Company’s strategic aims 
and ensures that necessary resources are in place in order for the 
Company to meet its objectives. All members of the Board take 
collective responsibility for the performance of the Company and all 
decisions are taken objectively and in the interest of the Company.

The Board is responsible for satisfying itself as to the integrity of 
financial information and the effectiveness of the Company’s 
system of internal control and risk management processes and is 
responsible for ensuring that the Company’s obligations to its 
shareholders are met.

Whilst the Board has delegated the normal operational 
management of the Company to the Executive Directors and  
other senior management, it has established guidelines requiring 
specific matters to be subject to decision by the full Board of 
Directors, including material acquisitions and disposals, investments 
and capital projects. The Non-executive Directors have a particular 
responsibility to challenge constructively the strategy proposed  
by the Chief Executive and Executive Directors; to scrutinise and 
challenge performance; to satisfy themselves on the integrity  
of financial information and that financial controls are robust  
and defensible; and to ensure that appropriate remuneration  
and succession planning arrangements are in place in relation  
to the Executive Directors and other senior members of the 
management team. 

How frequently are Board meetings held?
At least ten Board meetings are scheduled during the year and 
additional meetings are convened to consider matters that are 
time-critical. The attendance records of individual Directors can  
be found in the following table. The Chairman ensures that, at 
least annually, the Non-executive Directors meet without the 
Executive Directors present. In addition, the Non-executive Directors 
meet at least annually without the Chairman being present. 
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What is the role of the Company Secretary?
The Company Secretary acts as secretary to the Board and its 
Committees.

The Directors, each of whom has received appropriate training, 
have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary 
who is responsible for advising the Board, through the Chairman, 
on all governance matters. 

The Company Secretary is also responsible for ensuring that board 
procedures are followed, that applicable rules and regulations are 
complied with and that there are good information flows within 
the Board, its Committees and between the Non-executive 
Directors and senior management.

The Company Secretary facilitates the induction and professional 
development of Board members. 

How is the performance of the Board evaluated?
During the year the Board undertook a formal evaluation of its  
own performance and that of its committees and individual 
Directors. The Board considered that the best means of effectively 
undertaking this process was a combination of self and peer 
assessment. This process was led by the Chairman except in 
relation to his own performance as Chairman, which was led by 
the Senior Independent Non-executive Director. The results of the 
review were discussed by the Board and an appropriate action  
plan was agreed.

What are the Company’s main internal controls?
The Board is responsible for the Company’s systems of internal 
control and risk management and for reviewing the effectiveness  
of those systems in order to safeguard shareholders interests, 
company assets and ensure robust financial reporting processes  
are in place. Such systems are designed to manage rather than 
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the Company’s strategic 
objectives. It should be recognised that such systems can only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss. The Combined Code requires the Directors  
to review the effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal 
controls. This relates to all controls, covering financial, operational, 
compliance and risk management matters.

The Chief Executive is responsible for:

developing strategic operating plans;•	
preparing annual budgets and medium term projections for  •	
the Company and closely monitoring performance against  
plans and budgets; 
ensuring effective communication with shareholders; and •	
overseeing the day-to-day management of the Company.•	

How is the Board structured to ensure that no individual  
or small group of individuals can dominate the Board’s 
decision making?
The Board is considered to be of sufficient size such that the 
balance of skills and experience is appropriate to the size of the 
business. Excluding the Chairman, at least half of the Board 
comprises Non-executive Directors determined by the Board to  
be independent in character and judgement and to have no 
relationships or circumstances that are likely to affect, or could 
appear to affect, their judgement as Directors of the Company.  
The Board has reviewed the provisions in the Combined Code  
and has concluded that, under the definitions used, all six of the 
current Non-executive Directors are independent. 

The Board has appointed Fritz Ternofsky as its Senior Independent 
Non-executive Director and, on appointment, the Chairman was 
considered by the Board to meet all of the independence criteria  
set out in the Combined Code.

How are Directors appointed to the Board?
The Company has a formal, rigorous and transparent procedure  
for the appointment of new directors which is based on merit and 
against objective criteria. The Nominations Committee leads the 
process for Board appointments and for succession planning and 
makes recommendations to the Board. New directors stand for 
election at the AGM following their appointment. Every Director  
is required to retire by rotation, and may stand for reelection  
if nominated by the Nominations Committee, at least every  
third year. 

The terms and conditions of appointment of Non-executive 
Directors are available for inspection at the Company’s registered 
office during normal business hours. 

Membership of Board committees is reviewed on a regular basis  
to ensure that members are refreshed and that undue reliance  
is not placed on certain individuals.

What information is provided to the Board?
To enable the Board to discharge its duties, all Directors are given 
appropriate documentation in advance of each Board meeting.  
This normally includes a detailed report on current trading and  
full papers on matters where the Board will be required to make  
a decision or give its approval.
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The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control during the year, and has considered any 
material developments which have taken place since the year end. 
The review was carried out through the monitoring process set  
out above. In the opinion of the Board, the review did not indicate 
that the internal control system was ineffective or unsatisfactory.

What is the role of the Audit Committee?
The Audit Committee is made up of Ian Fraser (Chairman), Fritz 
Ternofsky and Mark Pain and meets at least four times each year. 
Senior management, including the Finance Director, and internal 
and external auditors are invited to attend for part or all of each 
meeting. The internal and external auditors have unrestricted 
access to the Audit Committee and its Chairman, and the Head  
of Risk Assurance meets at least annually with the Chairman 
without the presence of management. All of the members of the 
Audit Committee are independent Non-executive Directors and  
at least one meets the requirement of the Combined Code for 
recent relevant financial experience.

The Audit Committee monitors and reviews matters relating to the 
effectiveness of internal controls, the financial reporting process, 
the scope and results of internal audit, the statutory audit of the 
annual consolidated financial statements, the Company’s risk 
management systems, and the independence and objectivity  
of the auditors.
 
The Audit Committee has primary responsibility for making a 
recommendation on the appointment or reappointment of the 
external auditors. The Audit Committee has conducted a desktop 
review during the financial year to consider the independence  
and objectivity of the external auditors as well as an evaluation of 
their performance. In order to maintain the independence of the 
external auditors, the Board has determined a policy detailing  
what non-audit services can be provided by the Company’s external 
auditors. Under this policy, work of a consultancy nature is not 
offered to the external auditors unless there are clear efficiencies 
and value-added benefits to the Company. The Audit Committee 
monitors the level of non-audit fees paid to the external auditors. 

During the year and to the date of this report, the work of the 
Audit Committee has included consideration of the following 
matters:

the financial statements in the 2008 and 2009 Annual Reports •	
and Financial Statements and the interim report issued in April 
2009. As part of this review, the Committee received reports 
from the external auditors in relation to the 2008 and 2009 final 
audits and the 2009 interim review;
the independence and objectivity of the external auditors;•	
the recommendation of the reappointment of Ernst & Young LLP •	
as the external auditors and the approval of the 2009 external 
audit plan and fee proposal;
the evaluation of the performance of the external auditors;•	
the progress of the internal audit programme and matters arising •	
and the effectiveness and workload of the internal audit 
department and the adequacy of available resource;
the maintenance of an effective system of internal financial •	
control; and
the Company’s whistle blowing procedures including updates  •	
of any whistle blowing or fraud incidents which may occur.

The Company has ongoing processes for identifying, evaluating 
and managing the significant risks of the Group in the form of  
a risk management framework (Company Risk Register) which  
is reviewed and updated by the Board regularly as required. The 
processes are in accordance with the guidance of the Turnbull 
Committee and have been in place for the whole of the financial 
year and up to the date of this report. 

The key procedures which the Directors have established with  
a view to providing effective internal control are as follows:

regular Board meetings to consider a schedule of matters •	
reserved for Directors’ consideration;
an annual review of corporate strategy, which includes a review •	
of risks facing the business;
a risk management framework (Company Risk Register) which •	
identifies the key risks facing the business and how these risks 
are monitored and managed on an ongoing basis;
an established organisational structure with clearly defined lines •	
of responsibility and delegation of authority;
a review procedure for organisational restructuring following •	
Company acquisitions;
documented and enforced policies and procedures;•	
appointment of staff of the necessary calibre to fulfil their •	
allotted responsibilities;
comprehensive budgets and forecasts, approved by the Board, •	
reviewed and revised on a regular basis, with performance 
monitored against them and explanations obtained for  
material variances;
a detailed investment approval process, requiring Board approval •	
for major projects. Post investment appraisals are conducted  
and are reviewed by the Board;
an Audit Committee of the Board, comprising independent •	
Non-executive Directors, which considers significant financial 
control matters as appropriate;
an internal audit function which performs continuous •	
assessments of the quality and effectiveness of risk management 
and internal control;
regular reporting by the Audit Committee to the Board of •	
Directors regarding internal audit and control updates;
documented fraud and whistle blowing policies and procedures •	
and regular review of current whistle blowing regulations;
reporting by the Audit Committee to the Board of Directors  •	
of any changes to accounting policies and of any accounting  
and legal developments;
a regular review of treasury policies and activities by the •	
Audit Committee; •	
an established programme of management and staff •	
development and succession planning; and
a formal financial reporting process for preparation of the •	
consolidated accounts.

Corporate governance statement
continued
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How does the Company communicate with shareholders?
Communications with shareholders are given high priority and the 
Company aims to provide as much information as is commercially 
sensible to both existing and potential investors, recognising that 
transparency is the best way to develop understanding of the 
Company’s strategy, performance and growth potential. The 
Company encourages two-way communication with both its 
institutional and private shareholders and responds quickly to all 
enquiries. There is a regular dialogue with institutional shareholders 
as well as presentations after the Company’s preliminary 
announcement of the year end results and after announcement  
of its interim results.

The Board uses the Annual General Meetings to communicate with 
private and institutional investors and welcomes their participation. 
The Chairman aims to ensure that the Chairmen of the Audit, 
Remuneration and Nominations Committees and the Senior 
Independent Non-executive Director are available at the AGM and 
are available to answer relevant questions. All members of the 
Board are available to meet with major shareholders if requested. 
The Chairman also writes to the top 20 major shareholders on an 
annual basis inviting them to correspond with the Non-executive 
Directors if they so wish.

What is the role of the Nominations Committee?
The Nominations Committee is made up of Mike Foster 
(Chairman), Peter Cawdron and Ian Wilson and meetings are held 
as deemed necessary by the Chairman of the Committee. The 
majority of the Nominations Committee members are independent 
Non-executive Directors.

The Nominations Committee considers all matters relating to the 
structure, size and composition of the Board and makes necessary 
recommendations to the Board with regard to adjustments and 
new appointments where deemed necessary. The Committee 
considers the mix of skills and experiences that the Board requires 
and seeks the appointment of directors to meet its assessment of 
what is required to ensure that the Board is effective in discharging 
its responsibilities.

What is the role of the Remuneration Committee?
The Remuneration Committee is made up of Fritz Ternofsky 
(Chairman), Tony Rice and Mike Foster and meets at least twice  
a year and at such other times as the Chairman of the Committee 
deems necessary. All of the members of the Remuneration 
Committee are independent Non-executive Directors. The Chief 
Executive and other Directors may be invited to attend meetings  
as considered appropriate by the Remuneration Committee. 

The Remuneration Committee will consider all material elements  
of the remuneration policy to ensure that remuneration is sufficient 
to attract, retain and motivate Executive Directors and senior 
management of the quality required to manage the Company 
successfully. This is performed with reference to independent 
remuneration research and professional advice, which is provided 
by Hewitt New Bridge Street in accordance with the Combined 
Code. The Remuneration Committee will recommend to the Board 
the framework for the remuneration packages of individual 
Executive Directors. The Board is then responsible for implementing 
the recommendations although no Director is involved in deciding 
their own remuneration nor is any Director allowed to vote on  
their own terms and conditions. The Remuneration Committee  
is responsible for preparation of the Report on Directors’ 
remuneration which forms part of this Annual Report and can be 
found on pages 38 to 50.
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Opening statement from the Chairman of the Board Remuneration Committee (the ‘Committee’)
The Committee’s role is to govern Executive Directors’ remuneration and to ensure that the Group’s reward strategy helps to drive 
business performance and shareholder value. All the Committee members are independent Non-executive Directors, or in the case  
of Peter Cawdron, who served for part of the year on the Committee and is Chairman of the Board was considered independent on  
his appointment to that position. 

The Committee is committed to clear disclosure of Directors’ remuneration to shareholders, this report details the individual remuneration  
of Board Directors and explains the principles and policies that the Committee has applied.

The following points provide important context for the Report on Director’s remuneration:

The remuneration policies are designed to ensure that a majority of the total reward package is dependent on business performance. •	
This is clearly reflected in the remuneration for Executive Directors in 2009.
Financial results and the Company’s share price performance have had a marked effect on remuneration:•	

 – For a second consecutive year, there were no base salary increases for Executive Directors;
 –  The long term incentive awards scheduled to vest in November 2009 have not met their performance conditions and have  

therefore lapsed;
 –  For the 2008 / 2009 financial year, annual bonuses were limited to a maximum of 11.5% of base salary for Executive Directors. This  

level of payment recognises that whilst financial targets set in summer 2008 were not achieved, due to market conditions that are 
explained elsewhere in this report, Executive Directors exceeded expectations in particular areas of responsibility that contributed  
to the overall results of the Company in the year. It is also worth noting that for the 2007 / 2008 year no annual bonuses were paid  
to Executive Directors.

The Committee strongly believes that shareholders interests are best served by ensuring that overall compensation levels remain •	
competitive, and at a level that aids motivation and retention of key high calibre individuals, even during times when Company 
profitability is falling.

The Committee unanimously recommends that shareholders vote to approve the Report on Directors’ remuneration.

On behalf of the Board

Fritz Ternofsky
Remuneration Committee Chairman
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Introduction
This report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts  
and Reports) Regulations 2008 (the ‘Regulations’). The report also meets the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules of the Financial 
Services Authority, and describes how the Board has complied with the provisions of the Combined Code (the ‘Code’) relating to 
remuneration matters.

The report is divided into two parts. The first part contains the commentary on remuneration policy, which is not required to be audited.  
The second part contains the remuneration tables that have been audited in accordance with the relevant statutory requirements.

Unaudited information
The Remuneration Committee
The Committee members, who served for all or part of the year, are:

Fritz Ternofsky (Chairman)
Peter Cawdron (member until 4 November 2008)
Mike Foster
Tony Rice (replaced Peter Cawdron with effect from 4 November 2008)

They are all independent, Non-executive Directors, or in the case of Peter Cawdron, was independent on his appointment as Chairman  
of the Company. The Committee members have no personal financial interest, other than as shareholders, in the matters to be decided, 
and there are no potential conflicts of interest arising from cross-directorships and no day-to-day involvement in running the business.  
The Committee determines the remuneration packages of Executive Directors and any changes to their service contracts, as well as the 
remuneration of other senior executives. The Committee also governs any annual bonus plans, long term incentives and employee share 
plans. The Committee’s terms of reference are available on the Company’s website.

Advisers to the Committee
The Committee received independent remuneration advice from Hewitt New Bridge Street, part of Hewitt Associates Ltd. This independent 
adviser was appointed by the Committee and is accountable to it. Hewitt Associates also provides consulting advice to the Group in respect 
of its Spirit pension schemes and actuarial, investment and other advice to the trustee of the two Spirit pension schemes. The Committee 
does not believe that the independence of its adviser is compromised by these other appointments. Computershare provides administration 
services connected to the Group’s Executive and all-employee share plans. The Committee also consults with the Chief Executive, the 
Company Secretary and Group Director of Human Resources. However, no executive is permitted to participate in discussions or decisions 
about their personal remuneration. 

The Committee met four times during the course of the year.

Remuneration policy
The Committee’s reward policy is designed to help drive business performance and maximise shareholder value. It is based on the  
following principles:

that remuneration should be viewed holistically (Total Reward), taking account of all reward elements;•	
that Total Reward should be set at a market competitive level to retain and recruit people of the required talent and experience;•	
that the package should be structured so that most of Total Reward is dependent on performance;•	
that Total Reward costs should be monitored and controlled; and•	
that Total Reward should support the creation of shareholder value.•	

Remuneration is benchmarked against two relevant comparator groups:

Comparator group 1    Comparator group 2

UK pub, restaurant and hospitality sector    UK companies of similar size and complexity to 
companies (examples provided below)   Punch Taverns in other relevant sectors 

Enterprise Inns plc
Mitchells & Butlers plc
JD Wetherspoon plc
Whitbread plc
Greene King plc
Marstons plc
Restaurant Group plc
Luminar plc
Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc 
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The table below summarises, for 2008 / 2009, each element of the Punch Taverns Total Reward policy for Executive Directors, and its  
key features:

Component Size Market position Purpose Delivery Other key features 

Base salary Varies by role  
and individual.

No increases for 
Executive Directors 
in 2007 / 2008  
or 2008 / 2009.

In a range from 
lower quartile  
to median.

To recognise the 
market value of 
the employee  
and the role.

Cash.•	
Monthly.•	
Pensionable.•	

Reviewed •	
annually.

Annual 
performance  
bonus plan 

Maximum of 
150% of base 
salary.

Bonuses up to 
11.5% of base 
salary paid for 
2008 / 2009.

No bonuses for 
Executive Directors 
in 2007 / 2008.

Upper quartile 
opportunity.

To drive and 
reward annual 
performance of 
individuals, teams 
and the Group.

One third shares, •	
two-thirds cash,  
or other such mix 
as the Committee 
determines.
Annual.•	
Non-pensionable.•	

Based on annual •	
performance: 
Total amount 
payable depends 
upon a 
combination of 
Group and 
individual 
performance. 
Higher levels of 
Group 
performance 
enable higher 
levels of overall 
payment subject 
to individual 
performance.

Long term  
incentive plan

Maximum award 
level of 200% of 
base salary (face 
value of shares).

None vested for 
Executive Directors 
following the  
end of the  
2008 / 2009 year.

Upper quartile 
opportunity.

To drive and 
reward sustained 
performance of 
the Group and  
to align the 
employee’s 
interests with 
those of 
shareholders.

Shares subject  •	
to performance 
conditions.
Annual awards •	
vesting after  
three years.
Non-pensionable.•	

Performance •	
condition for 
awards in  
2008 / 2009  
was Total 
Shareholder 
Return, against 
two peer 
groups.

Pension For 2008 / 2009, 
between 12% 
and 12.25% of 
base salary. 

Increasing to 20% 
and 25% (Chief 
Executive) over 
the next two 
years. Half of the 
increase will be 
made from 
August 2009 and 
the remaining half 
from August 
2010. 

Median. To provide  
a market 
competitive level 
of contribution  
to pension.

Defined •	
contribution.
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The pie chart below shows the relative proportions of package components for the 2008 / 2009 year. Pay at risk (annual bonus  
and long term incentive) constitutes three-quarters of the package.

The relative proportions of package components

Elements of remuneration
Base salary
Policy: lower quartile to median range
The table below shows the current base salaries of each current Executive Director. It should be noted that there have been no salary 
increases for Executive Directors in each of the past two years.
 
Name Position       2009 / 2010

Giles Thorley Chief Executive       £525,000
Phil Dutton  Finance Director      £350,000
Mike Tye  Managing Director – Punch Pub Company     £400,000
Roger Whiteside  Managing Director – Punch Partnerships     £400,000

Annual bonus
Policy: maximum bonus to be upper quartile
The performance conditions for the Executive Directors were structured as follows:

Key performance area        Weighting

Group financial performance        50%
Performance of individual’s own business area or function  
(for the Chief Executive this is the Group as a whole); and their overall personal contribution to the business  50%

The maximum annual bonus is 150% of base salary. The bonus opportunity is targeted at the upper quartile level, whilst base salary  •	
is targeted in a range of lower quartile to median.
The maximum bonus of 150% of base salary is only payable if individual and Group performance are both above target.•	
The Committee may award a portion of the annual bonus in shares which must be retained for at least two years, and there will be no •	
matching opportunity on these shares.
The Committee awarded a cash bonus of up to 11.5% of base salary to the Executive Directors for the 2008 / 2009 performance year.  •	
This was awarded for exceeding specific performance objectives in areas of disposals, certain operational targets and debt reduction.

n Base salary and pension contribution 25%
n Annual bonus (max) 32%
n Long term incentive (max) 43%
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Long term incentives
Policy: maximum long term incentive should be upper quartile, for upper quartile performance

Punch Taverns plc Long Term Incentive Plan 2008
Awards made during the 2008 / 2009 financial year under this LTIP have the following features:

performance shares;•	
dependent on Total Shareholder Return (TSR) performance;•	
maximum award size is 200% of base salary (face value); and•	
performance and vesting periods are normally three years.•	

There are two TSR peer groups, each relating to 50% of the award: a sector peer group and a broad peer group. One measures the  
TSR of Punch Taverns plc relative to a peer group of 27 companies in the UK pub, hospitality and retail sectors. The other measures  
TSR relative to a peer group of 39 UK companies from a variety of sectors in the same band of market capitalisation as Punch Taverns plc.  
These performance conditions were selected by the Committee as they are important measures of the comparative value delivered  
to shareholders.

The base TSR and end TSR are averaged over a three month period to smooth the effect of unusual price movements. The table below 
shows the vesting scale:

TSR vesting scale
Punch Taverns plc ranking against  
Comparator group at the end of the performance period       Percentage vesting 

Upper quartile1        100%2

Median1        25%2

Ranked lower than median        0%

1  Median is defined as rank 14 of 28 in the pub, hospitality and retail peer group and rank 20 of 40 in the multi-sector peer group. Upper quartile is defined  
as rank 7 of 28 in the first group and rank 10 of 40 in the second group. 

2 Straight line vesting scale between these points.

The Committee has the discretion not to allow vesting of either or both elements of any LTIP award, if, in its opinion, either the Group’s 
underlying financial performance or TSR (or both) has been unsatisfactory during the Performance Period. There is no retesting of 
performance; in the event that performance conditions are not met, awards lapse.

Grants made to Executive Directors during the 2008 / 2009 year under this LTIP are shown in the table below:
        Face value 
       Face value  at grant
     Percentage  at grant (at upper 
     of salary  Number (at median quartile 
Name Position  awarded of shares performance) performance) 

Giles Thorley Chief Executive  200% 631,578 £262,500 £1,049,998
Phil Dutton Finance Director  200% 421,052 £175,000 £699,999
Mike Tye Managing Director – Punch Pub Company 200% 481,203 £200,000 £800,000
Roger Whiteside Managing Director – Punch Partnerships  200% 481,203 £200,000 £800,000

It is the intention of the Remuneration Committee to make further awards during the 2009 / 2010 financial year under the 2008 LTIP using 
performance conditions that are robust and testing, whilst taking account of prevailing industry and market conditions.

Spirit Value Growth Plan (SVGP)
As reported previously, a specific long term incentive plan was approved by the Committee for Mike Tye, Managing Director – Punch Pub 
Company in June 2008. This was implemented in accordance with Listing Rule 9.4.2, to facilitate the recruitment and retention of an 
individual Director. The SVGP is intended to provide a direct alignment between the performance of the Punch Pub Company business  
and the remuneration of Mike Tye, to assist in driving the performance of this business and its value to shareholders.
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The SVGP has the following main features:

limited to one individual Executive Director;•	
linked to the value growth of the Punch Pub Company business, as determined by an independent valuation, and valued  •	
as an OpCo, whereby the Punch Pub Company pubs are deemed to be leased from a separate entity;
the initial measurement period is the three financial years from August 2008;•	
payment from the plan is 7.5% of the amount of value growth above a hurdle;•	
the hurdle is 6% compound annual growth per annum; and •	
payments from the Plan are in non-pensionable cash and are phased: 60% after the August 2011 year end, and the remaining  •	
40% after the August 2012 year end.

Punch Taverns plc Share Bonus Plan
This Plan was approved by shareholders in January 2008, to replace the earlier Deferred Share Bonus Plan. The new Plan enables the 
Remuneration Committee to award part or all of any annual bonus in the form of the Company’s shares, which the recipient is not 
permitted to sell during a restricted period (normally two years). Executive Directors have not received any awards under this Plan in  
respect of 2008 / 2009.

Dilution
In accordance with shareholder guidelines, the Committee applies a limit on the amount of shares than can be issued to satisfy all its 
employee share plan awards of 10% of the Company’s issued share capital in any rolling ten year period. Of this 10%, only 5% can be 
issued to satisfy awards under the discretionary plans that apply to executives and senior managers only. The current position against  
these limits is shown below. It should be noted that the figures below exclude 1.32% of dilution relating to options granted prior  
to the Company’s flotation in May 2002 and therefore not subject to the ABI guidelines.

        Additional dilution during  
        the 2008 / 2009 financial year 
Limit      Current dilution level (included in the previous column)

10% in ten years     1.45% 0.87%
5% in ten years     1.27% 0.75%

Shareholding requirement
The Committee requires that all individuals who participate in the Group’s LTIP satisfy a minimum shareholding requirement. Targets are  
set to encourage Directors to retain shares received from share incentive schemes. The table below shows the shareholding requirement  
for Executive Directors, and their current personal shareholding:
        Shareholding   Current actual
        requirement  To be shareholding
Name Position     % of base salary achieved by  (% of base salary)

Giles Thorley Chief Executive    200% August 2009 99%
Phil Dutton Finance Director    150% August 2012 15%
Mike Tye Managing Director – Punch Pub Company  150% August 2013 6%
Roger Whiteside Managing Director – Punch Partnerships   150% August 2013 6%

The original target date set in 2004 for achieving shareholding targets was 2009, but for those Directors who have recently joined the  
Board a period of five years has been set. It should be noted that Giles Thorley has not disposed of any shares in the Company since  
24 July 2006, at which date his remaining shareholding represented 337% of his then salary. 

Consequently the Committee has determined that the target has been achieved and he will continue to be eligible for award providing  
that to the extent previous awards vest then sufficient shares are retained to bring the shareholding back to 200% of his then current salary.

It should also be noted that Giles Thorley acquired an additional 206,851 shares for cash in July 2009 which are reflected in the figures above.

Pension
Policy: median
None of the Executive Directors is accruing benefits under a defined benefit pension plan. Executive Directors are entitled to receive  
a defined contribution to pension from the Group of between 12% and 12.25% of base salary. The Committee has decided to bring this 
level of contribution more in line with market levels for Executive Directors and it has decided to introduce this change in stages over the 
next two years. For the 2009 / 2010 year, the level of Group contribution will increase to 18% of base salary for the Chief Executive and  
16% of base salary for other Executive Directors. For the 2010 / 2011 year, these contribution rates will increase to 25% and 20% respectively. 
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Benefits
Policy: consistent with general market practice
The Group’s policy is to provide Executive Directors with a market competitive level of benefits, including company car or car allowance, 
private medical insurance, lump sum life insurance for death-in-service, and income protection insurance for long term disability.

Total compensation
Policy: upper quartile (but with at least two-thirds of total compensation subject to performance)
The Committee’s policy is that Executive Directors should have the opportunity to earn upper quartile total compensation for upper  
quartile performance. The table below shows total compensation opportunity for the Company’s current Executive Directors and the  
total actual compensation earned:
          2008 / 2009 
         Total  Total
         compensation  compensation
Name Position       opportunity1 earned2

Giles Thorley  Chief Executive     £1,680,000 £681,000
Phil Dutton  Finance Director     £940,000 £465,000
Mike Tye  Managing Director – Punch Pub Company    £1,030,000 £503,000
Roger Whiteside  Managing Director – Punch Partnerships    £1,030,000 £494,000

1  2008 / 2009 total compensation opportunity is the sum of: base salary, actual bonus, value of LTIP vested following year end, Group pension contribution and  
other benefits.

2  Total compensation earned is calculated using: base salary, target bonus and approximate fair value of LTI awards made, Group pension contribution and  
other benefits.

Other remuneration matters

All employee share arrangements
During 2008 / 2009 the Group operated an HMRC Approved Share Incentive Plan (SIP) which is open to all employees of the Group  
including the Executive Directors. Currently, 757 of eligible employees participate in the SIP which provides employees with the  
opportunity of purchasing £1,500 of shares per annum out of pre-tax salary and the Company awarding additional matching shares on  
a 1:1 ratio. These matching shares will normally be released three years after they have been awarded provided that the associated shares 
purchased by the employee have been retained and provided the employee is still employed by a Group company at this time. The Group 
will continue to operate the SIP for 2009 / 2010.

Directors’ contracts
The policy on termination is that the Group does not make payments beyond its contractual obligations. In addition, Executive Directors  
will be expected to mitigate their loss. The Remuneration Committee ensures that there have been no unjustified payments for failure.  
None of the Executive Directors’ contracts provides for liquidated damages. There are no special provisions contained in any of the  
Executive Directors’ contracts which provide for longer periods of notice on a change of control of the Company. Further, there are  
no special provisions providing for additional compensation on an Executive Director’s cessation of employment with the Group.

          Potential 
         Potential  payment on
      Company    Unexpired term of  termination  change of control/
Executive Directors     notice period  Contract date contract (months)  payment liquidation

Giles Thorley    12 months 17 August 2001 Rolling contract1 12 months’ salary Nil
Phil Dutton    12 months 24 July 2007 Rolling contract1 12 months’ salary Nil
Mike Tye    12 months 26 June 2007 Rolling contract1 12 months’ salary Nil
Roger Whiteside    12 months 5 October 2008 Rolling contract1 12 months’ salary Nil

1 Contract will continue until terminated by notice either by the Company or the Director.
        Company   Unexpired term of
Non-executive Directors       notice period Contract date contract (months)

Peter Cawdron      12 months 18 June 2003 10
Mike Foster      12 months 3 May 2002 10
Ian Fraser      1 month 22 Sept 2004 10
Fritz Ternofsky      12 months 3 May 2002 10
Mark Pain      1 month 8 Nov 2007 12
Tony Rice      1 month 16 Jan 2008 14
Ian Wilson      1 month 16 Jan 2008 14

It should be noted that the fees paid for the services of Mike Foster are paid to a third party.
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Non-executive Directors’ fees
Policy: median level fees
All Non-executive Directors have specific terms of engagement and their remuneration is determined by the Board based upon 
recommendations from the Chairman and Chief Executive (or, in the case of the Chairman, is determined by the Remuneration  
Committee based on recommendations from the Senior Independent Director and the Chief Executive) within the limits set by the  
Articles of Association and based on the median level of fees payable to peers in the same comparator group as that used for  
Executive Directors’ remuneration. Non-executive Directors cannot participate in any of the Group’s share incentive schemes or  
performance based plans and are not eligible to join any of the Group’s pension schemes.

It is the Board’s policy to take into account the following factors in determining the fees of the Non-executive Directors:

the median level of fees for similar positions in the comparator group; and•	
the time commitment each Non-executive Director makes to the Group (through membership of the Audit, Remuneration and •	
Nominations Committees).

The following table sets out the Non-executive fees for 2008 / 2009 and the fees for 2009 / 2010:

         2008 / 2009 2009 / 2010

Basic fee       £42,000 £42,000 
Senior Independent Director       £45,000 £45,000 
Additional fees for chairing the Audit or Remuneration Committee    £10,000 £10,000
Additional fees for chairing the Nominations Committee     £5,000 £5,000

The fee paid to Peter Cawdron, Chairman of the Company, for 2009 / 2010 will be £155,000 p.a. (2008 / 2009: £155,000 p.a.).

Total Shareholder Return performance graph
The graph shows the Company’s performance, measured by Total Shareholder Return (TSR), compared with the FTSE 350 Travel and  
Leisure Index and the FTSE 350 Index. The Remuneration Committee considers these to be relevant indices for TSR comparison as the  
Travel and Leisure Index members represent a range of UK quoted leisure companies, and the FTSE 350 is the index of the 350 largest  
UK listed companies by market capitalisation.

The graph shows the value, at 22 August 2009, of £100 invested in Punch Taverns plc on 21 August 2004, compared with the value  
of £100 invested in the FTSE 350 Travel and Leisure Index and £100 invested in the FTSE 350 Index, for the same period. The other  
points plotted are the values at intervening financial year ends.

The graph shows that at the end of the 2008 / 09 financial year, a hypothetical £100 invested in Punch Taverns plc on 21 August 2004 
would be worth £26, compared with a value of £113 if invested in the FTSE 350 Travel and Leisure Index, and £136 if invested in the  
FTSE 350 Index, for the same period.
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Audited information
The total of Directors’ emoluments in the year was £3,893,000 (2008: £3,622,000), including pension contributions of £213,000  
(2008: £201,000). The remuneration of the Directors at the end of the year, or from the date of their appointment as Directors if they  
were appointed during the year, was as follows: 

Annual remuneration
        Other
   Basic salary    Gain on  payments made to 
   / fees Benefits1 Bonus release of shares Pension former Directors Total
   2009 2008  2009  2008  2009 2008 2009 2008  2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
   £000 £000 £000 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000

Executive Directors        
Giles Thorley 525 525 33 44 60 – – 874 63 63 – – 681 1,506
Phil Dutton 350 330 32 29 40 – – – 43 40 – – 465 399
Mike Tye 400 46 19 1 40 – – – 49 6 – – 508 53
Roger Whiteside2 315 – 11 – 32 – – – 39 – – – 397 –
Non-executive Directors                
Peter Cawdron 155 155 – – – – – – – – – – 155 155
Fritz Ternofsky 55 55 – – – – – – – – – – 55 55
Ian Fraser 52 52 – – – – – – – – – – 52 52
Mike Foster 47 47 – – – – – – – – – – 47 47
Mark Pain 42 33 – – – – – – – – – – 42 33
Ian Wilson 42 29 – – – – – – – – – – 42 29
Tony Rice 42 29 – – – – – – – – – – 42 29
Former Directors               
Randl Shure3 – 16 – – – – – – – – – – – 16
Robert McDonald4 – 42 – 4 – – – – – – – – – 46
Andrew Knight5 – 244 – 16 – – – – – 30 2848 – 284 290
Deborah Kemp6 42 212 4 29 – – – 119 5 28 4208 – 471 388
Jonathan Paveley7 116 274 13 31 – – – 185 14 34 5098 – 652 524
Total 2,183 2,089 112 154 172 – – 1,178 213 201 1,213 – 3,893 3,622

1 Benefits include the following elements: health cover, car, fuel, death-in-service benefit and income protection.
2 Appointed 3 November 2008.
3 Resigned 16 January 2008.
4 Resigned 17 October 2007.
5 Left the Board 7 July 2008.
6 Left the Board 21 October 2008.
7 Left the Board 29 January 2009.
8 This includes salary and pension paid from date of cessation as Director to the contract termination date, notice period and compensation for loss of office. 

Pension
Giles Thorley, Phil Dutton, Mike Tye and Roger Whiteside are entitled to receive a Group contribution into their personal pension 
arrangements representing between 12% and 12.25% of their pensionable salary.
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Directors’ interests in the Group’s share plans

Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)
The following table sets out the grants made under the LTIP. Full details of the operation of the LTIP are set out in the first part  
of this report. 
    Value of shares conditionally awarded Value of shares released 

      Number   Percentage    Market price  Number
     Share price  as at  of salary Awarded Lapsed Forfeited at date of Gain as at
Executive Directors Date of  Date of  at date of 28 August  at date during the during the during the release /  on release 22 August
and former Directors award release  grant (£) 2008 £000 of award period period period lapse (£) £000 2009

Giles Thorley 16.11.05 16.11.08 7.67 71,273 547 133 – 71,273 – 1.20 – –
   13.11.06 13.11.09 11.28 79,787 900 200 – – – – – 79,787
   22.01.08 22.01.11 5.71 183,727 1,050 200 – – – – – 183,727
   10.11.08 10.11.11 1.66 – 1,048 200 631,578 – – – – 631,578
Total     334,787              895,092
Phil Dutton 07.09.07 07.09.10 10.31 33,947 350 100 – – – – – 33,947
   22.01.08 22.01.11 5.71 122,484 700 200 – – – – – 122,484
   10.11.08 10.11.11 1.66 – 700 200 421,052 – – – – 421,052
Total       156,431              577,483
Jonathan Paveley 16.11.05 16.11.08 7.67 24,772 190 100 – 24,772 – 1.20 – –
   13.11.06 13.11.09 11.28 39,007 440 200 – 31,426 7,581 1.08 – –
   22.01.08 22.01.11 5.71 95,888 548 200 – – 54,383 1.08 – 41,505
   10.11.08 10.11.11 1.66 – 547 200 329,624 – 282,965 1.08 – 46,659
Total     159,667              88,164
Mike Tye 07.07.08 07.07.11 2.71 295,202 800 200  –  – – 295,202
   10.11.08 10.11.11 1.66 – 799 200 481,203 –  – – 481,203
Total       295,202              776,405
Deborah Kemp 16.11.05 16.11.08 7.67 7,185 55 44 – 7,185 – 1.20 – –
   13.11.06 13.11.09 11.28 14,978 169 125 – 11,315 3,663 0.38 – –
   22.01.08 22.01.11 5.71 95,888 548 200 – – 65,530 0.38 – 30,358
Total     118,051           30,358
Roger Whiteside 10.11.08 10.11.11 1.66 – 799 200 481,203 –  – – 481,203
Total     –              481,203

Awards made under the LTIP will only be released if the Group’s Total Shareholder Return (TSR) is equal to or greater than the median level  
of performance of the comparator groups over the three year holding period from the date of grant at which point 25% of the award  
will be released. Full release of the award will occur for upper quartile performance with straight line release between the median and  
upper quartile positions. Full details of the performance conditions are contained in the first part of this report.
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Inland Revenue Approved Share Incentive Plan (SIP)
The SIP is the current all employee share plan operated by the Group. The following table sets out the shares purchased and awarded  
under the Plan in respect of the Executive Directors. Full details of the operation of the SIP are set out in the first part of this Report.

     Share price 
     at date of 
     purchase of    Matching  Partnership
     Partnership   Partnership shares Dividend or Dividend Matching Market Gain on
     shares and  Number shares conditionally shares shares shares price at release of Number 
     award of  as at purchased awarded acquired released released date of Matching  as at
Executive Directors Date of Date of  Matching  23 August during the during the during the during the during the release shares 22 August
and former Directors  award release  shares (£) 2008 period  period period period period (£) £000 2009

Giles Thorley 27.01.06 27.01.09 8.97 8 – – – 8 – 0.40 – –
   19.06.06 19.06.09 8.44 356 – – – 178 178 1.03 – –
   30.06.06 30.06.09 8.61 6 – – – 6 – 1.02 – –
   30.01.07 30.01.10 11.45 11 – – – – – – – 11
   15.06.07 15.06.10 13.16 228 – – – – – – – 228
   29.06.07 29.06.10 12.31 5 – – – – – – – 5
   23.01.08 23.01.11 6.37 26 – – – – – – – 26
   27.06.08 27.06.11 3.17 29 – – – – – – – 29
   30.06.08 30.06.11 3.11 966 – – – – – – – 966
   12.12.08 12.12.11 0.60 – 1 1 – – – – – 2
   06.03.09 06.03.12 0.36 – 1 1 – – – – – 2
   26.06.09 26.06.12 1.08 – 1,388 1,388 – – –  –  – 2,776
Total       1,635               4,045
Phil Dutton 24.07.09 24.07.12 0.95 – 1,573 1,573 – – – – – 3,146
Total       –               3,146
Jonathan Paveley 27.01.06 27.01.09 8.97 8 – – – 8 – 0.40 – –
   19.06.06 19.06.09 8.44 356 – – – 178 178 1.03 – –
   30.06.06 30.06.09 8.61 6 – – – 6 – 1.02 – –
   30.01.07 30.01.10 11.45 11 – – – 11 – 1.08 – –
   15.06.07 15.06.10 13.16 228 – – – 114 114 1.08 – –
   29.06.07 29.06.10 12.31 5 – – – 5 – 1.08 – –
   23.01.08 23.01.11 6.37 26 – – – 26 – 1.08 – –
   27.06.08 27.06.11 3.17 29 – – – 29 – 1.08 – –
   30.06.08 30.06.11 3.11 966 – – – 483 483 1.08 – –
   12.12.08 12.12.11 0.60 – 1 1 – 1 1 1.08 – –
   06.03.09 06.03.12 0.36 – 1 1 – 1 1 1.08 – –
Total       1,635        –
Mike Tye 24.07.09 24.07.12 0.95 – 1,573 1,573 – – – – – 3,146
Total       –               3,146
Deborah Kemp 27.01.06 27.01.09 8.97 8 – – – 8 – 0.40 – –
   19.06.06 19.06.09 8.44 356 – – – 178 178 1.03 – –
   30.06.06 30.06.09 8.61 6 – – – 6 – 1.02 – –
   30.01.07 30.01.10 11.45 11 – – – 11 – 0.38 – –
   15.06.07 15.06.10 13.16 228 – – – 114 114 0.38 – –
   29.06.07 29.06.10 12.31 5 – – – 5 – 0.38 – –
   23.01.08 23.01.11 6.37 26 – – – 26 – 0.38 – –
   27.06.08 27.06.11 3.17 29 – – – 29 – 0.38 – –
   30.06.08 30.06.11 3.11 966 – – – 483 483 0.38 – –
   12.12.08 12.12.11 0.60 – 1 1 – 1 1 0.38 – –
Total       1,635               –
Roger Whiteside 24.07.09 24.07.12 0.95 – 1,573 1,573 – – – – – 3,146
Total       –               3,146

Report on Directors’ 
remuneration
continued

Governance
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Deferred Share Bonus Plan 
The following table sets out the awards of Deferred Bonus Shares made under this Plan. 

    Value of shares conditionally awarded Value of shares released 

      Number      Market price  Number
     Share price  as at  Awarded Lapsed Forfeited at date of  Gain as at
Executive Directors Date of  Date of at date of 23 August   during the during the  during the release / on release 22 August
and former Directors award release grant (£) 2008 £000 period period period lapse (£) £000 2009

Giles Thorley 10.11.05 10.11.08 7.46 6,451 48 – 6,451 – 1.70 – –
    13.11.06 13.11.09 11.28 6,815 77 – – – – – 6,815
   12.11.07 12.11.10 9.36 8,966 84 – – – – – 8,966
Total     22,232             15,781 
Jonathan Paveley 10.11.05 10.11.08 7.46 2,895 22 – 2,895 – 1.70 – –
    13.11.06 13.11.09 11.28 2,232 25 – 1,798 434 1.08 – –
   12.11.07 12.11.10 9.36 4,333 41 – 2,051 2,282 1.08 – –
Total     9,460       –
Deborah Kemp 10.11.05 10.11.08 7.46 1,011 8 – 1,011 – 1.70 – –
    13.11.06 13.11.09 11.28 907 10 – 685 222 0.38 – –
   12.11.07 12.11.10 9.36 2,404 23 – 1,017 1,387 0.38 – –
Total     4,322       –

Awards of Deferred Bonus Shares will only be released if the Group’s average EPS before non-recurring and exceptional items (tax 
normalised) growth is equal to or exceeds RPI +5% p.a. over the three year holding period from the date of grant and the associated  
Bonus Shares are retained by the Executive Director over this period.

Discretionary Share Plan
The Discretionary Share Plan is a legacy option scheme. The Company does not currently intend to make any future grants under this  
Plan. The last award under the Plan was made in January 2006.
        Number of  Number of Number of Number of
     Exercise period   options at options at options options
Executive Directors  Date of    Exercise 23 August 22 August already not yet Performance
and former Directors  grant From To price (£) 2008 2009 vested vested condition

Giles Thorley  01.12.01 27.05.02 25.05.12 1.98 1,251,230 1,251,230 1,251,230 – –
    03.12.01 27.05.02 25.05.12 2.05 344,780 344,780 344,780 – –
    05.12.02 05.12.05 05.12.12 1.94 154,639 154,639 154,639 – C1
    02.03.04 02.03.07 01.03.14 5.19 63,355 63,355 63,355 – C2
    17.11.04 17.11.07 17.11.14 5.51 42,470 42,470 42,470 – C3
    16.11.05 16.11.08 16.11.15 7.67 35,637 35,637 35,637 – C3
Total          1,892,111 1,892,111 1,892,111  
Jonathan Paveley  17.11.04 17.11.07 17.11.14 5.51 9,707 9,707 9,707 – C3
    16.11.05 16.11.08 16.11.15 7.67 12,386 12,386 12,386 – C3
Total      22,093 22,093 22,093 
Deborah Kemp  02.03.04 02.03.07 01.03.14 5.19 4,918 4,918 4,918 – C2
    17.11.04 17.11.07 17.11.14 5.51 3,468 3,468 3,468 – C3
    16.11.05 16.11.08 16.11.15 7.67 3,592 3,592 3,592 – C3
Total      11,978 11,978 11,978 
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No options were granted, lapsed or exercised during the period.

Performance conditions for option vesting are shown in the table below:

Reference Condition

C1   Vests if EPS growth is at least RPI +3% p.a.
C2   40% of options vest if EPS growth of RPI +12% p.a., 100% vest if EPS growth of RPI +15% p.a.
C3   40% of options vest if EPS growth of RPI +8% p.a., 100% vest if EPS growth of RPI +12% p.a.

Spirit Value Growth Plan (SVGP)
The Spirit Value Growth Plan is a long term incentive scheme awarded to one individual Executive Director, Mike Tye, in July 2008. The  
SVGP is intended to provide a direct alignment between value growth of the Spirit business and the remuneration of Mike Tye to assist  
in driving the performance of this business and its value to shareholders. Payment of the award, should performance conditions be met,  
is in non-pensionable cash. 

Executive Director Date of award First release date Performance period Potential award

Mike Tye 07.07.08 Beginning of 2011 / 2012  Three full financial years Payment in cash of 7.5% of the amount of value 
    financial year following date of award growth above hurdle rate staggered over  
      two years following year end 2010 / 20111

1 The performance hurdle is 6% compound annual growth per annum. 

The share price at the close of business on 22 August 2009 was £1.03. During the period the highest share price was £3.21 and the  
lowest was £0.29.

This report has been prepared by the Remuneration Committee and has been approved by the Board. It complies with the Companies  
Acts and related regulations. This report will be put to shareholders for approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 
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The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and Financial Statements in accordance with applicable United Kingdom 
law and those International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union. 

The Directors are required to prepare financial statements for each financial period which fairly present the financial position of the 
Company and of the Group and the financial performance and cash flows of the Company and of the Group for that period. In 
preparing those financial statements, the Directors are required to:

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;•	
present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable •	
information; 
provide additional disclosures when compliance with specific requirements in IFRS is insufficient to enable users to understand the •	
impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance; and 
state that the Group has complied with IFRS, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements. •	

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4  
of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Directors’ responsibility statement
The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge:

a)  the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS, as adopted by the European Union, give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and profit of the Company and the Group; and

b)  the management report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Company 
and the Group, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced.

On behalf of the Board

Giles Thorley   Phil Dutton
Chief Executive   Finance Director
13 October 2009   13 October 2009

Statement of Directors’  
responsibilities in relation  
to the financial statements
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Consolidated income statement 
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009

     52 weeks to 22 August 2009 53 weeks to 23 August 20082

     Before Exceptional  Before Exceptional
     exceptional  items  exceptional items
     items (note 6) Total items (note 6) Total
     Notes £m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue  2 1,441.0 – 1,441.0 1,560.6 – 1,560.6
Operating costs before depreciation  
and amortisation   (928.9) (37.4) (966.3) (940.3) (16.7) (957.0)
Share of post-tax profit from joint ventures  2.3 – 2.3 3.1 – 3.1
EBITDA1  2 514.4 (37.4) 477.0 623.4 (16.7) 606.7
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment  (62.3) (687.2) (749.5) (62.5) (294.7) (357.2)
Operating profit / (loss)   3 452.1 (724.6) (272.5) 560.9 (311.4) 249.5
(Loss) / profit on sale of non-current assets  – (32.3) (32.3) 0.4 – 0.4
Finance income  4 10.4 246.0 256.4 18.9 – 18.9
Finance costs  5 (302.1) – (302.1) (317.9) – (317.9)
Movement in fair value of 
interest rate swaps  6 – (55.2) (55.2) – (31.1) (31.1)
Profit / (loss) before taxation   160.4 (566.1) (405.7) 262.3 (342.5) (80.2)
UK income tax (charge) / credit   8 (47.0) 276.3 229.3 (76.3) 91.8 15.5
Profit / (loss) for the financial period 
attributable to equity shareholders  113.4 (289.8) (176.4) 186.0 (250.7) (64.7)
Earnings / (loss) per share   9
Basic (pence)   36.1  (56.1) 69.9  (24.3)
Diluted (pence)   36.1  (56.1) 69.4  (24.2)
Dividend per share paid or proposed 
in respect of the period (pence)  10   –   5.5
Total dividend paid or proposed 
in respect of the period (£m)  10   –   14.6

1  EBITDA represents earnings before depreciation, amortisation and impairment, profit on sale of non-current assets, finance income, finance costs, movement  
in fair value of interest rate swaps and UK income tax.

2  UK income tax (charge) / credit has been restated to better reflect the nature of tax items, as explained in note 6. This has had an impact on earnings per share,  
for which comparatives have been restated (note 9).
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Financial statements

Consolidated statement of  
recognised income and expense
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009
          52 weeks to  53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008
        Notes  £m £m

Income and expense recognised directly in equity:    
Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension schemes     30 (72.6) (20.1)
Losses on cash flow hedges       (91.7) (64.0)
Transfers to the income statement on cash flow hedges     25.3 2.4
Tax (charge) / credit related to indexation on revalued properties    8 (1.6) 8.4
Tax on items taken directly to equity      8 38.9 33.1
Net loss recognised directly in equity       (101.7) (40.2)
Loss attributable to shareholders       (176.4) (64.7)
Total recognised losses for the period attributable to equity shareholders    (278.1) (104.9)
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Consolidated balance sheet
at 22 August 2009

         22 August  23 August
         2009 20081

        Notes  £m £m

Assets    
Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment      11 5,124.3 6,274.7
Operating leases      12 68.0 124.2
Goodwill      12 504.1 556.2
Other intangible assets      12 6.6 7.1
Retirement benefit assets      30 – 11.3
Deferred tax assets      16 144.5 99.6
Investments in joint ventures      33 43.5 41.2
Derivative financial instruments      22 2.7 1.4
         5,893.7 7,115.7
Current assets    
Inventories      17 7.5 8.5
Trade and other receivables      15 83.8 82.8
Current income tax assets       8.2 –
Derivative financial instruments      22 – 1.8
Cash deposits used as security for loan notes     18 – 14.4
Cash and cash equivalents      18 678.6 321.2
         778.1 428.7
Non-current assets classified as held for sale     19 169.6 20.1
Total assets       6,841.4 7,564.5
Liabilities    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables      20 (316.7) (351.4)
Short term borrowings      21 (50.2) (62.7)
Derivative financial instruments      22 (67.7) (7.3) 
Current income tax liabilities       – (5.0)
Provisions       23 (22.3) (13.4)
         (456.9) (439.8)
Non-current liabilities    
Borrowings      21 (4,022.7) (4,681.7)
Convertible bonds      21 (193.5) (264.8)
Derivative financial instruments      22 (231.0) (175.6)
Deferred tax liabilities      16 (165.7) (366.6)
Retirement benefit liabilities      30 (59.5) (6.2)
Provisions       23 (41.7) (35.2)
Other liabilities      24 (1.7) (1.7)
         (4,715.8) (5,531.8)
Total liabilities       (5,172.7) (5,971.6)
Net assets       1,668.7 1,592.9
Shareholders’ equity    
Called up share capital      25 0.3 0.1
Share premium      27 455.0 455.0
Equity component of convertible bonds      28 21.0 30.0
Hedge reserve      28 (105.2) (57.4)
Share based payment reserve      28 8.8 8.7
Retained earnings      27 1,288.8 1,156.5
Total shareholders’ equity        1,668.7 1,592.9

1 Derivative financial instruments at 23 August 2008 have been restated to reflect the repayment profile. There has been no impact on net assets.

On behalf of the Board

Giles Thorley Phil Dutton
13 October 2009   13 October 2009
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009

         52 weeks to  53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008
        Notes  £m  £m

Cash flows from operating activities     
Operating (loss) / profit       (272.5) 249.5
Depreciation and amortisation       62.3 62.5
Impairment and goodwill adjustment       687.2 294.7
Share based payment expense recognised in profit      0.1 2.4
Decrease / (increase) in inventories       1.0 (0.6)
Decrease in trade and other receivables       0.3 19.2
Decrease in trade and other payables       (27.1) (11.9)
Difference between pension contributions paid and amounts recognised in the income statement  (3.4) (13.4)
Increase / (decrease) in provisions and other liabilities      13.7 (12.9)
Share of post-tax profit from joint venture      (2.3) (3.1)
Cash generated from operations       459.3 586.4
Income tax received        7.6 21.4
Net cash from operating activities       466.9 607.8
Cash flows from investing activities     
Purchase of property, plant and equipment     
– acquisitions       – (24.4)
– investments       (91.1) (133.1)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment      397.1 30.2
Proceeds from sale of operating leases       1.7 0.8
Proceeds from sale of other non-current assets      15.3 0.7
Purchase of other intangible assets       (2.0) (3.4)
Proceeds from sale of other investments       – 3.5
Interest received       5.9 13.6
Net cash generated from / (used in) investing activities     326.9 (112.1)
Cash flows from financing activities     
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital     25 353.8 0.3
Repayment of convertible bonds       (65.5) –
Net proceeds on redemption of derivative financial instruments     – 0.6
Repayment of borrowings       (412.0) (74.9)
Repayment of derivative financial instruments      (3.7) –
Interest paid       (314.4) (322.4)
Interest received on bonds held not yet cancelled      0.4 –
Repayments of obligations under finance leases      (2.3) (3.0)
Interest element of finance lease rental payments      (1.2) (1.3)
Costs of terminating financing arrangements      (5.9) –
Decrease in cash deposits used as security for loan notes     14.4 0.3
Dividends paid      10 – (41.8)
Net cash used in financing activities       (436.4) (442.2)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents      357.4 53.5
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period      321.2 267.7
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period      678.6 321.2



Financial statements

www.punchtaverns.com

56

Company balance sheet 
at 22 August 2009

         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008
        Notes  £m £m

Assets    
Non-current assets    
Investments in subsidiary undertakings      14 1,334.8 3,310.4
Receivables      15 1,397.9 1,499.8
         2,732.7 4,810.2
Current assets    
Receivables      15 34.3 29.9
Cash deposits used as security for loan notes     18 – 14.4
Cash and cash equivalents      18 318.6 17.9
         352.9 62.2
Total assets       3,085.6 4,872.4
Liabilities    
Current liabilities    
Other payables      20 (110.0) (47.3)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings      21 – (14.4)
         (110.0) (61.7)
Non-current liabilities    
Other liabilities      24 (1,807.8) (4,015.9)
         (1,807.8) (4,015.9)
Total liabilities       (1,917.8) (4,077.6)
Net assets       1,167.8 794.8
Shareholders’ equity    
Called up share capital      25 0.3 0.1
Share premium      27 455.0 455.0
Share based payment reserve      27 8.8 8.7
Retained earnings      27 703.7 331.0
Total shareholders’ equity        1,167.8 794.8

On behalf of the Board

Giles Thorley Phil Dutton
13 October 2009 13 October 2009



57
Punch Taverns plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2009

Fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

Financial statements

Company statement of  
recognised income and expense
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009
         52 weeks to  53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009  2008
         £m £m

Income and expense recognised directly in equity:   
Loss on cash flow hedges       – (0.1)
Transfers to the income statement on cash flow hedges     – 0.1
Net result recognised directly in equity       – –
Profit attributable to shareholders       19.1 99.5
Total recognised income for the period attributable to equity shareholders   19.1 99.5

Company income statement 
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009
As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company’s income statement has not been included in these financial 
statements. The Company’s profit for the financial year was £19.1m (August 2008: £99.5m).
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Company cash flow statement
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009

         52 weeks to  53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008
        Notes  £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities     
Operating profit / (loss)        1.1 (1.6)
Decrease in receivables       4.9 0.7
Decrease in other payables       (0.5) (4.1)
Cash inflow / (outflow) from operations      5.5 (5.0)
Income tax paid       – –
Net cash flow from operating activities      5.5 (5.0)

Interest received       0.6 –
Net cash generated from investing activities      0.6 –
     
Cash flows from financing activities     
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital     25 353.8 0.3
Repayment of borrowings       (14.4) (43.4)
Interest paid       (1.3) (0.7)
Interest received       0.3 0.7
Decrease in cash deposits used as security for loan notes     14.4 0.3
Intercompany transfers in       1,044.6 156.0
Intercompany transfers out       (1,102.8) (55.0)
Dividends paid      10 – (41.8)
Net cash generated from financing activities      294.6 16.4
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents      300.7 11.4
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period      17.9 6.5
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period      318.6 17.9
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Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009

1 Accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements presented in this document have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the 
European Union. The Company’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union 
and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006. The Company has taken advantage of the exemption 
provided under s408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to publish its individual income statement and related notes.

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of derivative financial 
instruments to fair value, and in accordance with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS  
as adopted by the European Union. New standards and interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)  
and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), becoming effective during the year, have not had a material 
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

The Group and Company financial statements are presented in sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest hundred thousand 
pounds, except where indicated.

New standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards
The IASB and IFRIC have issued the following standards, interpretations and amendments:

Effective for the Group and the Company in these financial statements:
Amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 7: Reclassification of Financial Assets•	
Update to amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 7: Reclassification of Financial Assets•	
IFRIC 12 ‘Service Concession Arrangements’ •	
IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’•	
IFRIC 14 ‘IAS 19 – Defined Benefit Asset and Minimum Funding Requirements’•	
IAS 27R ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’•	

The above new standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards have had no material impact on the results or the 
financial position of the Group or the Company for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009.

Effective for the Group and the Company for the financial period beginning 23 August 2009:
IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’•	
IAS 23 ‘Borrowing Costs’•	
IAS 1 (revised) ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’•	
IFRS 3R ‘Business Combinations’ •	
IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’ and IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Instruments’ Amendments: ‘Puttable Financial •	
Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation’ 
Amendments to IFRS 1 ‘First-time Adoption of IFRS’ and IAS 27 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’•	
Amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Eligible Hedged Items•	
Amendment to IFRS 7: Improved Disclosures about Financial Instruments•	
Amendment to IFRS 2: Vesting Conditions and Cancellations•	
Amendments to IFRIC 9 and IAS 39: Embedded Derivatives•	
IFRIC 15 ‘Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate’•	
IFRIC 16 ‘Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation’•	
IFRIC 17 ‘Distribution of Non-Cash Assets to Owners’•	
IFRIC 18 ‘Transfers of Assets from Customers’•	

Effective for the Group and the Company for future years:
Amendment to IFRS 2: Group Cash-Settled Share Based Payment Transactions – effective from 1 January 2010•	

The amendment to published standards that has an effective date of after these financial statements has not been adopted early by the 
Group and the Directors do not anticipate that the adoption of this amendment will have a material impact on the Group’s reported 
income or net assets in the period of adoption. 

Basis of consolidation
Consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the parent company (Punch Taverns plc) and all of its subsidiaries. 

The Group’s interests in its joint ventures are incorporated in the financial statements using the equity method of accounting.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated from the date  
on which control is transferred out of the Group. Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment in value in the 
financial statements of the Company. Investments in joint ventures are carried at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share 
of accumulated profits, less distributions received and less any impairment in value.

All intra-group balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in full. 
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
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1 Accounting policies continued

Goodwill
Goodwill on acquisition is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the fair value of the 
Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost  
less any accumulated impairment losses. Where assets are transferred between segments or disposed, the goodwill attributable to these 
assets is also transferred or charged to the income statement respectively.

Goodwill carried in the balance sheet is not amortised. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events  
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 

If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary 
acquired, the gain is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Operating leases and other intangible assets
Operating leases and other intangible assets are capitalised at cost. Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Operating leases
Over the term of the lease

Software 
3 to 10 years

Payments made on entering into or acquiring operating leases are accounted for as intangible assets and amortised over the lease term 
on a straight-line basis.

Property, plant and equipment
Properties held at 22 August 2004, the date of transition to IFRS, were revalued at that date and this revaluation is the deemed cost 
under IFRS.

Landlord’s fixtures and fittings include removable items, which are generally regarded as within landlord ownership. These are  
depreciated in accordance with the policy detailed below.

Property, plant and equipment assets are carried at cost or deemed cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment  
in value. Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment, less estimated residual values, by equal annual 
instalments as follows:

Licensed properties, unlicensed properties and owner-occupied properties
50 years or the life of the lease if shorter

Landlord’s fixtures and fittings, office furniture and fittings and motor vehicles
5 to 15 years

Information technology equipment
3 years

Freehold land is not depreciated.

An annual assessment of residual values is performed and there is no depreciable amount if residual values are the same as, or more  
than, book value. Residual values are based on the estimated amount that would be currently obtainable from disposal of the asset  
net of disposal costs if the asset were already of the age and condition expected at the end of its useful life.

Impairment 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment or more often if events  
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Assets that are subject to depreciation or 
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. A review for indicators of impairment is performed annually. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the 
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. Any impairment charge is recognised in the income statement in the year in which it occurs. When an impairment loss, other  
than an impairment loss on goodwill, subsequently reverses due to a change in the original estimate, the carrying amount of the asset  
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, up to the carrying amount that would have resulted, net of depreciation, 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009
continued

1 Accounting policies continued

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic resources as a result  
of past events.

Provisions are measured at management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance  
sheet date. Provisions are discounted if the effect of the time value of money is material. The discount rate used to determine the  
present value reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

Borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs associated with  
the borrowings. 

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method. Amortised cost is calculated taking account of any issue costs, and any discounts or premiums on settlement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised, as well as through the amortisation 
process.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the fair value of the proceeds, net of direct issue costs.

Convertible bonds
On issue, the debt and equity components of convertible bonds are separated and recorded at fair value net of issue costs. The fair value 
of the debt component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible debt. This amount is classified  
as a liability and measured on an amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or maturity of the bonds. The remainder of the 
proceeds is allocated to the conversion option and is recognised in equity, net of income tax effects. The carrying amount of the equity 
component is not remeasured in subsequent years.

On early repurchase of the convertible bond, the consideration paid is allocated to the liability and equity components at the date  
of transaction. The liability component at the date of transaction is determined using the prevailing market interest rate for similar 
non-convertible debt at the date of the transaction, with the equity component as the residual of the consideration paid and the liability 
component at the date of transaction. The difference between the consideration paid for the repurchase allocated to the liability 
component and the carrying amount of the liability at that date is recognised in profit or loss. The amount of consideration paid for  
the repurchase and transaction costs relating to the equity component is recognised in equity.

Taxation
Income tax expense comprises both the income tax payable, based on taxable profits for the year, and deferred tax.

Deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts except where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or where the deferred tax asset  
or liability arises on an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward  
of unused tax assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax is calculated using tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based 
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Movements in deferred tax are 
charged or credited in the income statement, except where they relate to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the 
deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

For properties acquired as part of a business combination, movements in the deferred tax liability resulting from indexation allowance  
are taken to the income statement until the tax base cost plus indexation allowance reaches the fair value on acquisition, and directly  
to equity thereafter for historic revaluation surpluses.

Deferred tax balances are not discounted.
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1 Accounting policies continued

Leasing 
Leases of property, plant and equipment, where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, are classified as 
finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, the present value 
of the minimum lease payments. A corresponding liability is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments 
are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly against income.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Payments made on entering into or acquiring operating leases are accounted for as intangible assets and amortised over the lease term 
on a straight-line basis.

Pensions
The Group operates a number of defined benefit schemes which require contributions to be made to separately administered funds.  
The asset or liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of the Group’s defined benefit arrangements is the difference between  
the fair value of scheme assets and the present value of scheme liabilities. Defined benefit scheme assets are only recognised to the  
extent that they are recoverable by the Group. The cost of providing benefits under the plans is determined separately for each plan  
using the projected unit credit actuarial method. The current service cost is charged to operating profit. The interest cost and the  
expected return on assets are shown as a net amount within finance income or finance expense. The cumulative net deficits on these 
defined benefit pension schemes have been recognised in full in equity at the date of transition to IFRS and subsequent actuarial gains 
and losses are recognised in full as they occur in the statement of recognised income and expense. 

The Group also contributes to money purchase pension plans for employees. Contributions are charged to the income statement  
as they become payable.

Accounting for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps to hedge its risk associated with interest rate fluctuations. 
Such derivative financial instruments are initially accounted for and subsequently remeasured to fair value. The fair value of the interest 
rate swap contracts is determined by reference to market values for similar instruments. 

The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and  
if so, the nature of the item being hedged. For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as either fair value hedges when 
they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability, or cash flow hedges where they hedge exposure  
to variability in forecast transactions.

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between the hedging instruments and the hedged items,  
as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group also documents its 
assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are  
highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated as and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised  
in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement in the periods when the hedged item will affect profit or loss. 

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised or no longer qualifies for 
hedge accounting. At that point in time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised in equity is kept in equity  
until the forecasted transaction occurs. If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised 
in equity is transferred to the income statement immediately. The replacement or rollover of a hedging instrument into another hedging 
instrument is not an expiry, sale or termination where such replacement or rollover is part of the documented hedging strategy.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting
Changes in fair value of any derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately  
in the income statement. 
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Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009
continued

1 Accounting policies continued

Share based payment transactions
A number of employees of the Group (including Directors) receive an element of remuneration in the form of share based payment 
transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (‘equity-settled transactions’).

Equity settled transactions are measured at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value of transactions involving the granting of shares  
is determined by the share price at the date of grant. The fair value of transactions involving the granting of share options is calculated by 
an external valuer based on a binomial model, a beta model or the Black-Scholes model dependent upon the most appropriate valuation 
model for the individual scheme. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than 
conditions linked to the price of the shares of Punch Taverns plc (‘market conditions’).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, on a straight-line basis over the 
vesting period based on the Group’s estimate of how many of the awards will eventually vest. No expense is recognised for awards that 
do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective 
of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum, an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified. 
In addition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the value of the transaction as a result of the modification, as measured at the 
date of the modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation and any expense not yet recognised 
for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement 
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification to the original award, as 
described in the previous paragraph. The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation 
of earnings per share.

Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods and 
services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts and VAT. All operations take place solely in the United Kingdom.

Drink and food sales 
Revenue in respect of drink and food sales is recognised at the point at which the goods are provided, net of any discounts or volume 
rebates allowed.

Rents receivable 
Rents receivable are recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Machine income
The Group’s share of net machine income is recognised in the period to which it relates. 

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amount. An estimate for 
doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Receivables are written off against the doubtful debt 
provision when management deems the debt to be no longer recoverable.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short term deposits with an original maturity  
of three months or less.

Cash deposits held as security for the benefit of note holders are not classified as cash and cash equivalents.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (calculated on a first in / first out basis) and net realisable value.

Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell and are  
not depreciated.

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset is available  
for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale and completion should be expected within  
one year from the date of classification.
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1 Accounting policies continued

Dividend distribution
Final dividends are recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends  
are approved by the Company’s shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised when they are paid.

Exceptional items
In order to provide a trend measure of underlying performance, profit is presented excluding items which management consider will 
distort comparability, either due to their significant non-recurring nature or as a result of specific accounting treatments. Further detail  
on the nature of exceptional items is included in note 6.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts  
of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts  
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 

On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates and judgements including those relating to income taxes, deferred tax, 
financial instruments, property, plant and equipment, goodwill, intangible assets, valuations, provisions and post-employment benefits.

Management bases its estimates and judgements on historical experience and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgements about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily available from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions.

The estimates and judgements that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are detailed below.

Goodwill impairment
The Group assesses whether goodwill is impaired on at least an annual basis. The recoverable amounts of the cash generating units 
(CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require assumptions  
to be made regarding future cash flows and the choice of a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash 
flows. These assumptions are disclosed in note 13. Actual outcomes could vary from these estimates.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is reviewed for impairment if circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
Recoverable amounts are determined based on value-in-use calculations and estimated sale proceeds. These calculations require 
assumptions to be made regarding future cash flows and the choice of a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value  
of those cash flows. These assumptions are disclosed in note 13. Actual outcomes may vary from these estimates.

Post-employment benefits
The present value of defined benefit pension scheme liabilities are determined on an actuarial basis and depend on a number of actuarial 
assumptions which are disclosed in note 30. Any change in these assumptions could impact the carrying amounts of pension liabilities.

Onerous lease provisions 
The Group provides for its onerous obligations under operating leases where the property is closed or vacant and for properties where 
rental expense is in excess of income. The estimated timings and amounts of cash flows are determined using the experience of internal 
and external property experts; however, any changes to the estimated method of exiting from the property could lead to changes to the 
level of the provision recorded.

Effectiveness of cash flow hedges
The Group performs an assessment of the probability of future cash flows on the floating rate notes and related interest rate swaps. 
Where future expected hedged cash flows are expected to still be highly probable, the Group continues to account for these as effective 
cash flow hedges, with the effective portion being recognised in equity. Where future expected cash flows are deemed not to be highly 
probable but are still expected to occur, the Group discontinues hedge accounting from the date of the assessment. From this date,  
all movements in the fair value of the cash flow hedges are recognised in the income statement. Where future expected cash flows  
are deemed to no longer be expected to occur, the Group discontinues hedge accounting from this date and recycles the existing 
accumulated amounts in equity in the income statement. From this date all future movements in the fair value of the cash flow hedges 
are recognised in the income statement.

Authorisation of financial statements
The Group’s and Company’s financial statements of Punch Taverns plc (the Company) for the period ended 22 August 2009 were 
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 13 October 2009 and the balance sheets were signed on the Board’s behalf by  
Giles Thorley and Phil Dutton.

Corporate information
Punch Taverns plc is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in England. The Company’s shares are listed on the London 
Stock Exchange.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009
continued

2 Segmental analysis 

The primary segmental reporting format is determined to be business segments as the Group’s risks and rates of return are affected 
predominantly by differences in the products and services provided. 

The Group operates in two business segments; a leased estate and a managed estate. Between 23 August 2008 and 22 August 2009,  
21 pubs with a fair value of £24.4m have transferred from the managed to the leased estate. 

The Group operates solely in the United Kingdom and therefore has only one geographical segment.

        52 weeks to 22 August 2009

       Leased  Managed Unallocated Total
       £m £m £m £m

Drink revenue     521.3 379.6 – 900.9
Food revenue     – 257.9 – 257.9
Rental income     223.0 – – 223.0
Other revenue     25.2 34.0 – 59.2
Revenue     769.5 671.5 – 1,441.0
Operating costs1     (357.7) (571.2) – (928.9)
Share of post-tax profit from joint ventures    – – 2.3 2.3
EBITDA1     411.8 100.3 2.3 514.4
Depreciation and amortisation     (21.5) (40.8) – (62.3)
Operating profit before exceptional items    390.3 59.5 2.3 452.1
Exceptional items     (493.5) (231.1) – (724.6)
Operating (loss) / profit     (103.2) (171.6) 2.3 (272.5)
Loss on sale of non-current assets     (20.4) (11.9) – (32.3)
Segment result     (123.6) (183.5) 2.3 (304.8)
Net finance costs     – – (45.7) (45.7)
Movement in fair value of interest rate swaps    – – (55.2) (55.2)
UK income tax credit     – – 229.3 229.3
(Loss) / profit attributable to equity shareholders    (123.6) (183.5) 130.7 (176.4)

1 Pre exceptional items.

        53 weeks to 23 August 2008

       Leased Managed Unallocated Total
       £m £m £m £m

Drink revenue     574.3 395.4 – 969.7
Food revenue     – 268.5 – 268.5
Rental income     252.3 – – 252.3
Other revenue     31.3 38.8 – 70.1
Revenue     857.9 702.7 – 1,560.6
Operating costs1     (367.8) (572.5) – (940.3)
Share of post-tax profit from joint ventures    – – 3.1 3.1
EBITDA1     490.1 130.2 3.1 623.4
Depreciation and amortisation     (20.7) (41.8) – (62.5)
Operating profit before exceptional items    469.4 88.4 3.1 560.9
Exceptional items     (154.8) (139.9) (16.7) (311.4)
Operating profit / (loss)     314.6 (51.5) (13.6) 249.5
(Loss) / profit on sale of non-current assets    (3.0) 3.4 – 0.4
Segment result     311.6 (48.1) (13.6) 249.9
Net finance costs     – – (299.0) (299.0)
Movement in fair value of interest rate swaps    – – (31.1) (31.1)
UK income tax credit     – – 15.5 15.5
Profit / (loss) attributable to equity shareholders    311.6 (48.1) (328.2) (64.7)

1 Pre exceptional items.
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2 Segmental analysis continued

       52 weeks to 22 August 2009

       Leased  Managed Unallocated Total
       £m £m £m £m

Assets and liabilities    
Segment assets     4,560.6 1,403.3 – 5,963.9
Unallocated assets     – – 877.5 877.5
Total assets     4,560.6 1,403.3 877.5 6,841.4
Segment liabilities     (210.6) (190.2) – (400.8)
Unallocated liabilities     – – (4,771.9) (4,771.9)
Total liabilities     (210.6) (190.2) (4,771.9) (5,172.7)
Net assets     4,350.0 1,213.1 (3,894.4) 1,668.7

        23 August 2008

       Leased Managed Unallocated Total
       £m £m £m £m

Assets and liabilities    
Segment assets     5,308.5 1,765.1 – 7,073.6
Unallocated assets     – – 489.1 489.1
Total assets     5,308.5 1,765.1 489.1 7,562.7
Segment liabilities     (199.7) (169.1) – (368.8)
Unallocated liabilities     – – (5,601.0) (5,601.0)
Total liabilities     (199.7) (169.1) (5,601.0) (5,969.8)
Net assets     5,108.8 1,596.0 (5,111.9) 1,592.9

1 Assets and liabilities have been restated to reflect the repayment profile of derivative financial instruments. There has been no impact on net assets.

        22 August 2009

        Leased Managed Total
        £m £m £m

Capital expenditure 
Acquisition spend1      – – –
Investment spend      44.9 42.2 87.1
Total capital expenditure      44.9 42.2 87.1

1 Excludes the transfer of pubs from the managed segment to the leased segment.

        23 August 2008

        Leased Managed Total
        £m £m £m

Capital expenditure 
Acquisition spend1      21.2 3.2 24.4
Investment spend      69.1 70.5 139.6
Total capital expenditure      90.3 73.7 164.0

1 Excludes the transfer of pubs from the managed segment to the leased segment.

With the exception of the transfer of pubs, there are immaterial sales between the business segments. Segment assets include property, 
plant and equipment, operating leases, goodwill, other intangible assets, inventories, receivables and non-current assets classified as  
held for sale, and exclude cash, taxation and investments in joint ventures, while segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities and  
exclude taxation, corporate borrowings and related derivatives and retirement benefit liabilities. Capital expenditure comprises additions  
to property, plant and equipment, operating leases and other intangible assets, including additions resulting from acquisitions through  
business combinations.



Financial statements

www.punchtaverns.com

68

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009
continued

3 Analysis of expenses 

The following items have been included in arriving at operating profit:
         52 weeks to  53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009  2008
         £m £m

Drink and food costs       470.3 487.5
Managed pub running costs       306.7 303.3
Leasehold rentals       51.4 53.2
Depreciation       53.8 52.1
Amortisation       8.5 10.4
Impairment losses       663.1 294.7
Adjustment to goodwill in respect of deferred tax (note 6)     24.1 –
Other costs1       137.9 113.0
Total costs deducted from revenue to determine operating profit     1,715.8 1,314.2

1 Included within other costs are £37.4m (August 2008: £16.7m) of exceptional costs. 

Auditors’ remuneration is as follows:
         52 weeks to  53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008 
         £m £m

Statutory audit services     
Audit of Group financial statements       0.3 0.3
Audit of subsidiary companies       0.1 0.1
    
Non-audit related services   
Other services1       0.4 –

1 Relates to services provided in relation to the Firm Placing and Placing and Open Offer in July 2009 (note 25). 

The accounts of the parent company do not include details of remuneration receivable by the auditor and its associates for non-audit 
services, as the Group accounts are required to include this information as required by Regulation 5(1)(b) of The Companies (Disclosure  
of Auditor Remuneration and Liability Limitation Agreements) Regulations 2008 on a consolidated basis.

4 Finance income
         52 weeks to  53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009  2008
         £m £m

Bank interest receivable       5.6 13.5
Net pension finance income       3.3 3.3
Other finance income       1.5 2.1
Exceptional finance income (note 6)       246.0 –
Total finance income1       256.4 18.9

1 Total finance income includes £1.5m (August 2008: £2.1m) of other finance income which relates to financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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5 Finance costs
         52 weeks to  53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009  2008 
         £m £m

Interest payable on bank borrowings       0.6 1.6
Interest payable on loan notes1       274.2 284.1
Interest payable on convertible bonds       19.5 23.9
Interest payable on finance leases       1.2 1.3
Other interest payable       1.3 2.1
Amortisation of deferred issue costs       3.7 3.6
Effect of unwinding discounted provisions      1.6 1.3
Total finance costs       302.1 317.9

1  Interest payable on loan notes is net of £13.6m credit (August 2008: £14.3m credit) for the amortisation of fair value adjustments and £8.1m net credit  
(August 2008: £10.6m net credit) for interest rate swaps, £5.3m (August 2008: £5.5m) of which relates to financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  
and £2.8m (August 2008: £5.1m) of which relates to financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss. 

 

6 Exceptional items

In order to provide a trend measure of underlying performance, profit is presented excluding items which management consider will  
distort comparability, either due to their significant non-recurring nature or as a result of specific accounting treatments. Included in the 
income statement are the following exceptional items:
         52 weeks to  53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009  2008
         £m £m

Operating   
Redundancy and other related one-off costs      (8.5) (14.0)
Movement on property liabilities1       (28.9) (2.7)
Impairment losses (note 13)       (663.1) (294.7)
Adjustment to goodwill in respect of deferred tax2      (24.1) –
         (724.6) (311.4)
Loss on sale of non-current assets3       (32.3) –
Finance income   
Loan note redemptions4       246.0 –
   
Movement in fair value of interest rate swaps5      (55.2) (31.1)
   
Total exceptional items before tax       (566.1) (342.5)
Tax   
Tax impact of exceptional items       111.6 48.7
Recognition of previously uncrystallised deferred tax assets6     119.8 –
Tax impact of indexation7       (6.2) 27.5
Adjustments to tax in respect of prior periods8      27.0 15.6
Recognition of deferred tax assets not previously recognised on acquisition2    24.1 –
         276.3 91.8
Total exceptional items after tax       (289.8) (250.7)

1 Represents provision for rent payments following the reversion of onerous leases to the Group. 
2  Represents tax losses which had previously not been recognised on the acquisition of the Spirit group in January 2006, which have subsequently been recognised  

in the year. This has resulted in a reduction in goodwill and an increase in deferred tax assets of £24.1m.
3  Includes £28.0m write down of goodwill, of which £17.9m related to the leased estate and £10.1m related to the managed estate, representing the apportioned 

value of goodwill allocated to those pubs disposed of during the year. 
4  Represents profit on the purchase of securitised debt and convertible bonds together with the write off of related deferred issue costs and swaps on redemption  

of those loan notes. Following redemption of loan notes, £6.0m of the hedge reserve relating to the associated swaps was recycled through the income statement.
5  Represents the movement in the fair value of interest rate swaps which do not qualify for hedge accounting. Whilst the interest rate swaps are considered to be 

effective in matching the amortising profile of existing floating rate borrowings, they do not meet the definition of an effective hedge due to either the relative size  
of the mark to market difference of the swap at the date of acquisition or inception, or changes in expected future maturity profiles. At 22 August 2009 interest  
rate swaps held to hedge the Punch Taverns Finance B Limited Class A8 notes were deemed to be ineffective due to the intention to purchase and cancel a portion  
of these notes ahead of their expected legal maturity. As a result, a charge of £19.3m was recycled through the income statement.

6  Represents the recognition of deferred tax assets that relate to capital losses arising on a group restructuring.
7  Represents tax impact of RPI for the full year on the indexation allowance applied to the tax based cost of properties. In the prior period, there has been a change  

in classification of £27.5m from ongoing taxation to exceptional taxation, as the volatility in RPI has had a distortive effect on underlying earnings. Comparatives  
have been restated. 

8 Represents the impact of finalising past tax matters together with changes to base cost information in relation to property assets.
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7 Employees and directors

Staff costs
         52 weeks to  53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009  2008
         £m £m

Wages and salaries        195.6 210.5
Social security costs       14.2 13.4
Share based payments       0.1 2.4
Other pension costs       3.2 3.9
         213.1 230.2

The average number of employees during the period was as follows:
         52 weeks to  53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009  2008
         No. No.

Management and administration1       925 1,020
Retail staff1       17,532 19,977
         18,457 20,997

1 Employee numbers relate to actual employees rather than full time employee equivalents.

No employees are employed directly by the Company.

Directors’ emoluments are disclosed in the Report on Directors’ remuneration on pages 38  to 50.

8 Taxation

(a) Tax on profit on ordinary activities

Tax charged / (credited) in the income statement
     52 weeks to 22 August 2009 53 weeks to 23 August 2008

     Ongoing Exceptional Total Ongoing Exceptional Total
     £m £m £m £m £m £m

Current tax       
UK corporation tax – current year    15.9 (14.0) 1.9 36.2 (3.6) 32.6
UK corporation tax – adjustments in respect  
of prior years   – (22.7) (22.7) (3.3) (9.3) (12.6)
     15.9 (36.7) (20.8) 32.9 (12.9) 20.0
Deferred tax (note 16)
Origination and reversal of temporary differences  
– current year   31.1 (235.6) (204.5) 16.7 (45.1) (28.4)
Indexation – current year   – 6.2 6.2 27.5 (27.5) –
Origination and reversal of temporary differences  
– adjustments in respect of prior years   – (10.2) (10.2) (0.8) (6.3) (7.1)
     31.1 (239.6) (208.5) 43.4 (78.9) (35.5)
Total tax charge / (credit) in the income statement 47.0 (276.3) (229.3) 76.3 (91.8) (15.5)
 

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009
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8 Taxation continued

Tax on items credited to equity
In addition to the amount credited to the income statement, tax movements recognised directly in equity were as follows:

         52 weeks to  53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009  2008
         £m £m

Deferred tax   
Deferred tax on loss on actuarial valuation of pension schemes     (20.3) (5.9)
Deferred tax on effective element of cash flow hedges     (18.6) (19.6)
Tax charge / (credit) related to indexation on revalued properties     1.6 (8.4)
Deferred tax on other items credited to equity      – (7.6)
Deferred tax credit recognised directly in equity      (37.3) (41.5)

(b) Reconciliation of the total tax credit
The effective rate of tax is different to the full rate of corporation tax. The differences are explained below: 

         52 weeks to  53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009  2008
         £m £m

Loss on ordinary activities before tax       (405.7) (80.2)
Tax at current UK tax rate of 28% (August 2008: 29.21%)     (113.6) (23.4)
Effects of:   
Net effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes and non-taxable income (ongoing items)   2.0 (0.3)
Losses arising not yet recognised as assets (ongoing items)     0.1 4.1
Adjustments to tax in respect of prior periods (ongoing items)     – (4.1)
Deferred tax debit / (credit) on indexation of properties (exceptional items)    6.2 (27.5)
Adjustments to tax in respect of prior periods (exceptional items)     (32.9) (15.6)
Current period exceptional (credits) / debits (exceptional items)     (91.1) 51.3
Total tax income reported in the income statement     (229.3) (15.5)

Details of the exceptional tax credits and debits are included in note 6.

 
9 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number  
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, excluding those held in the employee share trust, which are treated as cancelled.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (after adding back interest on  
dilutive convertible bonds) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year (adjusted for the effects  
of dilutive options and dilutive convertible bonds).

The equity portion of the convertible bonds has been assessed and its impact is not dilutive on either basic earnings or adjusted earnings  
at 22 August 2009 and 23 August 2008. 

Reconciliations of the earnings and weighted average number of shares are set out below:

       52 weeks to 22 August 2009  53 weeks to 23 August 20081

        Per share   Per share
       Earnings amount Earnings amount
       £m pence £m pence

Basic loss per share     (176.4) (56.1) (64.7) (24.3)
Diluted loss per share     (176.4) (56.1) (64.7) (24.2)
       
Supplementary earnings per share figures:      
Basic earnings per share before exceptional items    113.4 36.1 186.0 69.9
Diluted earnings per share before exceptional items    113.4 36.1 186.0 69.4

1 Comparatives have been restated in line with changes to exceptional taxation (note 6). 
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9 Earnings per share continued

The impact of dilutive ordinary shares is to increase weighted average shares by nil (August 2008: 1.6m) for employee share options  
and nil (August 2008: nil) for convertible bonds.
         52 weeks to  53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008
         No. (m) No. (m)

Basic weighted average number of shares      314.3 266.3
Discretionary Share Plan and SAYE scheme      – 1.4
Long Term Incentive Plan       – –
Deferred Bonus Shares       – 0.2
Diluted weighted average number of shares      314.3 267.9

10 Dividends
         52 weeks to  53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Declared and paid during the year:   
Final dividend for 2008 for the 53 weeks ended 23 August 2008 of £nil (2007: 10.2p)   – 27.2
Interim dividend for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009 of £nil (2008: 5.5p)    – 14.6
         – 41.8

The Directors will not be proposing the payment of a final dividend.

11  Property, plant and equipment
        Public house 
       Land and  fixtures and
       buildings fittings Other assets Total
       £m £m £m £m

Cost or deemed cost    
At 18 August 2007     6,277.4 291.8 22.1 6,591.3
Additions     90.3 67.1 3.4 160.8
Transfers to non-current assets classified as held for sale   (26.7) (1.4) – (28.1)
Reclassification     1.2 (1.2) – –
Disposals     (23.8) (6.5) (1.7) (32.0)
At 23 August 2008     6,318.4 349.8 23.8 6,692.0
Additions     66.1 17.1 1.9 85.1
Transfers to non-current assets classified as held for sale   (247.4) (6.2) – (253.6)
Disposals     (584.0) (24.7) – (608.7)
At 22 August 2009     5,553.1 336.0 25.7 5,914.8
    
Accumulated depreciation    
At 18 August 2007     7.5 82.0 6.3 95.8
Charge for the year     3.4 46.2 2.5 52.1
Impairment losses (note 13)     267.2 9.2 – 276.4
Transfers to non-current assets classified as held for sale   (0.3) (0.6) – (0.9)
Reclassification     0.1 (0.1) – –
Disposals     (0.8) (3.8) (1.5) (6.1)
At 23 August 2008     277.1 132.9 7.3 417.3
Charge for the year     4.3 47.5 2.0 53.8
Impairment losses (note 13)     580.2 35.3 – 615.5
Transfers to non-current assets classified as held for sale   (83.1) (5.7) – (88.8)
Disposals     (194.4) (12.9) – (207.3)
At 22 August 2009     584.1 197.1 9.3 790.5

Net book value at 22 August 2009     4,969.0 138.9 16.4 5,124.3
Net book value at 23 August 2008     6,041.3 216.9 16.5 6,274.7

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009
continued
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11  Property, plant and equipment continued

The cost of work in progress within property, plant and equipment at 22 August 2009 was £21.5m (August 2008: £24.6m).

The Group leases various licensed properties, offices and other commercial properties and other assets under finance leases. The leases  
have various terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.

Included in property, plant and equipment above are motor vehicles held under finance leases with a net book value of £2.4m  
(August 2008: £1.8m), fixtures and fittings held under finance leases with a net book value of £nil (August 2008: £0.8m) and properties 
held under finance leases with a net book value of £14.4m (August 2008: £19.9m).

Included in land and buildings are properties with a net book value of £4,943.4m (August 2008: £6,041.3m) over which the Group’s 
borrowings are secured by way of fixed and floating charges.

12 Goodwill, operating leases and other intangible assets
         Other 
        Operating  intangible
        leases assets Goodwill
        £m £m £m

Cost    
At 18 August 2007      169.1 10.3 556.2
Additions      – 3.2 –
Disposals      (0.6) – –
At 23 August 2008      168.5 13.5 556.2
Additions      – 2.0 –
Disposals      (4.9) – (28.0)
Adjustment in respect of deferred taxation (note 16)1     – – (24.1)
At 22 August 2009      163.6 15.5 504.1
    
Amortisation    
At 18 August 2007      17.6 4.5 –
Charge for the year      8.5 1.9 –
Impairment losses (note 13)      18.3 – –
Disposals      (0.1) – –
At 23 August 2008      44.3 6.4 –
Charge for the year      6.0 2.5 –
Impairment losses (note 13)      47.6 – –
Disposals      (2.3) – –
At 22 August 2009      95.6 8.9 –
    
Net book value at 22 August 2009      68.0 6.6 504.1
Net book value at 23 August 2008      124.2 7.1 556.2

1  In the current period, an adjustment has been made to the goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Spirit Group in January 2006 due to the recognition  
of additional capital losses.

Included within operating leases are properties with a net book value of £61.9m (August 2008: £124.2m) over which the Group’s 
borrowings are secured by way of fixed and floating charges.

Other intangible assets relate to computer software.

At 22 August 2009, the goodwill assigned to the leased estate is £353.9m (August 2008: £368.6m) and the goodwill assigned to the 
managed estate is £150.2m (August 2008: £187.6m).

While there was no goodwill impairment, goodwill has been reduced in the year by £28.0m (2008: £nil), £17.9m of which related to  
the leased estate and £10.1m related to the managed estate, representing the apportioned value of goodwill allocated to those pubs 
disposed of during the year.
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13 Impairment losses

Property, plant and equipment and operating leases
When any indicators of impairment are identified, property, plant and equipment and operating leases are reviewed for impairment  
based on each cash generating unit (CGU). The cash generating units are individual pubs. The carrying value of these individual pubs  
was compared to the recoverable amount of the CGUs, which was based predominantly on value-in-use. Value-in-use is calculated using 
five-year financial forecasts. Cash flows used in the value-in-use calculation are based on EBITDA less maintenance capital expenditure. 
Beyond the initial five year periods, cash flows are extrapolated using a nominal rate of 2.25% (August 2008: 2.25%) for the remaining 
useful life of the CGUs. This rate is in line with the UK’s post-war average growth rate and does not exceed the average long term growth 
rate for the market. The pre-tax risk adjusted discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 8.5% (August 2008: 8.0%).

Where it is considered more likely than not that a pub will be disposed within the near-term rather than continue to be held and traded  
by the Group, the recoverable amount is based on the estimated net disposal value of that pub rather than by reference to its value-in-use.

Due to the further weakening in the UK consumer environment and the general pub market since August 2008, further impairments  
have been recognised in both the managed and leased estates as follows:

     52 weeks to 22 August 2009 53 weeks to 23 August 2008

     Leased Managed Total Leased Managed Total
     £m £m £m £m £m £m

Property, plant and equipment   478.5 137.0 615.5 153.3 123.1 276.4
Operating leases   4.9 42.7 47.6 1.5 16.8 18.3
     483.4 179.7 663.1 154.8 139.9 294.7

The impairment recognised within the leased estate was primarily due to the identification of further pubs within the estate considered 
unlikely to generate long term sustainable growth following the change in the consumer environment impacting the long term trading 
expectations for these pubs. These pubs are likely to be sold or converted for alternative use within the next few years and have been 
written down to their fair value less costs to sell, being management’s best estimate of market value following consideration of past 
experience and the current market environment. A further impairment has been recognised for pubs where their expected future cash  
flows have fallen to a level such that their value-in-use is below carrying value.

The impairment recognised within the managed estate was primarily due to the reduction in profits experienced in the current financial 
period, being brought about by the change in the consumer environment impacting the trading for these pubs. The reduction in profits  
has subsequently impacted the value-in-use calculation. The impairment has been recognised on pubs where their expected future cash 
flows have fallen to a level such that their value-in-use is below carrying value.

Included within the above are reversals on impairment losses of property, plant and equipment of £45.3m for the leased estate and  
£41.0m for the managed estate, together with reversals of impairment losses on operating leases of £4.8m for the leased estate and  
£5.2m for the managed estate. The impairment reversals were primarily due to the identification of pubs where expected future cash  
flows have risen to a level such that value-in-use is now above carrying value.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
The Group has recognised a total impairment of £663.1m. The level of impairment is predominantly dependent upon judgements used  
in arriving at projected disposal values, future growth rates and the discount rate applied to cash flow projections. Key drivers to future 
growth rates are dependent on the Group’s ability to maintain and grow drinks, rental and gaming machine profit streams in the leased 
business, whilst in the managed business, future growth rates are dependent on the ability to maintain and grow drinks, food and  
gaming machine profit streams whilst effectively managing pub operating costs. The impact on the impairment charge of applying  
different assumptions to the growth rates used in the five year financial forecasts and in the pre-tax discount rates would be as follows:
 
        Impairment charge / (credit) and reduction / 
        (increase) in net assets

        Leased Managed Total
        £m £m £m

Impact if discount rate was:   increased by 1%   97.0 30.2 127.2
     decreased by 1%   (65.0) (25.1) (90.1)
Impact if business plan growth rates were:  increased by 2% in each of the next five years (54.9) (12.5) (67.4)
     decreased by 2% in each of the next five years 40.6 10.1 50.7

Goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to groups of cash generating units (CGUs) based on the benefits to the Group that arise from each business 
combination. The two groups of CGUs are identified by their pub operating format (leased or managed) and this is the lowest level at  
which goodwill is monitored by the Group. The value of the goodwill was reviewed for impairment during the current financial year by 
means of comparing the recoverable amount of the CGUs to the carrying value of their goodwill. The recoverable amount of the CGUs  
was determined based on value-in-use calculations. These value-in-use calculations use the same assumptions as for property, plant and 
equipment and operating leases. No impairment was identified. Neither a 2% decrease in the growth rate in each of the next five years  
nor a 1% increase in the discount rate would have led to an impairment of goodwill in the current period.
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14 Investments in subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures

Company 
          Total
          £m

At 23 August 2008        3,310.4
Additions        0.1
Impairment        (1,975.7)
At 22 August 2009        1,334.8

During the period, the Company made a capital contribution of £0.1m (August 2008: £2.4m) to its immediate subsidiary undertaking, 
Punch Taverns (PGE) Limited and acquired 100% of the £112 ordinary share capital of Safe Jumper Limited, a company incorporated  
in Jersey.

The impairment during the period relates to the Company’s investment in Punch Taverns (PGE) Limited. The impairment arose after  
a group re-organisation was carried out in order to simplify the group structure.

Details of the principal subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures at 22 August 2009 are as follows:

Name of company    Nature of business

Subsidiary undertakings owned directly: 
Punch Taverns (PGE) Limited    Holding company
Safe Jumper Limited    Financing company

Directly or indirectly wholly owned subsidiaries of Punch Taverns (PGE) Limited:
Punch Partnerships (PGRP) Limited (formerly Punch Taverns (PGRP) Limited) Pub operating company
Punch Partnerships (PTL) Limited (formerly Punch Taverns (PTL) Limited) Pub operating company
Punch Partnerships (Branston) Limited (formerly Punch Taverns (Branston) Limited) Pub operating company
Punch Partnerships (PML) Limited (formerly Punch Taverns (PML) Limited) Pub operating company
Punch Partnerships (Pubs) Limited (formerly Punch Taverns (Pubs) Limited) Pub operating company
Punch Pub Company (Pubs) Limited (formerly Spirit Managed Pubs Limited) Pub operating company
Punch Pub Company (Trent) Limited (formerly Spirit Managed (Trent) Limited) Pub operating company
Spirit Group Holdings Limited   Intermediate holding company
Punch Partnerships (PPCS) Limited (formerly Punch Taverns (PPCS) Limited) Intermediate supply company
Punch Pub Company (SSC) Limited (formerly Spirit Supply Company Limited) Intermediate supply company
Punch Taverns Finance plc    Financing company
Punch Taverns Finance B Limited   Financing company
Punch Taverns (Redwood Jerseyco) Limited   Financing company
Punch Taverns (Shawshank) Limited   Financing company
Punch Taverns (Offices) Limited   Property company
Avebury Group Limited     Management and administration company
InnSpired Company Limited     Management and administration company
Punch Pub Company Limited (formerly Spirit Group Limited)   Management and administration company

Joint ventures: 
Allied Kunick Entertainments Limited   Property company
Matthew Clark (Holdings) Limited    Intermediate holding company of Matthew Clark

The Company owns 100% of the ordinary share capital and controls 100% of the voting rights of the companies listed above, with the 
exception of Allied Kunick Entertainments Limited, of which the Company indirectly owns 51% of the ordinary share capital but can  
only exercise joint control as both parties have equal voting rights on all decisions, and Matthew Clark (Holdings) Limited, of which the 
Company indirectly owns 50% of the ordinary share capital and exercises joint control.

All companies are incorporated in England and Wales other than Punch Taverns Finance B Limited, which is incorporated in the Cayman 
Islands and Punch Taverns (Redwood Jerseyco) Limited and Safe Jumper Limited, which are incorporated in Jersey.

In addition to those investments listed above, the Group also maintains day-to-day control over Spirit Issuer Parent Limited and its wholly 
owned subsidiary, Spirit Issuer plc, a special purpose entity that was set up purely for providing financing to the Spirit group of companies. 
Although no company in the Group owns any shares either directly or indirectly in Spirit Issuer Parent Limited or Spirit Issuer plc, the  
financial statements are also consolidated into the Group financial statements in accordance with SIC 12.

Exemption has been taken to exclude subsidiary undertakings whose results or financial position do not principally affect the financial 
statements from the above disclosure.
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15 Trade and other receivables
       Group Company

       22 August  23 August 22 August 23 August 
       2009  2008 2009  2008
       £m £m  £m £m

Amounts falling due within one year     
Trade receivables     58.4 51.7 – –
Amounts owed by group undertakings     – – 33.8 29.6
Prepayments and accrued income     24.5 25.9 – –
Tax and social security receivable     – – 0.5 0.3
Other receivables     0.9 5.2 – –
       83.8 82.8 34.3 29.9
Amounts falling due after more than one year     
Amounts due from group undertakings    – – 1,397.9 1,499.8

16 Deferred tax

The movement on the deferred tax account is as follows:

Deferred tax
         Group

         22 August  23 August
         2009  2008
         £m £m

At beginning of period       267.0 344.0
Credited to income statement       (208.5) (35.5)
Credited to equity       (37.3) (41.5)
At end of period       21.2 267.0

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the period are shown below: 

Deferred tax assets
Group
       Retirement 
       benefit  Financial
      Tax losses liabilities instruments Other Total
      £m £m £m £m £m

At 18 August 2007    43.9 (1.9) 61.5 20.2 123.7
(Charged) / credited to income statement   (24.3) (1.9) 6.6 (4.3) (23.9)
Credited to equity    – 5.9 19.4 1.8 27.1
Transfers    2.6 – (29.9) – (27.3)
At 23 August 2008    22.2 2.1 57.6 17.7 99.6
Credited / (charged) to income statement   5.8 (5.8) 7.9 (5.6) 2.3
Credited to equity    – 20.3 18.6 – 38.9
Transfers    3.7 – – – 3.7
At 22 August 2009    31.7 16.6 84.1 12.1 144.5

Company 
          Financial 
          instruments
          £m

At 18 August 2007        0.2
Charged to income statement        (0.2)
At 23 August 2008        –
Credited to income statement        –
At 22 August 2009        –

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009
continued
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16 Deferred tax continued

Deferred tax liabilities
Group 
       Accelerated 
       capital  Gains on
       allowances property1 Other Total
       £m £m £m £m

At 18 August 2007     147.5 284.5 35.7 467.7
Charged / (credited) to income statement    9.3 (68.9) 0.2 (59.4)
Credited to equity     – (8.4) (6.0) (14.4)
Transfers     – 2.6 (29.9) (27.3)
At 23 August 2008     156.8 209.8 – 366.6
Charged / (credited) to income statement    8.9 (215.1) – (206.2)
Charged to equity     – 1.6 – 1.6
Transfers     – 3.7 – 3.7
At 22 August 2009     165.7 – – 165.7

1 In the current period includes £119.8m credit to the income statement relating to the recognition of capital losses.

Company 
          Financial 
          instruments
          £m

At 18 August 2007        0.2
Credited to income statement        (0.2)
At 23 August 2008        –
Charged to income statement        –
At 22 August 2009        –

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses of £131.7m (August 2008: £158.0m) and unused capital losses of  
£2,536.2m (August 2008: £nil) available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of £112.5m 
(August 2008: £79.3m) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining £2,555.4m (August 2008: 
£78.7m) of losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Current legislation deems that these losses may be carried forward  
for an unlimited number of years.

17 Inventories
         22 August  23 August
         2009  2008
         £m £m

Goods held for resale       7.5 8.5

The Group consumed £199.5m of inventories during the year (August 2008: £198.2m) and charged £nil to the income statement for  
the write down of inventories during the year (August 2008: £nil). 

18 Cash
       Group Company

       22 August  23 August  22 August 23 August
       2009  2008 2009 2008
       £m £m  £m £m

Cash deposits used as security for loan notes    – 14.4 – 14.4
Cash and cash equivalents     678.6 321.2 318.6 17.9
       678.6 335.6 318.6 32.3

During the period, guaranteed loan notes for the Group and Company were repaid in full using the cash deposits secured against them. 
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19 Non-current assets classified as held for sale
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Non-current assets classified as held for sale      169.6 20.1

At the current period end, non-current assets classified as held for sale represents £155.8m (August 2008: £17.4m) of pubs from the  
leased estate and £13.8m (August 2008: £2.7m) of pubs from the managed estate that are individually being actively marketed for sale 
with varying expected completion dates within one year. The value of non-current assets classified as held for sale represents the expected 
net disposal proceeds.

20 Trade and other payables
       Group Company

       22 August  23 August 22 August 23 August
       2009  2008  2009 2008
       £m £m £m £m

Trade payables     83.5 96.8 – –
Amounts owed to group undertakings     – – 109.1 45.3
Other tax and social security payable     41.5 39.6 – –
Other payables     40.9 48.4 – –
Accruals and deferred income     141.5 157.3 0.9 2.0
Share of joint venture liabilities     9.3 9.3 – –
       316.7 351.4 110.0 47.3

21 Financial liabilities
     22 August 2009 23 August 2008

     Amounts falling due  Amounts falling due 

      after    after 
     within  more than   within  more than
     one year one year Total one year one year Total
     £m £m £m £m £m £m

Secured loan notes:         
Issued by Punch Taverns Finance plc    14.0 1,893.4 1,907.4 33.5 2,031.9 2,065.4
Issued by Punch Taverns Finance B Limited  27.9 1,149.3 1,177.2 4.3 1,300.6 1,304.9
Issued by Spirit Issuer plc   5.7 964.2 969.9 7.8 1,332.5 1,340.3
     47.6 4,006.9 4,054.5 45.6 4,665.0 4,710.6
Guaranteed loan notes 2009:        
Issued by Punch Taverns plc   – – – 14.4 – 14.4
Total interest bearing loans and borrowings  47.6 4,006.9 4,054.5 60.0 4,665.0 4,725.0
Obligations under finance leases   2.6 15.8 18.4 2.7 16.7 19.4
Convertible bonds – liability component   – 193.5 193.5 – 264.8 264.8
Total financial liabilities   50.2 4,216.2 4,266.4 62.7 4,946.5 5,009.2

The guaranteed loan notes were repaid in full during the period and bore interest based on LIBOR +1.32% for 3 month deposits and  
were secured against bank deposits of an equal amount guaranteed by Barclays Bank plc. 

Secured loan notes
The secured loan notes have been secured by way of fixed and floating charges over various assets of the Group.

Interest is paid quarterly in arrears on all secured loan notes. Scheduled capital repayments are made quarterly on those loan notes which  
are amortising. The details for the secured loan notes, including the date of the final scheduled instalment for each class of note,  
as indicated in its description, are as follows:

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009
continued
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21 Financial liabilities continued

Issued by Punch Taverns Finance plc:

     22 August 2009 23 August 2008

     Amounts falling due  Amounts falling due 

      after    after 
     within  more than   within  more than
     one year one year Total one year one year Total
     £m £m £m £m £m £m

Class A1 secured fixed rate notes repayable 
by April 2022 at 7.274% per annum   – 270.0 270.0 – 270.0 270.0
Class A2 secured fixed rate notes repayable 
by July 2020 at 6.82% per annum   – 300.0 300.0 – 300.0 300.0
Class A3(N) secured floating rate notes repayable 
by April 2015 at LIBOR1 +0.13% per annum  1.2 2.5 3.7 27.3 66.2 93.5
Class B1 secured fixed rate notes repayable 
by April 2026 at 7.567% per annum   – 135.1 135.1 – 140.0 140.0
Class B2 secured fixed rate notes repayable 
by July 2029 at 8.374% per annum   – 142.7 142.7 – 150.0 150.0
Class B3 secured floating rate notes repayable 
by July 2031 at LIBOR1 +0.24% to July 2014 
and LIBOR1 +0.60% thereafter   – 167.0 167.0 – 175.0 175.0
Class C secured fixed rate notes repayable 
by April 2033 at 6.468%   – 184.0 184.0 – 215.0 215.0
Class M1 secured fixed rate notes repayable 
by October 2026 at 5.883% per annum   13.5 167.7 181.2 6.4 193.6 200.0
Class M2(N) secured floating rate notes repayable 
by July 2029 at LIBOR1 +0.20% to July 2014 
and LIBOR1 +0.50% thereafter   – 400.0 400.0 – 400.0 400.0
Class D1 secured floating rate notes repayable 
by October 2032 at LIBOR1 +0.82% to July 2014 
and LIBOR1 +2.05% thereafter   – 125.0 125.0 – 125.0 125.0
     14.7 1,894.0 1,908.7 33.7 2,034.8 2,068.5
Add: premium arising from fair value adjustment  0.8 9.0 9.8 0.8 10.0 10.8
Less: deferred issue costs   (1.5) (9.6) (11.1) (1.0) (12.9) (13.9)
     14.0 1,893.4 1,907.4 33.5 2,031.9 2,065.4

1 For 3 month deposits.

In the current period, the Group redeemed notes with a nominal value of £149.5m, being £85.6m Class A3N, £4.9m Class B1, £7.3m  
Class B2, £8.0m Class B3, £31.0m Class C and £12.7m Class M1 notes.

These figures are net of notes held by the Group not yet cancelled, which as at 22 August 2009 were £8.0m Class B3 and £2.0m Class C 
notes held by Punch Taverns (Shawshank) Limited.
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21 Financial liabilities continued

Issued by Punch Taverns Finance B Limited:

     22 August 2009 23 August 2008

     Amounts falling due  Amounts falling due 

      after    after 
     within  more than   within  more than
     one year one year Total one year one year Total
     £m £m £m £m £m £m

Class A3 secured fixed rate notes repayable 
by June 2022 at 7.369% per annum   – 198.5 198.5 – 201.0 201.0
Class A6 secured fixed rate notes repayable 
by December 2024 at 5.943% per annum  – 220.0 220.0 – 220.0 220.0
Class A7 secured fixed rate notes repayable 
by June 2033 at 4.767% per annum   23.5 207.9 231.4 – 250.0 250.0
Class A8 secured floating rate notes repayable 
by June 2033 at LIBOR1 +0.28% until June 2015 
and LIBOR1 +0.7% thereafter   – 222.6 222.6 – 250.0 250.0
Class B1 secured fixed rate notes repayable 
by June 2025 at 8.44% per annum    – 61.5 61.5 – 77.5 77.5
Class B2 secured fixed rate notes repayable 
by June 2028 at 6.962% per annum   – 92.4 92.4 – 125.0 125.0
Class C secured floating rate notes repayable 
by June 2035 at LIBOR1 +1.1% until June 2015 
and LIBOR1 +2.75% thereafter    – 98.4 98.4 – 125.0 125.0
     23.5 1,101.3 1,124.8 – 1,248.5 1,248.5
Add: premium arising from fair value adjustment  5.3 53.0 58.3 5.2 58.3 63.5
Less: deferred issue costs   (0.9) (5.0) (5.9) (0.9) (6.2) (7.1)
     27.9 1,149.3 1,177.2 4.3 1,300.6 1,304.9

1 For 3 month deposits.

In the current period, the Group redeemed notes with a nominal value of £123.7m, being £2.5m Class A3, £18.6m Class A7, £27.4m  
Class A8, £16.0m Class B1, £32.6m Class B2 and £26.6m Class C1 notes.

These figures are net of notes held by the Group not yet cancelled, which as at 22 August 2009 were £2.5m Class A3, £18.6m Class A7, 
£3.6m Class B1, £28.1m Class B2 and £26.6m Class C notes held by Punch Taverns (Shawshank) Limited and £12.4m Class B1 and  
£4.5m Class B2 notes held by Punch Partnerships (PML) Limited.

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009
continued
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21 Financial liabilities continued

Issued by Spirit Issuer plc:

     22 August 2009 23 August 2008

     Amounts falling due  Amounts falling due 

      after    after 
     within  more than   within  more than
     one year one year Total one year one year Total
     £m £m £m £m £m £m

Class A1 secured floating rate debenture notes 
repayable by September 2026 at LIBOR1  
+0.22% per annum to September 2011 and  
LIBOR1 +0.55% thereafter   – 144.7 144.7 – 150.0 150.0
Class A2 secured floating rate debenture notes 
repayable by June 2029 at LIBOR1 +1.08% per annum 
to September 2011 and LIBOR1 +2.7% thereafter  – 188.6 188.6 – 200.0 200.0
Class A3 secured fixed / floating rate debenture notes 
repayable by September 2019 at 5.86% to  
September 2014 and LIBOR1 +0.55% thereafter  – 114.9 114.9 – 250.0 250.0
Class A4 secured fixed / floating rate debenture  
notes repayable by March 2025 at 6.582% to  
September 2018 and LIBOR1 +2.775% thereafter  – 276.2 276.2 – 350.0 350.0
Class A5 secured fixed / floating rate debenture notes 
repayable by December 2032 at 5.472% to  
September 2028 and LIBOR1 +0.75% thereafter  – 184.0 184.0 – 300.0 300.0
     – 908.4 908.4 – 1,250.0 1,250.0
Add: premium arising from fair value adjustment  5.7 55.8 61.5 7.8 82.5 90.3
     5.7 964.2 969.9 7.8 1,332.5 1,340.3

1 For 3 month deposits.

In the current period, the Group redeemed notes with a nominal value of £341.6m, being £5.3m Class A1, £11.4m Class A2, £135.1m 
Class A3, £73.8m Class A4 and £116.0m Class A5 notes.

These figures are net of notes held by the Group not yet cancelled, which as at 22 August 2009 were £5.3m Class A1, £2.4m Class A2, 
£11.2m Class A3, £27.1m Class A4 and £41.8m Class A5 notes held by Punch Taverns (Shawshank) Limited.
 
Interest rate swaps
The Group has taken out various interest rate swaps to reduce the interest rate risk associated with floating rate loans as follows:

Punch Taverns Finance plc
Interest rate swap agreements have been entered into which swap the LIBOR interest rate on the Class A3(N), Class B3, Class M2(N) and 
Class D1 floating rate notes to a fixed rate of 5.954%. The capital amount of these swaps reduces over time to match the contractual 
repayment profile of the floating rate notes. 

Punch Taverns Finance B Limited
Interest rate swap agreements have been entered into which swap the LIBOR interest rate on the Class A8 and Class C notes to a fixed  
rate of 5.1% and 4.7577% respectively. The capital amount of these swaps reduces over time to match the contractual repayment profile 
of the floating rate notes. Although the Class A8 swap ensures that cash flows are perfectly hedged over the life of the notes, it was 
deemed ineffective as at 22 August 2009 due to the intention to purchase and cancel a portion of these notes ahead of their expected  
legal maturity.

Spirit Issuer plc
Interest rate swap agreements have been entered into which swap the LIBOR interest rate to a fixed rate of 6.581% to March 2012 and 
6.831% thereafter on the Class A1 and Class A2 debenture notes and, after their respective step-up dates, 4.555% on the Class A3,  
Class A4 and Class A5 debenture notes. The capital amount of these swaps reduces over time to match the contractual repayment profile 
of the floating rate notes. Although these swaps ensure that cash flows are perfectly hedged over the life of the notes they were deemed 
ineffective at the time of acquisition of the Spirit group, in accordance with the requirements of IAS 39, and accordingly all future 
movements in fair value will be recognised in the income statement.
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21 Financial liabilities continued

Punch Taverns plc
During the period, the guaranteed loans notes were repaid in full. Prior to repayment, the interest rate exposure on the guaranteed loan 
notes was mitigated by the interest earned on the cash deposits used as guarantee.

After taking account of the various interest rate swaps entered into by the Group, the interest rate exposure of the Group’s financial 
liabilities are as set out below. There are no financial liabilities other than short term payables excluded from this analysis:

     22 August 2009 23 August 2008

     Fixed Floating Total Fixed Floating Total
     £m £m £m £m £m £m

Secured loan notes:       
Issued by Punch Taverns Finance plc   1,907.4 – 1,907.4 2,065.4 – 2,065.4
Issued by Punch Taverns Finance B Limited  1,177.2 – 1,177.2 1,304.9 – 1,304.9
Issued by Spirit Issuer plc   969.9 – 969.9 1,340.3 – 1,340.3
Total secured loans   4,054.5 – 4,054.5 4,710.6 – 4,710.6
Guaranteed loan notes 2009:       
Issued by Punch Taverns plc    – – – – 14.4 14.4
Total loans and borrowings   4,054.5 – 4,054.5 4,710.6 14.4 4,725.0
Obligations under finance leases   18.4 – 18.4 19.4 – 19.4
Convertible bonds – liability component   193.5 – 193.5 264.8 – 264.8
Total financial liabilities   4,266.4 – 4,266.4 4,994.8 14.4 5,009.2

Interest rate analysis
The weighted average effective interest rates of interest bearing loans and borrowings, including the effect of interest rate swaps,  
at the balance sheet date are as follows:

         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008
         % %

Secured loan notes       6.8 6.6
Finance leases       6.5 6.5
Convertible bonds       9.2 9.2

The average interest rate for Group loans and borrowings is 6.9% (August 2008: 6.8%).
 
Borrowing facilities
During the period, the Company cancelled a £50m bank facility, due to expire in October 2010, deemed not to be required  
(August 2008: £nil drawn). 

Obligations under finance leases
The minimum lease payments under finance leases fall due as follows:

        22 August 2009  23 August 2008

        Present value   Present value
       Minimum lease  of future Minimum of future
       payments obligations lease payments obligations
       £m £m £m £m

Within one year     2.6 2.6 2.7 2.7
Within one to five years     7.0 5.7 7.1 6.0
Over five years     47.6 10.1 37.5 10.7
       57.2 18.4 47.3 19.4

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009
continued
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21 Financial liabilities 

Convertible bonds
The Group issued £275.0m 5.0% convertible bonds at a nominal value of £275.0m on 14 December 2005. During the period, the  
Group redeemed bonds with a nominal value of £82.9m. The remaining bonds mature 5 years from the issue date and can be redeemed  
at that date for 107.21% (£206.0m) of their principal amount or can be converted, at the option of the holder, into shares at an initial 
conversion price of £11.782. The conversion price is subject to adjustment following capital distributions (whether by cash dividend, 
dividend in specie, scrip dividend, capitalisation issue or otherwise). The conversion price at 22 August 2009 is £9.19 (August 2008: 
£11.662). The share price at the date of pricing of the convertible bonds in the market was £8.60. The fair values of the liability  
component and equity component were determined at issuance of the bonds. The fair value of the liability component was calculated  
using a market rate for an equivalent non–convertible bond. The residual amount, representing the value of the equity conversion 
component, is included in shareholders’ equity as a separate reserve (note 28).

The value of convertible bonds recognised in the balance sheet is calculated as follows:

          £m

Liability component at 18 August 2007        253.1
Finance cost (note 5)        23.9
Cash interest paid        (13.8)
Amortisation of deferred issue costs        1.6
Liability component at 23 August 2008        264.8
Finance cost (note 5)        19.5
Cash interest paid        (11.8)
Amortisation of deferred issue costs        1.3
Redeemed         (80.3)
Liability component at 22 August 2009       193.5

Finance cost on the bonds is calculated using the effective interest method by applying the effective interest rate of 9.23%  
(August 2008: 9.23%).

Maturity of Group debt
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s debt at 22 August 2009 and 23 August 2008 based on contractual, 
undiscounted cash flows including interest.

       Period ended 22 August 2009

      Within  One to Two to More than
      one year two years five years  five years Total
      £m £m £m £m £m

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 
– capital    38.2 64.2 238.9 3,600.6 3,941.9
– interest1    255.1 252.3 744.7 2,558.3 3,810.4
      293.3 316.5 983.6 6,158.9 7,752.3
Convertible bonds
– capital    – 205.9 – – 205.9
– interest    9.6 4.8 – – 14.4
      9.6 210.7 – – 220.3
      302.9 527.2 983.6 6,158.9 7,972.6

       Period ended 23 August 2008

      Within  One to Two to More than
      one year two years five years  five years Total
      £m £m £m £m £m

Interest bearing loans and borrowings        
– capital    48.1 61.3 238.8 4,233.2 4,581.4
– interest1    294.3 290.9 853.4 3,183.9 4,622.5
      342.4 352.2 1,092.2 7,417.1 9,203.9
Convertible bonds
– capital    – – 294.8 – 294.8
– interest    13.8 13.8 6.9 – 34.5
      13.8 13.8 301.7 – 329.3
      356.2 366.0 1,393.9 7,417.1 9,533.2

1 Interest includes undiscounted cash flows on the interest rate swaps.

The contractual maturity of trade and other payables is within one year.
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22 Financial instruments

Categories of financial instruments
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Financial assets   
Interest rate swaps – at fair value through profit or loss     2.7 1.4
Interest rate swaps – not at fair value through profit or loss     – 1.8
Receivables (amortised cost)       58.4 52.9
Cash and short term deposits       678.6 335.6
         739.7 391.7
Financial liabilities   
Interest rate swaps – at fair value through profit or loss     128.4 75.0
Interest rate swaps – not at fair value through profit or loss     170.3 107.9
Amortised cost       4,331.5 5,086.6
Finance lease obligations       18.4 19.4
         4,648.6 5,288.9

All derivative financial instruments are held on the balance sheet at fair value; the effective portion of changes in the fair value of  
derivative financial instruments, that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, are recognised in equity. The gain or loss relating  
to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement. Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income 
statement in the periods when the hedged item will affect profit or loss. Changes in fair value of any derivative financial instruments,  
that do not qualify for hedge accounting, are recognised immediately in the income statement.

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivative financial instruments, comprise borrowings, cash and liquid resources.  
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to provide finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial 
instruments such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity risk, capital risk and credit risk. There is no 
material currency exposure as all material transactions and financial instruments are in sterling. The Group has no material exposure  
to equity securities or commodity price risk and it is the Group’s policy that no speculative trading in financial instruments shall be 
undertaken. The Board reviews and agrees policies for each of these risks and they are summarised on pages 22 to 23.

Interest rate risk
As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets, other than cash and cash equivalents, the Group’s income and operating cash  
flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. Income and cash flows from cash and cash equivalents fluctuate 
with interest rates.

The Group finances its operations through a mixture of equity shareholders’ funds, loan notes, bonds, and bank loans. The Group  
borrows at both fixed and floating rates of interest and then employs derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps to  
generate the desired interest rate profile and to manage the Group’s exposure to interest rate fluctuations. The cash balances attract  
interest at floating rates. 

Where over-hedging arises (for example, due to early repayment of floating rate notes) the Group will seek to eliminate the over-hedging, 
where this is financially practicable, either by embedding the cost in new swaps or by terminating the over-hedge. As at the year end,  
the Group held £34.3m of floating rate notes for which interest swaps remain outstanding.

The Group has taken out derivative financial instruments such that 100% of all loans at 22 August 2009 (August 2008: 99.7%) were  
either at fixed rate or were converted to fixed rate as a result of swap arrangements thereby largely eliminating the Group’s exposure 
to changes in interest rates.

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009
continued
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22 Financial instruments continued

Cash flows associated with cash deposits, debt and interest rate swaps and the fair value of these instruments fluctuate with changes  
in interest rates. If the interest rates had been 1% higher or lower during the period, the effect on the income statement would be  
as follows:
          Movement 
          in fair value
        Interest  Interest  of interest
        receivable payable  rate swaps
Period ended 22 August 2009      £m £m £m

Impact on income statement if interest rates increased by 1%: gain / (loss)    2.7 – 76.8
Impact on income statement if interest rates decreased by 1%: gain / (loss)    (2.2) – (76.8)
Impact on equity if interest rates increased by 1%: gain / (loss)    – – 110.8
Impact on equity if interest rates decreased by 1%: gain / (loss)    – – (110.8)
     
Period ended 23 August 2008

Impact on income statement if interest rates increased by 1%: gain / (loss)    2.2 – 74.9
Impact on income statement if interest rates decreased by 1%: gain / (loss)    (2.2) – (74.9)
Impact on equity if interest rates increased by 1%: gain / (loss)    – – 108.6
Impact on equity if interest rates decreased by 1%: gain / (loss)    – – (108.6)

Whilst cash flow interest rate risk is largely eliminated, the use of fixed rate borrowings and derivative financial instruments exposes  
the Group to fair value interest rate risk such that the Group would not benefit from falls in interest rates and would be exposed to 
unplanned costs, such as breakage costs, should debt or derivative financial instruments be restructured or repaid early.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s funding strategy is to ensure a mix of financing methods offering flexibility and cost effectiveness to match the requirements  
of the Group. The Group is primarily financed by secured loan notes, with approximately 91% (August 2008: 92%) of the capital balance 
on these loan notes being repayable after more than five years from the balance sheet date, subject to relevant covenants being met.  
The Board continues to review alternative sources of finance. The Group’s objective is to smooth the debt maturity profile and to arrange 
funding ahead of requirements where required so maturing short term debt may be refinanced or paid as it falls due. Cash flow forecasts 
are frequently produced to assist management in identifying liquidity requirements and are stress tested for possible scenarios. This  
includes assessments of the ability to meet the restricted payment conditions in the three securitisation structures in order that cash can  
be released to the top company level. Should any securitisations not meet the restricted payment conditions, then any cash generated  
is retained within the securitisation (not made available to the wider group) to naturally de-lever that securitisation. Cash balances are 
invested in short term deposits such that they are readily available to settle short term liabilities or to fund capital additions. 

The further weakening of the UK consumer environment since August 2008 placed pressure on the Group’s revenue, profit, cash flows  
and overall liquidity. The continued uncertainty over the economic outlook has made it necessary for the Group to take steps to improve  
the capital structure of the Group, to increase cash flow and repay debt in advance of maturity dates. For these reasons, the Group 
announced a Firm Placing and Placing and Open Offer on 15 June 2009. The Firm Placing and Placing and Open Offer completed  
on 3 July 2009 raising net funds of £353.8m. These funds will be used to facilitate the repayment of the Group’s convertible bonds  
(due December 2010) and for the repurchase of securitisation notes at a discount to par (if appropriate opportunities arise) and to provide 
additional support to the securitisation groups as necessary to assist the Group in providing covenant headroom.

Capital risk
The Group’s capital structure is made up of net debt, issued share capital and reserves. These are managed effectively to minimise the 
Group’s cost of capital, to add value to shareholders and to service debt obligations, ultimately ensuring that the Group continues as  
a going concern. The Group’s debt is divided into three separate securitisations and a convertible bond. The securitised debt is monitored  
by a variety of measures, which are reported to the debt providers on a quarterly basis. The Group assesses the performance of the  
business, the level of available funds and the short to medium strategic plans concerning capital spend as well as the need to meet  
financial covenants and such assessment influences the level of dividends payable.
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22 Financial instruments continued

Credit risk
With the exception of cash and short term deposits invested with banks and financial institutions, there are no significant concentrations  
of credit risk within the Group. The maximum credit risk exposure relating to financial assets is represented by the carrying value as at the 
balance sheet date. The Group’s objective is to minimise credit risk by ensuring that surplus funds are invested with banks and financial 
institutions with high credit ratings and that the Group deals with third parties that have been subject to credit checks, or that have  
good credit scores, where appropriate. The Group has taken out a number of interest rate swaps with financial institutions to hedge  
its exposure to changes in interest rates. As at the balance sheet date, one of these financial instruments was held as a financial asset  
valued at £2.7m (August 2008: one at £1.4m). Trade and other receivables, as shown on the Consolidated balance sheet, comprise  
a large number of individually small amounts from unrelated customers and are shown net of a provision for doubtful debts. Management 
estimates the provision for doubtful debts based on a review of all individual receivable accounts, experience and known factors at the 
balance sheet date, taking into account any collateral held in the form of cash deposits, which is quantified. These cash deposits are  
applied against unpaid debt when licensees leave the pubs, and vary in size. The amount of cash deposits held at 22 August 2009 is 
£37.2m (August 2008: £43.1m). These are held on the balance sheet within trade and other payables. Receivables are written off  
against the doubtful debt provision when management deems the debt no longer recoverable. 

An analysis of the provision held against trade receivables for doubtful debts is shown below:
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Provision for doubtful debts at beginning of period      11.0 9.6
Charged to income statement       8.0 6.9
Utilised during the period       (10.0) (5.1)
Released during the period       – (0.4)
Provision for doubtful debts at end of period      9.0 11.0

The ageing of trade receivables at the balance sheet date, net of the doubtful debt provision, is as follows:
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Live debt Current      51.2 43.5
   0 – 35 days past due      1.8 2.6
   Over 35 days past due      5.4 5.6
Closed debt       – –
         58.4 51.7

Live debt represents balances outstanding from current licensees. Closed debt relates to outstanding balances from customers that  
are no longer current licensees of the Group.

There are no indicators at 22 August 2009 that debtors will not meet their payment obligations in respect of the net amount of trade 
receivables recognised in the balance sheet. 

Derivative financial instruments
The carrying values of derivative financial instruments in the balance sheet are as follows:
        Group

        22 August 2009

       Current  Non-current Current Non-current
       assets  assets liabilities  liabilities
       £m £m £m £m

Interest rate swaps     – 2.7 67.7 231.0

        Group

        23 August 20081

       Current  Non-current Current Non-current
       assets assets  liabilities  liabilities
       £m £m £m £m

Interest rate swaps     1.8 1.4 7.3 175.6

1 During the current period, derivative financial instruments at 23 August 2008 have been restated to reflect the repayment profile.

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009
continued
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22 Financial instruments continued

The interest rate swaps replace the LIBOR rate on the Group’s secured floating rate loan notes and bank loans with a fixed rate. The capital 
amount of the swaps reduces over time to match the contractual repayment profile of the associated notes over their life (see note 21  
for more detail). Of the total carrying value of the interest rate swaps £170.3m (August 2008: £106.1m) qualify as, and are treated as,  
cash flow hedges in accordance with IAS 39 and movements in their fair values are recognised directly in equity. The remaining £125.7m 
(August 2008: £73.6m) do not qualify for hedge accounting with movements in their fair value being recognised in the income statement.

Fair value of non-derivative financial assets and liabilities
With the exception of the Group’s secured loan notes and convertible bonds, there are no material differences between the carrying  
value of non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities and their fair values as at the balance sheet date.

The carrying value of the Group’s secured loan notes at 22 August 2009 is £4,054.5m (August 2008: £4,710.6m) and the fair value, 
measured at market value, of this debt at that date is £3,397.4m (August 2008: £4,087.2m). The carrying value of the liability element  
of the convertible bonds is £193.5m at 22 August 2009 (August 2008: £264.8m) and the fair value of the whole instrument, measured  
at the listed market value, of these bonds at 22 August 2009 is £198.0m (August 2008: £232.3m).

23 Provisions

Group 
      Compensation Onerous Property
      payments  contracts leases Insurance Total
      £m £m £m £m £m

At 18 August 2007    4.5 17.7 31.1 6.5 59.8
Unwinding of discount effect of provisions   – 0.6 0.2 – 0.8
Charged to income statement    – – 14.7 0.9 15.6
Utilised during the period    (4.1) (5.4) (7.8) (2.0) (19.3)
Released during the period    (0.4) (1.6) (6.3) – (8.3)
At 23 August 2008    – 11.3 31.9 5.4 48.6
Unwinding of discount effect of provisions   – 0.5 0.6 – 1.1
Charged to income statement    – – 41.1 2.2 43.3
Utilised during the period    – (4.4) (10.9) (1.9) (17.2)
Released during the period    – – (11.8) – (11.8)
At 22 August 2009    – 7.4 50.9 5.7 64.0
 
Provisions have been analysed between current and non-current as follows:
         22 August  23 August
         2009  2008
         £m £m

Current        22.3 13.4
Non-current       41.7 35.2
         64.0 48.6

Compensation payments
The compensation payments provision related to the termination costs due in respect of a beer supply contract. The termination  
costs commenced in April 2000 and were payable over seven years; the annual amount payable varied according to annual volume 
commitment, the percentage increase / decrease in the UK beer market and the UK Retail Price Index.

Onerous contracts
The onerous contracts provision relates to the termination costs for supply contracts that expire in August 2011. The onerous cost  
element of these contracts has been provided for based on anticipated future volumes and the difference between contract prices  
and market prices.

Property leases
The provision for property leases has been set up to cover operating costs of vacant or loss making premises. The provision covers the 
expected shortfall between operating income and rents payable. Payments are expected to be ongoing on these properties for a number  
of years.

Insurance
The provision for insurance relates to insurance for which annual amounts vary according to claims made. The majority of this provision  
is expected to be utilised within five years of the balance sheet date.
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24 Other non-current payables
       Group Company

       22 August  23 August 22 August 23 August
       2009  2008 2009 2008
       £m  £m £m £m

Other payables      1.7 1.7 – –
Amounts owed to group undertakings     – – 1,807.8 4,015.9
       1.7 1.7 1,807.8 4,015.9

Included within amounts owed to group undertakings are various loan balances, for which additional detail is disclosed in note 33. 
Remaining balances have no restrictive terms or conditions associated with them.

25 Share capital 
       22 August 22 August 23 August 23 August 
       2009  2009  2008  2008
       No. (000) £m No. (000) £m

Authorised        
Ordinary shares of 0.04786p     104,479,333 50.0 104,479,333 50.0
        
Allotted, called up and fully paid        
Ordinary shares of 0.04786p     642,260 0.3 266,542 0.1

The movements in the called up share capital are set out below:

         Ordinary shares Ordinary shares
         No. (000) £m

At 18 August 2007       265,953 0.1
Issued on exercise of share options       589 –
At 23 August 2008       266,542 0.1
Issued on exercise of share options       718 –
Issue of ordinary share capital       375,000 0.2
At 22 August 2009       642,260 0.3

Changes in share capital
On 7 July 2009, the Company issued 375,000,000 new shares as part of a Firm Placing and Placing and Open Offer in the market.  
These shares were placed at £1.00. The issue of these shares resulted in net cash proceeds of £353.8m. 

Under the Discretionary Share Plan, no ordinary shares were issued during the period (August 2008: 47,136 at an average price of  
£3.75 per share). Under the Long Term Incentive Plan, no ordinary shares were issued at par consideration (August 2008: 220,388).  
Under the Save As You Earn scheme, 3,957 ordinary shares were issued to employees at a price of £1.66 (August 2008: 57,461 at a price  
of £1.66). Under the Share Incentive Plan, 713,603 (August 2008: 190,568) matching shares were issued at par consideration. Under the 
Deferred Share Bonus Plan, no ordinary shares were issued (August 2008: 69,048 at par consideration). See note 26 for further details  
of these schemes. The issue of these shares resulted in net cash proceeds of £nil (August 2008: £0.3m).

The Group issued £275.0m convertible bonds at a nominal value of £275.0m on 14 December 2005. During the period, the Group 
redeemed bonds with a nominal value of £82.9m. The remaining bonds mature 5 years from the issue date and can be redeemed at that 
date for 107.21% of their principal amount or can be converted, at the option of the holder, into shares at an initial conversion price of 
£11.782. The conversion price is subject to adjustment following capital distributions (whether by cash dividend, dividend in specie, scrip 
dividend, capitalisation issue or otherwise). The conversion price at 22 August 2009 is £9.19 (August 2008: £11.66). The share price  
at the date of pricing of the convertible bonds was £8.60. No conversions have been made as at 22 August 2009 (August 2008: £nil).

Rights of shareholders 
All ordinary shares in issue at 22 August 2009 rank pari passu in all respects.

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009
continued
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26  Share based payments

The Company has six share incentive schemes by which Directors and employees are able to acquire shares in the Company. All of these 
schemes are equity-settled schemes. IFRS 2 has been applied to all grants of equity-settled awards after 7 November 2002 that had not 
vested before 1 January 2005.

SAYE Scheme
The first scheme is the savings related scheme which was open to all employees during the period ended 17 August 2002, with a further 
invitation to join during the period ended 22 August 2003. Under the terms of this scheme, proceeds from a ‘Save As You Earn’ savings 
contract, of either three of five years duration, were used to exercise the rights to acquire shares granted at the commencement of  
the saving contract. This was done at a discount of 20% to the market value of the shares at the date of the grant. Options could be 
exercised within six months of the maturity of the contract. There were no options granted under this scheme in the period ended  
22 August 2009 or in the period ended 23 August 2008. This scheme ended in April 2009.

Discretionary Share Plan
The second scheme is a Discretionary Share Plan (DSP) whereby options are granted to senior management over ordinary shares in the 
Company, at the prevailing market price at time of grant. These options vest after a three year performance period, with performance 
targets set by the Remuneration Committee, and are then exercisable for a period of seven years. Performance targets for options 
granted on 31 January 2006 and 16 November 2005 are set on a sliding scale of earnings per share growth with 40% of options vesting 
on growth of RPI +8% per annum up to 100% vesting on growth of RPI +10% per annum. Performance targets for options granted  
on 17 November 2004 are set on a sliding scale of earnings per share growth with 40% of options vesting on growth of RPI +8% per 
annum up to 100% vesting on growth of RPI +12% per annum. Performance targets for options granted on 2 March 2004 are set  
on a sliding scale of earnings per share growth with 40% of options vesting on growth of RPI +12% per annum up to 100% vesting  
on growth of RPI +15% per annum. There were no options granted under this scheme in the period ended 22 August 2009 or in the 
period ended 23 August 2008.

Long Term Incentive Plan
The third scheme is a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) whereby senior management will receive conditional rights over ordinary shares  
in the Company. Eligible employees are awarded rights to the issue of a maximum number of shares at the beginning of a three year 
period, a proportion of which they will be entitled to receive at the end of that period depending on the extent to which the performance 
conditions set by the Remuneration Committee at the time the allocation is made are satisfied. Further information on the performance 
conditions of the Long Term Incentive Plan are shown in the Report on Directors’ remuneration on pages 38 to 50. At 22 August 2009 
eligible employees held rights over ordinary shares that may result in the issue of 203,829 shares on 13 November 2009, 33,947 shares 
on 10 September 2010, 882,030 shares on 22 January 2011, 22,443 shares on 12 May 2011, 295,202 shares on 7 July 2011, 4,097,958 
shares on 10 November 2011 and 59,090 shares on 11 May 2012.

Deferred Share Bonus Plan
The fourth scheme is a Deferred Share Bonus Plan (DSB) whereby senior management receive part of their post-tax annual bonus in 
shares. These shares are held on behalf of the senior management in a trust and if certain performance and eligibility conditions are met 
then a further award of shares is made after three years. Further information is provided in the Report on Directors’ remuneration on 
pages 38 to 50. At 22 August 2009, 58,738 shares are held within the trust and eligible employees hold additional rights over ordinary 
shares that may result in the future issue of up to 14,387 shares on 13 November 2009 and 26,622 shares on 12 November 2010.

Share Bonus Plan
The fifth scheme is a Share Bonus Plan whereby, at the discretion of the Board, certain employees of the Group, who are eligible for  
an annual bonus, are eligible to participate. Eligible employees are awarded rights to the issue of a maximum number of shares at the 
beginning of a two year period, which they will be entitled to receive at the end of that period if the eligibility condition set by the 
Remuneration Committee at the time the allocation is made is satisfied. At 22 August 2009, eligible employees held rights over ordinary 
shares that may result in the issue of 102,500 shares on 10 November 2010.

Share Incentive Plan
The sixth scheme is a Share Incentive Plan (SIP) open to all eligible employees, whereby proceeds contributed by employees are used to 
buy shares in the Company at prevailing market values. These shares are called Partnership Shares and are held in a trust on behalf of the 
employee. For every Partnership Share bought by the employee the Company will give the employee one share free of charge (‘Matching 
Share’). The employees have to take their shares out of the plan on leaving the Group and will not be entitled to the Matching Share  
if they leave within three years of buying the Partnership Shares. If the Company awards dividends to its shareholders, the employee  
will receive a dividend on each of the Partnership and Matching Shares they hold. The Company arranges for the dividends to be used  
to buy extra shares (‘Dividend Shares’). Dividend Shares must be held in the plan for three years before they can be removed unless the 
employee leaves the Group in which case they must be taken out. The scheme was introduced in June 2004 with shares being acquired 
at market values on an annual or monthly basis. As at 22 August 2009 1,064,832 shares (August 2008: 351,229 shares) had been issued 
by the Company to the trust at par value. The par value of the shares issued that has been deducted from reserves is negligible. The 
market value of these shares at 22 August 2009 was £1.1m (August 2008: £1.0m).
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26  Share based payments continued

Fair value of share awards
The fair value is measured using the valuation technique that is considered to be the most appropriate to value each class of award. 

Discretionary Share Plan
There were no awards made in relation to the Discretionary Share Plan during the current or the previous period. 

Long Term Incentive Plan
The key assumptions for awards made in the current and previous period are as follows:

     11 May  10 Nov 7 July  12 May 22 January 10 September
Grant date   2009 2008 2008  2008 2008 2007

       Monte Carlo Monte Carlo Monte Carlo
Valuation model   Monte Carlo Monte Carlo and binomial and binomial and binomial Monte Carlo
Share price at date of grant   £1.59 £1.70 £2.80 £6.06 £6.22 £10.23
Shares under option   59,090 4,097,958 295,202 22,443 1,187,439 33,947
Vesting period   3.0 years 3.0 years 3.0 years 3.0 years 2.8 years 3.0 years
Expected volatility   107.1% 60.1% 34.65% 31.96% 27.47% 25.73%
Expected life   3.0 years 3.0 years 3.0 years 3.0 years 2.8 years 3.0 years
Risk free rate   2.10% 1.00% 5.07% 4.40% 4.35% 5.10%
Expected dividend yield   0.0% 0.0% 1.97% 1.68% 1.64% 0.50%
Expectation of meeting performance criteria  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Fair value per option   £0.94 £0.73 £2.03 £4.43 £4.50 £5.52

Expected volatility has been calculated based on the historic volatility of the Company’s share price corresponding to the expected life  
of the option or share award.

The expected term of the options is based on the life to the point of expected exercise. This is determined through analysis of historically 
evidenced exercise patterns of option holders.

The risk free rate of return is the yield on zero-coupon UK Government bonds of a term consistent with the assumed option life.

Share Incentive Plan
The fair value of the Matching Shares issued under the Company’s Share Incentive Plan is recognised as the market value of the shares 
issued at the date of purchase. This charge is spread over the three year vesting period on a straight line basis.

Deferred Share Bonus Plan
The estimated fair value of the deferred bonus shares awarded in the year are determined based on the market value of shares on the  
date of grant discounted by the expected dividend yield. No awards were made under this scheme in the current year. The estimated  
fair value of shares granted in the prior year, under this scheme, is shown below, together with the key assumptions:

          12 November 
Grant date        2007

Valuation model        Binomial
Share price at date of grant        £9.36
Shares under option        43,629
Vesting period        3.0 years
Expected volatility        24.59%
Expected life        3.0 years
Risk free rate        4.77%
Expected dividend yield        0.55%
Expectation of meeting performance criteria       0%
Fair value per option        £9.25

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009
continued
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26  Share based payments continued

Movements in options and awards under share based payment schemes
Reconciliations of movements for the SAYE, DSP, LTIP, DSB and SIP schemes over the 52 weeks to 22 August 2009 are shown below:

SAYE Scheme 
       52 weeks to  52 weeks to 53 weeks to 53 weeks to
       22 August  22 August 23 August 23 August
       2009  2009 2008 2008
       No. WAEP1 No. WAEP1

Outstanding at beginning of period     14,246 166 79,128 168
Expired during the period     (10,289) 166 (3,284) 166
Exercised during the period     (3,957) 166 (61,598) 168
Outstanding at end of period     – – 14,246 166
        
Exercisable at end of period     – – 14,246 166

1 Weighted average exercise price (pence).

Discretionary Share Plan 
       52 weeks to  52 weeks to 53 weeks to 53 weeks to
       22 August  22 August 23 August 23 August
       2009  2009 2008 2008
       No. WAEP1 No. WAEP1

Outstanding at beginning of period     2,331,785 288 2,388,495 290
Expired during the period     (226,307) 445 (9,574) 532
Exercised during the period     – – (47,136) 375
Outstanding at end of period     2,105,478 271 2,331,785 288
        
Exercisable at end of period     2,105,478 271 2,137,635 241

1 Weighted average exercise price (pence).

Long Term Incentive Plan  
         52 weeks to  53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009  2008
         No. No.

Outstanding at beginning of period       2,088,812 965,878
Granted during the period       4,711,490 1,539,031
Expired during the period       (322,799) (73,183)
Forfeited during the period       (883,004) (106,989)
Released during the period       – (235,925)
Outstanding at end of period       5,594,499 2,088,812

Deferred Share Bonus Plan  
         52 weeks to  53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009  2008
         No. No.

Outstanding at beginning of period       150,918 164,671
Granted during the period       – 69,370
Removed during the period       (8,212) (20,559)
Expired during the period       (31,672) (172)
Forfeited during the period       (11,893) (9,863)
Released during the period       – (52,529)
Outstanding at end of period       99,141 150,918
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26  Share based payments continued

Share Bonus Plan 
         52 weeks to 53 weeks to 
         22 August  23 August
         2009  2008
         No. No.

Outstanding at beginning of period       – –
Granted during the period       102,500 –
Outstanding at end of period       102,500 –

Share Incentive Plan 
         52 weeks to  53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009  2008
         No. No.

Outstanding at beginning of period       250,114 111,598
Granted during the period       746,655 212,325
Forfeited during the period       (44,040) (8,185)
Released during the period       (126,000) (65,624)
Outstanding at end of period       826,729 250,114

Outstanding options
Options outstanding at 22 August 2009 comprise the following:

Discretionary Share Plan    
            Exercise
         Number  price
         of share  Pence 
Exercise date       options per share

27 May 2002 to 25 May 2012       1,251,230 198
3 December 2002 to 3 December 2011       347,834 205
5 December 2005 to 5 December 2012       177,668 194
2 March 2007 to 1 March 2014       74,907 519
17 November 2007 to 17 November 2014      108,770 551
16 November 2008 to 16 November 2015      80,171 767
31 January 2009 to 31 January 2016       64,898 866

No options were exercised during the current period. The weighted average share price for options exercised during the prior period was 
£5.00. The options outstanding at 22 August 2009 had a weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.9 years (August 2008: 4.0 years). 

The total charge for the year relating to employee share based plans was £0.1m (53 weeks ended 23 August 2008: £2.4m) all of which 
related to equity-settled share based payment transactions. 

 

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009
continued



93
Punch Taverns plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2009

Fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

27 Analysis of changes in shareholders‘ equity

Group 
      Share  Share Other reserves Retained
      capital premium  (note 28) earnings Total
      £m £m £m £m £m

At 18 August 2007    0.1 454.7 21.1 1,261.0 1,736.9
Total recognised income and expense for the period   – – (42.2) (62.7) (104.9)
Exercise of share options    – 0.3 – – 0.3
Share based payments    – – 2.4 – 2.4
Equity dividends    – – – (41.8) (41.8)
At 23 August 2008    0.1 455.0 (18.7) 1,156.5 1,592.9
Total recognised income and expense for the period    – – (47.8) (230.3) (278.1)
Issue of share capital1    0.2 – – 353.6 353.8
Exercise of share options    – – – – –
Transfer equity component of convertible bond   – – (9.0) 9.0 –
Share based payments    – – 0.1 – 0.1
At 22 August 2009    0.3 455.0 (75.4) 1,288.8 1,668.7

Company 
        Share based 
      Share  Share payment Retained
      capital premium  reserve earnings Total
      £m £m £m £m £m

At 18 August 2007    0.1 454.7 6.3 273.3 734.4
Total recognised income and expense for the period   – – – 99.5 99.5
Exercise of share options    – 0.3 – – 0.3
Share based payments    – – 2.4 – 2.4
Equity dividends    – – – (41.8) (41.8)
At 23 August 2008    0.1 455.0 8.7 331.0 794.8
Total recognised income and expense for the period   – – – 19.1 19.1
Issue of share capital1    0.2 – – 353.6 353.8
Exercise of share options    – – – – –
Share based payments    – – 0.1 – 0.1
At 22 August 2009    0.3 455.0 8.8 703.7 1,167.8

1  The Firm Placing and the Placing and Open Offer were structured such that it is expected to have the effect of creating distributable reserves equal to the net  
proceeds less the par value of the new ordinary shares issued by the Company.

28 Other reserves

Group
       Equity 
       component   Share based
       of convertible  Hedge payment
       bonds reserve reserve Total
       £m £m £m £m

At 18 August 2007     30.0 (15.2) 6.3 21.1
Total recognised income and expense for the period    – (42.2) – (42.2)
Share based payments     – – 2.4 2.4
At 23 August 2008     30.0 (57.4) 8.7 (18.7)
Total recognised income and expense for the period    – (47.8) – (47.8)
Transfer equity component of convertible bond    (9.0) – – (9.0)
Share based payments     – – 0.1 0.1
At 22 August 2009     21.0 (105.2) 8.8 (75.4)
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29 Net debt

(a) Analysis of net debt
         22 August  23 August 
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Secured loan notes       (3,941.9) (4,567.0)
Convertible bonds1       (201.7) (284.9)
Gross debt       (4,143.6) (4,851.9)
Cash and cash equivalents       678.6 321.2
Nominal value of net debt       (3,465.0) (4,530.7)
     
Capitalised debt issue costs       18.4 25.9
Fair value adjustments on acquisition of secured loan notes     (129.6) (164.6)
Fair value of interest rate swaps       (296.0) (179.7)
Balance sheet adjustments to convertible bonds2      6.8 15.2
Finance lease obligations       (18.4) (19.4)
Net debt       (3,883.8) (4,853.3)
     
Balance sheet:     
Borrowings       (4,072.9) (4,744.4)
Convertible bonds       (193.5) (264.8)
Derivative financial instruments       (296.0) (179.7)
Cash deposits used as security for loan notes      – 14.4
Cash and cash equivalents       678.6 321.2
Net debt       (3,883.8) (4,853.3)

1 Represents nominal value of convertible bonds of £192.1m plus subsequent accretion of liability to redemption value on maturity.
2 Represents equity component of convertible bonds less subsequent accretion of liability to redemption value on maturity for this equity component.

(b) Analysis of changes in net debt

    At 18 August   Non-cash At 23 August  Non-cash At 22 August
    2007 Cash flow movements 2008 Cash flow movements  2009 
    £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Current assets         
Cash at bank and in hand  267.7 53.5 – 321.2 357.4 – 678.6
Cash deposits  14.7 (0.3) – 14.4 (14.4) – –
Cash and cash deposits  282.4 53.2 – 335.6 343.0 – 678.6
  
Debt          
Borrowings  (4,818.6) 77.6 11.0 (4,730.0) 399.9 257.2 (4,072.9)
Guaranteed loan notes  (14.7) 0.3 – (14.4) 14.4 – –
Derivative financial instruments  (96.9) (0.6) (82.2) (179.7) 3.7 (120.0) (296.0)
Debt component 
of convertible bonds  (253.1) – (11.7) (264.8) 65.5 5.8 (193.5)
    (5,183.3) 77.3 (82.9) (5,188.9) 483.5 143.0 (4,562.4)
Net debt per balance sheet  (4,900.9) 130.5 (82.9) (4,853.3) 826.5 143.0 (3,883.8)

Net debt incorporates the Group’s borrowings, bank overdrafts, derivative financial instruments and obligations under finance leases,  
less cash and cash equivalents and cash deposits. The cash deposits were used as security for loan notes which were repaid in full in  
the period.

Non-cash movements relate to amortisation of deferred issue costs and premium on loan notes and convertible bonds, the equity 
component of convertible bonds and fair value movement in derivative financial instruments.
 

Notes to the financial statements
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29 Net debt continued

(c) Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Increase in cash and cash equivalents in the period      357.4 53.5
Cash outflow from change in cash deposits      (14.4) (0.3)
Cash outflow from change in debt financing      481.2 74.3
Change in net debt resulting from cash flows      824.2 127.5
Non-cash movements in net debt       144.3 (81.6)
Change in net debt resulting from non-cash flows     144.3 (81.6)
Obligations under finance leases       1.0 1.7
Movement in net debt       969.5 47.6
Net debt at beginning of period       (4,853.3) (4,900.9)
Net debt at end of period       (3,883.8) (4,853.3)

30 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits

During the period, the Group operated three funded defined benefit pension schemes: the Pubmaster Pension Scheme, the Spirit Group 
Pension Scheme (SGPS) and the Spirit Group Retail Pension Plan (SGRPP). The pension plans have not invested in any of the Group’s  
own financial instruments, nor in properties or other assets used by the Group.

The tables below illustrate the impact of defined benefit schemes on the income statement and the balance sheet and relate to the 
Pubmaster Pension Scheme, the SGPS and the SGRPP. 

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

Analysis of amounts charged to operating costs:
         52 weeks to 53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August 
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Current service cost       (0.1) (0.1)

Analysis of amounts credited to other finance income:
         52 weeks to 53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Expected return on assets       26.0 26.6
Interest on scheme liabilities       (21.4) (21.5)
Net credit       4.6 5.1

Analysis of amounts recognised in the SORIE in the period:
         52 weeks to 53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Actual return on assets       (7.8) (3.4)
Expected return on assets       (26.0) (26.6)
Experience (loss) / gain on liabilities       (67.9) 39.0
Expected actuarial (losses) / gains recognised in the SORIE     (101.7) 9.0
Restriction on surplus recognised       29.1 (29.1)
Actuarial losses recognised in the SORIE      (72.6) (20.1)
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30 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits continued

Cumulative amounts recognised in the SORIE:
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008
         £m £m

At beginning of period       39.8 59.9
Net actuarial losses in the period       (72.6) (20.1)
At end of period       (32.8) 39.8

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Present value of scheme liabilities       (416.6) (342.3)
Fair value of scheme assets       357.1 376.5
Net retirement benefit asset       (59.5) 34.2
Restriction on surplus recognised       – (29.1)
Net retirement benefit (liability) / asset recognised in the balance sheet    (59.5) 5.1

Movements in the present value of scheme liabilities are as follows:
         52 weeks to 53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Present value of scheme liabilities at beginning of year      342.3 373.3
Current service cost       0.1 0.1
Interest cost       21.4 21.5
Actuarial losses / (gains)       67.9 (39.0)
Contributions paid by employees       – –
Benefits paid       (15.1) (13.6)
Present value of scheme liabilities at end of year      416.6 342.3

Movements in the fair value of scheme assets are as follows:
         52 weeks to 53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Fair value of scheme assets at beginning of year      376.5 380.0
Expected return on scheme assets       26.0 26.6
Actuarial losses       (33.8) (30.0)
Contributions paid by employer       3.5 13.5
Contributions paid by employees       – –
Benefits paid       (15.1) (13.6)
Fair value of scheme assets at end of year      357.1 376.5

Scheme assets are stated at their market values at the balance sheet date and the expected return on scheme assets is derived as  
a weighted average of the expected return on each asset class, recognising the proportions of the assets invested in each. The expected 
return on each asset class is determined after taking external expert advice and by reference to relevant equity and bond indices.

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are as follows:
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008

Equities       53.6% 57.1%
Bonds       38.8% 34.0%
Property       6.7% 7.9%
Other       0.9% 1.0%

 

Notes to the financial statements
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30 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits continued

The history of experience adjustments on the schemes for the current and previous financial years is as follows:

      22 August  23 August 18 August 19 August 20 August
      2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
      £m £m £m £m £m

Present value of retirement benefit liabilities   (416.6) (342.3) (373.3) (393.5) (47.7)
Fair value of plan assets    357.1 376.5 380.0 368.8 40.1
Net (liability) / asset in the scheme    (59.5) 34.2 6.7 (24.7) (7.6)
Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities   (67.9) 39.0 27.8 29.0 –
Percentage of scheme liabilities    16.3% 11.4% 7.4% 7.4% –
Experience adjustments on scheme assets   (33.8) (30.0) (1.7) 4.8 4.8
Percentage of scheme assets    9.5% 8.0% 0.4% 1.3% 12.0%

The expected contributions to defined benefit schemes for the next financial year, beginning 23 August 2009, are £3.5m.

Scheme funding
Pubmaster Pension Scheme
The Pubmaster Pension Scheme is a defined benefit scheme operated in the UK. The values of the scheme’s liabilities have been  
determined by a qualified actuary based on the results of an actuarial valuation as at 6 April 2007, updated to 22 August 2009, the  
balance sheet date. The mortality assumptions at the year end are based on standard mortality tables that allow for future mortality 
improvements. The assumptions are that the life expectancy of a member who retires at the age of 65 is as follows:

         22 August  23 August
         2009  2008

Male currently aged 50       21.9 years 21.8 years
Male currently aged 65       20.4 years 20.3 years
Female currently aged 50       23.4 years 23.4 years
Female currently aged 65       22.5 years 22.4 years

The assumptions used in determining the valuations are as follows:
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008

Rate of increase of salaries       4.40% 5.00%
Rate of increase in pensions       3.00% 3.00%
Discount rate       5.60% 6.40%
Inflation assumption       3.15% 3.75%
Revaluation of deferred pensions       3.15% 3.75%

The assets in the scheme and the expected rate of return were:
       Long term   Long term
       rate of return  Value at rate of return Value at
       expected at  22 August expected at 23 August
       22 August  2009 23 August 2008
       2009 £m 2008 £m

Equities     7.25% 23.5 8.00% 25.4
Bonds     4.75% 14.7 6.00% 15.4
Insured pensions     5.60% 2.0 6.40% 2.0
Property     7.00% – 7.00% –
Cash     4.00% 0.3 4.75% 0.2
Total market value of assets      40.5  43.0
Present value of scheme liabilities      (54.1)  (49.2)
Net pension liability before deferred tax      (13.6)  (6.2)
Deferred tax asset      3.8  1.7
Net pension liability      (9.8)  (4.5)
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30 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits continued

Spirit Group Pension Scheme
The SGPS is a defined benefit scheme operated in the UK. The values of the scheme’s liabilities have been determined by a qualified  
actuary based on the results of an actuarial valuation as at 5 April 2007, updated to 22 August 2009, the balance sheet date. The mortality 
assumptions at the year end are based on standard mortality tables that allow for future mortality improvements. The assumptions are  
that the life expectancy of a member who retires at the age of 65 is as follows:

         22 August  23 August
         2009  2008

Male currently aged 45       22.2 years 22.1 years
Male currently aged 65       20.4 years 20.2 years
Female currently aged 45       23.7 years 23.6 years
Female currently aged 65       22.5 years 22.4 years

The assumptions used in determining the valuations are as follows:

         22 August  23 August
         2009  2008

Rate of increase of salaries       3.60% 3.75%
Rate of increase in pensions       3.30% 3.30%
Discount rate       5.20% 6.30%
Inflation assumption       3.60% 3.75%

The assets in the scheme and the expected rate of return were:
       Long term  Long term 
       rate of return  Value at rate of return Value at
       expected at  22 August expected at 23 August
       22 August  2009  23 August 2008
       2009 £m 2008 £m

Equities     7.25% 56.9 8.00% 62.8
Government bonds     4.25% 14.5 5.00% 19.7
Property     6.25% 6.4 7.00% 8.1
Corporate bonds     5.25% 16.0 6.00% 5.0
Other     1.50% 0.8 4.75% 0.5
Total market value of assets      94.6  96.1
Present value of scheme liabilities      (120.9)  (92.7)
Net pension (liability) / asset before deferred tax     (26.3)  3.4
Deferred tax asset / (liability)      7.4  (1.0)
Net pension (liability) / asset      (18.9)  2.4

Spirit Group Retail Pension Plan
The SGRPP is a defined benefit scheme operated in the UK. The values of the scheme’s liabilities have been determined by a qualified 
actuary based on the results of an actuarial valuation as at 31 October 2006, updated to 22 August 2009, the balance sheet date.  
The mortality assumptions at the year end are based on standard mortality tables that allow for future mortality improvements.  
The assumptions are that the life expectancy of a member who retires at the age of 65 is as follows:

         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008

Male currently aged 45       22.2 years 22.1 years
Male currently aged 65       20.4 years 20.2 years
Female currently aged 45       23.7 years 23.6 years
Female currently aged 65       22.5 years 22.4 years

The assumptions used in determining the valuations are as follows:
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008

Rate of increase of salaries       3.60% 3.75%
Rate of increase in pensions       1.90% 2.00%
Discount rate       5.30% 6.40%
Inflation assumption       3.60% 3.75%

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009
continued
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30 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits continued

The assets in the scheme and the expected rate of return were:
       Long term  Long term 
       rate of return  Value at rate of return Value at
       expected at  22 August expected at 23 August
       22 August  2009  23 August 2008
       2009 £m 2008 £m

Equities     7.25% 110.8 8.00% 126.9
Government bonds     4.25% 44.3 5.00% 61.0
Corporate bonds     5.25% 49.2 6.00% 27.0
Property     6.25% 17.4 7.00% 21.8
Other     1.50% 0.3 4.75% 0.7
Total market value of assets      222.0  237.4
Present value of scheme liabilities      (241.6)  (200.4)
Net pension (liability) / asset before deferred tax     (19.6)  37.0
Deferred tax asset / (liability)      5.5  (10.4)
Net pension (liability) / asset      (14.1)  26.6

In the prior period, £29.1m of the £37.0m pension asset was not recognised by the Group, due to the Group not having the entitlement  
to recover all surpluses at the conclusion of the scheme. The asset was restricted to the amount that could be recovered through reduced 
contributions to the related defined contribution scheme. No restriction has been applied at 22 August 2009, as the scheme is assessed  
to be in deficit.

On the acquisition of Spirit group, the Group undertook to make scheduled contributions to reduce the pension scheme deficits  
on acquisition over the five years to 2010. Following finalisation of the actuarial valuations of the SGPS and SGRPP schemes as at  
5 April 2007 and 31 October 2006 respectively, no additional payments were required to be made to the SGRPP scheme; the remaining 
scheduled contributions into the SGPS are as detailed below. At the period end date, the August 2009 payment had not been made;  
it was paid subsequent to the period end, on 28 August 2009.

          SGPS 
          payments
          £m

August 2009        3.4
August 2010        4.4
Total        7.8

The pension costs for the defined contribution schemes are as follows:
         52 weeks to  53 weeks to 
         22 August  23 August 
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Defined contribution schemes       3.1 3.8

Pension risk
The Group operates three defined benefit pension schemes which are all closed to new members. The schemes are subject to risk regarding 
the relative amount of the schemes’ assets, which are affected by the value of investments and the returns generated by such investments, 
compared to the schemes’ liabilities, which are affected by changes in life expectancy, actual and expected price inflation, changes in  
bond yields and future salary increases. The difference in value between scheme assets and scheme liabilities may vary significantly in the 
short term, potentially resulting in an increased deficit (or reduced surplus) being recognised on the Group’s balance sheet. 

Legislation means that, on occasion, it may be appropriate to approach the Pensions Regulator for pre-clearance of agreements reached 
with the Pension Trustees at the time of significant corporate transactions. Such clearance may include a requirement to increase the level  
of funding over a reduced timescale.
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31 Operating lease commitments – minimum lease payments

Group   
         22 August  23 August
         2009 20081

         £m £m

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases:    
Within one year       67.6 62.1
Between one and five years       266.3 240.1
After five years       1,253.6 1,170.7
         1,587.5 1,472.9

1 Comparatives have been restated to better reflect the nature of certain classes of lease.

The future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases when discounted to present value amount to £750.4m  
(August 2008: £681.5m).

The Group leases various licensed properties, offices and other commercial properties under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. 
The leases have various terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. The Group also leases vehicles under non-cancellable operating  
lease agreements.

The total future minimum sublease payments expected to be received are £169.0m (August 2008: £221.6m).

The Group is a lessor of licensed properties to retailers. The leases have various terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. The total  
future minimum lease payments expected to be received are:
         Land and  Land and
         buildings  buildings
         22 August  23 August
         2009 20081

         £m £m

Within one year       176.4 218.1
Between one and five years       578.3 741.6
After five years       736.8 1,057.7
         1,491.5 2,017.4

1 Comparatives have been restated to better reflect the nature of certain classes of lease.

The Company has no operating lease commitments at 22 August 2009 (August 2008: £nil).

32 Capital and other financial commitments

Group
Capital commitments for property, plant and equipment
         22 August  23 August 
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Contracted but not provided       7.6 19.2

The Company has no capital commitments at 22 August 2009 (August 2008: £nil).

The Company acts as guarantor for the convertible bonds issued by its wholly owned subsidiary, Punch Taverns (Redwood Jerseyco)  
Limited for sums payable or ordinary shares due under the terms of the convertible bonds. Further details of the convertible bonds are 
provided in note 21.

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009
continued
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33 Related party transactions

Group
Transactions with key management personnel
The key management personnel of the Group comprise members of the Punch Taverns plc Board of Directors and other nominated  
senior executives.

The key management personnel compensation is as follows:
         52 weeks to  53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009  2008
         £m £m

Short term employee benefits       3.8 2.9
Post-employment employee benefits       0.3 0.3
Share based payments       – 1.2
         4.1 4.4

Transactions with joint ventures
Punch Taverns (PGE) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, holds 50% of the entire issued share capital of Matthew Clark 
(Holdings) Limited, the holding company of the Matthew Clark group of companies. The Group’s investment in this joint venture at  
22 August 2009 is £43.5m (August 2008: £41.2m). The Group had transactions of £22.9m with Matthew Clark during the 52 weeks  
to 22 August 2009 (53 weeks to 23 August 2008: £4.2m) and there was £3.4m owing to Matthew Clark at 22 August 2009  
(August 2008: £3.6m).

During the period, the Group has paid invoices and raised sales invoices on behalf of Allied Kunick Entertainments Limited, a joint  
venture owned indirectly by the Company, which have been recharged via an intercompany account. At the period end, Allied Kunick 
Entertainments Limited owed the Group £0.2m (August 2008: Allied Kunick Entertainments Limited owed the Group £0.2m).

Year end balances arising from transactions with joint ventures
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Unsecured loan stock receivable       10.0 9.3
Amounts owed to joint ventures       (3.2) (3.4)
Total amounts due from joint ventures       6.8 5.9

All rights, together with the joint venture partner of Allied Kunick Entertainments Limited, to receive interest on the unsecured loan  
stock, have been waived. The amount outstanding at the period end has been fully provided by the Group due to the uncertainty  
of its recoverability.

Company
Transactions with key management personnel
The key management personnel of the Company comprise members of the Punch Taverns plc Board of Directors. The Directors do  
not receive any remuneration from the Company (August 2008: £nil) as their emoluments are borne by other Group companies. The  
Company did not have any transactions, with the exception of transactions related to share based payments, with the Directors during  
the financial year (August 2008: £nil). Details of these transactions are provided in the Report on Directors’ remuneration.

Transactions with subsidiary undertakings
The Company enters into loans with its subsidiary undertakings at both fixed and floating rates of interest on a commercial basis. Hence, 
the Company incurs interest expense and earns interest income on these loans and advances. 
         52 weeks to  53 weeks to
         22 August  23 August
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Loans and advances     
(Decrease) / increase in loan notes owed by subsidiary undertakings     (61.2) 85.8
Decrease in loans owed by subsidiary undertakings      (575.6) (33.6)
(Increase) / decrease in other loans and advances owed to subsidiary undertakings    2,750.0 (57.5)

The loans are repayable on demand but the Company will not request repayment for at least 12 months.
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33 Related party transactions continued
         22 August  23 August 
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Year end balances arising from transactions with subsidiary undertakings
Receivables       1,431.7 1,529.4
Payables       (1,916.9) (4,061.2)

The amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings include £nil (August 2008: £111.0m) of interest bearing subordinated loans and £715.1m 
(August 2008: £776.3m) of loan notes, of which £715.1m (August 2008: £649.9m) are interest bearing. The loan notes accrue interest  
at fixed rates ranging between 12% and 15%, which is capitalised quarterly in arrears. In addition, the Company has intercompany  
loans of £253.8m (August 2008: £170.9m) owed by subsidiary undertakings that are non-interest bearing and £571.4m (August 2008: 
£25.5m) of loans owed to subsidiary undertakings that are non-interest bearing.

34  Contingent liabilities

In prior years, the Group has disposed of a number of properties for which it remains contingently liable for the head leases should the 
assignee default on the terms of the lease. This may result in a number of leases reverting to the Group, for which the annual net  
exposure to the Group is considered unlikely to exceed £6m per annum.

35 Post balance sheet events

Subsequent to the year end the Group has repurchased £292.9m of the nominal value of outstanding debt:

£148.0m of convertible bonds
£144.9m of securitised debt
 

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 22 August 2009
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We have audited the Group and Company financial statements (the ‘financial statements’) of Punch Taverns plc for the 52 week period 
ended 22 August 2009 which comprise the Consolidated income statement, the Consolidated statement of recognised income and 
expense, the Consolidated balance sheet, the Consolidated cash flow statement, the Company balance sheet, the Company statement  
of recognised income and expense, the Company cash flow statement and the related notes 1 to 35. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union and, as regards the parent company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act 2006.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with sections 495, 496 and 497 of the Companies Act 
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state  
to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’ responsibilities in relation to the financial statements set out on page 51, the 
Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our 
responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and the parent company’s circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors; and the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:

the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 22 August 2009 •	
and of the Group’s loss for the period then ended;
the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; •	
the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union  •	
and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and
the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the •	
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:

the part of the Report on Directors’ remuneration to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act •	
2006; and
the information given in the Directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with •	
the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received •	
from branches not visited by us; or
the parent company financial statements and the part of the Report on Directors’ remuneration to be audited are not in agreement  •	
with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or•	
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.•	

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:
the Directors’ statement, set out on page 33, in relation to going concern; and•	
the part of the Corporate governance statement relating to the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the June 2008 •	
Combined Code specified for our review.

Simon O’Neill (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP 
Birmingham
13 October 2009

The maintenance and integrity of the Punch Taverns plc website is the responsibility of the Directors; the work carried out by the auditors 
does not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have 
occurred to the financial statements.

Independent auditor’s report  
to the members of Punch Taverns plc
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Five year financial summary

Consolidated trading results 
       22 August  23 August 18 August 19 August 20 August
       2009 20081 2007 2006  2005
       as reported as restated2 as reported as reported as reported
       £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue3     1,441.0 1,560.6 1,704.9 1,546.1 770.1
Operating expenses before depreciation and amortisation  (928.9) (940.3) (1,042.9) (939.8) (356.6)
Share of post-tax profit from joint venture   2.3 3.1 1.6 – –
EBITDA3     514.4 623.4 663.6 606.3 413.5
Depreciation and amortisation     (62.3) (62.5) (56.5) (46.1) (13.5)
Operating profit3     452.1 560.9 607.1 560.2 400.0
Profit on sale of non-current assets     – 0.4 3.0 1.4 –
Net finance costs     (291.7) (299.0) (328.4) (312.0) (193.2)
Profit before tax3     160.4 262.3 281.7 249.6 206.8
Taxation2,3     (47.0) (76.3) (57.7) (54.8) (39.6)
Profit after tax2,3     113.4 186.0 224.0 194.8 167.2
Exceptional items2     (289.8) (250.7) 54.4 52.0 (20.9)
Earnings per share:        
Basic adjusted (pence)2,4     36.1 69.9 84.4 74.9 66.4

1 The period ended 23 August 2008 is a 53 week period.
2  The period ended 23 August 2008 was restated from that reported to better reflect the nature of tax items, as explained in note 6. This has had an impact of  

reducing adjusted earnings per share by 10.3p per share, for which comparatives have been restated (note 9).
3 Before exceptional items.
4 Earnings adjusted for the impact of exceptional items.

Consolidated balance sheets 
      22 August  23 August 18 August 19 August 20 August
      2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
      as reported as restated1 as reported as restated2 as reported
      £m £m £m £m £m

Property, plant and equipment    5,124.3 6,274.7 6,495.5 6,506.0 4,293.8
Goodwill    504.1 556.2 556.2 537.8 268.8
Operating leases and other intangible assets   74.6 131.3 157.3 163.3 27.5
Other non-current assets    190.7 153.5 191.8 197.8 77.9
Total non-current assets    5,893.7 7,115.7 7,400.8 7,404.9 4,668.0
Current assets    778.1 428.7 429.6 697.8 527.0
Non-current assets classified as held for sale   169.6 20.1 8.2 28.5 6.4
Current liabilities    (456.9) (439.8) (444.8) (568.3) (500.2)
Non-current liabilities    (4,715.8) (5,531.8) (5,656.9) (6,136.3) (3,578.5)
Net assets    1,668.7 1,592.9 1,736.9 1,426.6 1,122.7

Share capital    0.3 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1
Reserves    1,668.4 1,592.8 1,736.8 1,426.5 1,122.6
Shareholders’ equity    1,668.7 1,592.9 1,736.9 1,426.6 1,122.7

Nominal value of gross debt    (4,143.7) (4,851.9) (4,922.6) (5,254.8) (3,329.3)

1 The period ended 23 August 2008 has been restated to reflect the repayment profile of derivative financial instruments. There has been no impact on net assets. 
2 The period ended 19 August 2006 was restated from that reported to reflect the finalisation of the fair values on the acquisition of the Spirit group.
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Financial glossary

Beta model
A model for pricing share options which applies the same principles 
as the binomial model but takes into account the relationship of 
the share price to a portfolio of a comparator group of companies’ 
shares.

Binomial model
A model for pricing share options which applies the same principles 
as decision tree analysis by considering the possibilities that prices 
may increase or decrease by a certain percentage.

Black-Scholes model
A model for pricing share options using the share price, the time to 
expiration of the option, the risk-free interest rate and the expected 
standard deviation of the share return.

Cash flow hedges
A hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows.

Combined Code
The Combined Code on corporate governance sets out standards 
of good practice in relation to issues such as board composition 
and development, remuneration, accountability and audit, and 
relations with shareholders.

Convertible bond
A corporate bond that can be exchanged for a specific number  
of ordinary shares. Convertible bonds generally have lower  
interest rates than non-convertible bonds because they accrue 
value as the price of the underlying shares rise. Convertible bonds 
therefore reflect a combination of the benefits of shares and 
corporate bonds.

Corporate governance
Corporate governance describes the system by which an 
organisation is directed and controlled.

Debenture notes
A form of bond taken out by a company, which it agrees to repay 
at a specified future date and which bears interest (either fixed 
or variable) until maturity.

Derivative financial instruments
Financial instruments whose value changes in response to changes 
in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity 
price, foreign exchange rate, or other variable, and are settled  
at a future date.

Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share is earnings per share after allowing  
for the dilutive effect of the conversion into ordinary shares  
of the weighted average number of options outstanding  
during the period and shares from the assumed conversion  
of convertible bonds.

Earnings per share (EPS)
Earnings per share is a performance measure that expresses the 
earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders divided by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during  
the period.

EBITDA
EBITDA represents earnings before finance income, finance costs, 
movement in fair value of interest rate swaps, UK income tax, 
depreciation, amortisation and profit on sale of non-current assets.

Effective interest rate method
A method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or 
financial liability and of allocating the interest income or expense 
over the relevant period.

Exceptional items
Items which management consider will distort comparability, either 
due to their significant non-recurring nature or because of specific 
accounting treatments. These are separately identified in order  
to provide a trend measure of underlying performance.

Experience gains / losses
Changes in the valuation of defined benefit pension scheme  
that arise when events have not coincided with the actuarial 
assumptions made for the previous valuation.

Fair value
The amount at which assets can be exchanged, or liabilities  
settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s  
length transaction.

Finance lease 
A method of purchasing an asset by making rental payments 
throughout the expected lifetime of the asset. The lessee shows  
an asset and a corresponding liability in the balance sheet. Finance 
lease payments are accounted for as a reduction in the liability.

Goodwill
Goodwill is the excess of the amount paid for a company over  
the fair value of the net assets acquired at the date of acquisition.

IAS
International Accounting Standards.

IASB
International Accounting Standards Board.

IFRS 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

IFRIC
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee.
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Financial glossary
continued

Indexation allowance
Indexation allowance is tax relief given when calculating capital 
gains that takes into account inflation based on the Retail Prices 
Index (RPI). Indexation allowance can only reduce an un-indexed 
gain to nil and cannot create or increase a capital loss.

Interest cover
A performance measure that shows the number of times EBITDA 
covers the net finance income and finance cost.

Interest rate swap
A derivative financial instrument used to minimise exposure to 
changes in interest rates by payment to receive a fixed interest  
rate in exchange for a floating rate interest rate, or payment  
to receive a floating rate interest rate in exchange for a fixed 
interest rate.

LIBOR
London Inter Bank Offered Rate. The interest rate quoted  
between banks, which is a recognised basis for calculating  
a floating interest rate.

Monte Carlo valuation method
A model for pricing share options that generates many random 
possible price paths, calculates assumed exercise values, then 
averages and discounts to give the value of the option.

Net debt
Loans, convertible bonds, derivative financial instruments and 
finance leases net of other interest bearing deposits and cash and 
cash equivalents.

Nominal value of net debt
The value of a security stated by the issuer; unrelated to market 
value. For bonds, it is the amount paid to the holder at maturity. 

Operating lease
A method of renting assets over a period that is less than the 
expected life of the asset. The lessee does not show an asset or 
liability on their balance sheet and periodic payments are accounted 
for by the lessee as operating expenses in the period.

Operating result
Profit after deducting all operating expenses including depreciation 
and amortisation.

Over-hedge
An over-hedge occurs when the notional principal amount of the 
hedging instrument is greater than that of the hedged item.

PBT 
Profit before tax.

Projected unit credit method
The accounting method used to calculate provisions for pensions.  
It includes not only the pensions and vested interests accrued at  
the date of calculation, but also anticipated increases in salaries  
and pensions.

Securitisation
The process of raising finance by creating a financial instrument 
secured by pooling other financial assets to back the instrument.

Segmental reporting
Information regarding the financial position and results of 
operations in different business areas.

Total Shareholder Return (TSR)
The growth in value of a shareholding over a specific period, 
assuming that dividends are reinvested to purchase additional 
shares.

UK GAAP
UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

Working capital
Short term disposable capital used to finance day-to-day 
operations. It is calculated as current assets less current liabilities.
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Financial calendar
Q1 Interim Management Statement 16 December 2009
Annual General Meeting  16 December 2009
Half year end  6 March 2010
Interim results announcement April 2010
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We have strengthened our operational 
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our shareholders; stabilised operating 
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sustainable growth and value.
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Business review
This section gives details of our business 
performance in the 2009 financial year. 
Other important financial information  
about the Group is also provided.
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